Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) take no responsibility for the contents of this
announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1116)

ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

The board of directors of Mayer Holdings Limited (the “Company”, the “Directors”
and the “Board”, respectively) announces the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year”).

This announcement, containing the full text of the annual report of the Company for the
Year (the “2023 Annual Report”), complies with the relevant requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules™)
in relation to the information to accompany the preliminary announcement of annual
results. A copy of the 2023 Annual Report containing the information required by the
Listing Rules will be despatched to those shareholders of the Company having made a
request for such copy in due course in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

By Order of the Board
Mayer Holdings Limited
Ip Yun Kit
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Ms. Zhang Yana and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Messrs. Lau
Kwok Hung, Lu Jianping and Du Ning.

*  For identification purpose only



*For identification purpose only £ it 3% 5]



Contents B &

%)

44

62

66

80

89

90

91

93

94

96

176

Glossary

Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis

Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

Corporate Governance Report

Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five-Year Financial Summary

P
ATER
EREARRAH
HREBREE B
CREARE
EEREREEASERE
EERRE

B MR S

£

iR

op
bl
\|

BmK

i

iR

aiEmkEMEEREE

—H}

mEMBRIE

e

Ub

RmEFHER

S

2

op

REMNEXR

S

e BlRRMEE
LFEMBRE

This Annual Report is published in late March 2025, but the information contained herein was as at 27 September

2023 unless otherwise specified.

FEHEPE_F_HF=FTAFIZ  ERESHIEHA (FRIFF B BE—

ZEERERLDA

2023 F 7R

E-ZFNFA-H+tH-



Glossary

In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following MRAEFERAN > BXEREBFRIEN » UTaAEZEEBU
expressions shall have the following respective meanings: THERHE -
"2022 AGM" the AGM held in Hong Kong on 14 December 2022;

(CTE - FERFBEERD]

"2022 EGM”

CTETFREFHARG)

"2023 AGM”

(CTE_=—FRFBEERT]

"AGM(s)"”
RRBEKRE]

“Annual Report”

TR

“Articles of Association”

MAM =248

“Audit Committee”
BEZEE8g)

“Auditor(s)”
I % 21 6M

“Board”

EEg)

“CEO"
TBEREHAITE

“China” or “PRC"
FHAE

“CG Code”
==l

"

“Chairman
TE%E)

“Companies Act”

TRE)E]

“Company”

/N

RIBZ_F+ "B +HAREERTHRRBERS ;

the EGM held in Hong Kong on 22 April 2022;
RZEZ"HFNAT+"HREBRTHRREHIARE ;

the AGM to be held in Hong Kong on Friday, 29 December 2023;
BR_E_=F+"_A-+NHERL) REBRITHNRREFARE ;

the annual general meeting(s) of the Company;

ERBNRRBFEREG ;

the annual report of the Company for the Year;

FABBEZFEZFR;

the articles of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;

RABREES] - HARIUAEANERZ EHEZRRME)

the audit committee of the Board;
EEEEREEY;

the independent auditor(s) of the Company;
N BVEILIZ A

the board of Directors;

BEEg;

the chief executive officer of the Company;

ERBEFERTE ;

The People’s Republic of China and for the purpose of this Report, excluding
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan;
REARHMNBERRARSMS » FEESH RFIFITHRERSE ;

the Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

EHRAM SR HPAENEEERTR

the chairman of the Board;

EREEFE;

the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

FREFBEARE (KES]) » BFKE:] - BRIMUAMBREN ;

Mayer Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1116);

ENEREBRELAE > —EARFEESESTMRINERRERAS » HEZTRMD
RE P Mk B (BRARAKSE - 1116) 5
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“Company Secretary”
FABITE

“COVID-19" or “Pandemic”
T 3K e 15l

“Director(s)"”

==Y

"EGM(s)”
TR ARG

YESG
FESG

“Executive Director(s)”
rRITEE

“Group”
TRy

“Guangzhou Mayer”

MEMNEEE)

“Harbour Prestige”

BB

" H K$ "
=
“HKAS”

rEBgstER)

"HKFRS"
MEBMBREER

“HKICPA"
rERgsag)

“Hong Kong”
r&%#)

“Independent Non-executive
Director(s)” or “INED(s)"”
DB IERITES)

“Last Reporting Period”
M F—18%R &8

“Listing Rules”

FEmRAL

ETERERAT 2023 F R

the company secretary of the Company;
KRBIZABME ;

the novel coronavirus decease 2019;

“E-AENEERRERE

the director(s) of the Company;
RABESE;

the extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company;

KABREFRKRE ;

environmental, social and governance;
BRE-HERER;

the executive Director(s);

HITES;

the Company and its subsidiaries;
KRBIREWE AT ;

Guangzhou Mayer Corporation Limited, a core operating subsidiary of the
Company operating in Guangzhou, the PRC, of which the Company holds an
indirect 81.4% interest;

BEINEZBRAB » ARBIRAREBEMNSENZOVEEWB AT » NABRERE
BHH81.4%HEH ;

Harbour Prestige International Limited;

BRERARAS ;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong for the time being;

ERNEBEESEET

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
BEHEGSHER

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
BERMBREED ;

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
EEEHARNE;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
FEEBFITHE ;

the independent non-executive Director(s);
BIUIFRITES

the 18-month period ended 30 June 2022;
BE_ZS_FXAB=1+HIE+HN\EAHB;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange;

M2 PR g s EHARA S



Glossary
e R — B
Al B2

“Memorandum”

T4 4 =5 72 KR40

“Model Code”

g SN

“NED(s)"or “Non-executive
Director(s)"”

TEBITESE)

“Nomination Committee”
MERZEEg)

“Remuneration Committee”

LSS

“RMB"
TAR

"SFO"
5855 R BR G 1R

“Share Option Scheme”
TEE R e T &)

“Shareholders”
e

“Share(s)”
FRZ 1%

“Stock Exchange”
TH 32 P

“USA"
EE

" US$H
=

“Year”
Mg

“op

1% |

the memorandum of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;

ERBAFES] s RIUAETNERZEBERZAM ;

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules;
BN EMRAUME TN ETETAESETESIZNRETH;

the non-executive Director(s);
EHMITESE;

the nomination committee of the Board;

EXRRYEEE;

the remuneration committee of the Board;

EEGHMNEETD

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC for the time being;

AR DEERIEEE ;

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;
EEESAPEEHEREZES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
BEEBETIEEFRAERE

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 31 May 2019;
KRABINR ZE—NFRA=+—HRMWEREE;

the holders of the Share(s);
BOFBA;

the ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.20 each in the capital of the Company;
RABRAFEREE 208 THEER ;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
BERMAXAMBERAT ;

the United States of America;
ENREREH ;

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the USA for the time being;
BRNERZEEBET

the financial year ended 30 June 2023; and
HE_Z-_=-"FRE=1THILMBREFEE &

per cent.

Bt

In this Report, the terms “associate(s)”, "close associate(s)”, “connected RAMEF > R EB BRI > THEE A ~ TH
person(s)”, “controlling shareholder(s)”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial — Z3B#E A ~ MREE A+ ~ M2 BE ~ THEBEA
shareholder(s)” shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the FKRIFEREIEER FHRIETZEAEN
Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires. PEE-

Mayer Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

In late December 2021, the Board resolved to change the financial year end
date of the Company from 31 December to 30 June. Immediately following
such change, the financial year end date of the Company was 30 June 2022
and the first audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
required for publication covered a period of 18 months from 1 January
2021 to 30 June 2022 (the “Last Reporting Period”). Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2021 for details.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year”), which have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, together with the comparative figures and the percentage
changes for the Last Reporting Period as follows. Please note that the Group's
financial statements for the Year cover a 12-month year ended 30 June
2023 whereas the comparative financial statements cover a 18-month period
ended 30 June 2022. Therefore, the comparative figures are not entirely
comparable.

For the Year, the Group reported consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB538,163,000, representing a decrease of 40.4% compared to
approximately RMB902,652,000 for the Last Reporting Period. Gross profit
margin for the Year was 13.2%, same as that of the Last Reporting Period.
The Group recorded loss for the Year of approximately RMB335,996,000%,
compared to loss of approximately RMB8,819,000 for the Last Reporting
Period. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB338,846,000, compared with the Last Reporting Period’s
loss attributable to owners of the Company of RMB14,304,000. Loss per
share for the Year was RMB15.7 cents versus the Last Reporting Period’s loss
per share of RMBO0.66 cent.

* Please refer to the two announcements of the Company both dated 5 March
2025 regarding (a) Profit Warning for the Year and (b) Disposal of a Subsidiary,
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREBA@WEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Production and Sales of Steel Products
Guangzhou Mayer is the core 81.4%-owned subsidiary of the Company
operating in Guangzhou, the PRC and is engaged in the steel business.

Guangzhou Mayer has been specializing in the production of steel pipes, steel
sheets and other steel products for over 25 years. It is a benchmark brand in
the PRC's stainless steel water pipe industry. It is also a manufacturer in the
PRC that can independently control all links and processes of stainless steel
pipe making. In addition, Guangzhou Mayer has been accredited as a “High
and New Tech Enterprise”.

Guangzhou Mayer has participated in many large projects and cooperated
with the government and many large enterprises. Besides domestic sales,
its steel products are exported to Southeast Asia, Africa, Europe, the USA
and other parts of the world. Customers include the Chinese Ministry of
Construction and major tap water companies.

The quality of Guangzhou Mayer’'s steel products has been recognized
by many customers. Guangzhou Mayer has obtained the certificates
of environmental management system, occupational health and safety
system and quality management system through 1SO14001 environmental
management system certification, 1SO45001 occupational health and safety
management system certification and ISO9001 quality management system
certification experts’ on-site review.

In the second half of 2022, steel prices continued to decline month by
month. The decline was due to (a) the adverse effect of the COVID-19 on
the economy of the PRC as there were successive outbreaks of the Pandemic
in different cities of the PRC; and (b) the impact of high inflation in Europe
and the USA. Customers’ demand for the steel products has plummeted, and
most demand has dropped substantially. In response, the Group increased
the domestic sales of steel products to offset the reduction of sales caused by
the decrease in export sales. The market price continued to decrease until it
gradually stabilized in the middle of the fourth quarter of 2022.

At the same time, in order to stabilise the supply of raw materials and
maintain the market share of customers, Guangzhou Mayer needed to order
futures from certain major steel mills in the PRC monthly, so there was
inevitably a certain loss of the inventory value. However, part of the value
loss has been reduced by the company’s vigorous bargaining with those steel
mills in procurement and entering into some quantitative pricing contracts
with customers, coupled with preferential treatment from the steel mills.
To mitigate risks, Guangzhou Mayer adjusted the proportion of its futures
and spot purchases based on market conditions. For high-end products with
limited market circulation, Guangzhou Mayer pursued strategic partnerships
with customers and negotiated with steel mills to secure market share and
maximise profits.

To liaise with potential customers and promote additional sales, Guangzhou
Mayer has set up a registered non-Hong Kong company in Hong Kong in mid-
December 2022.

XHBEEE

EERHEANR

BN E DR AAT RS 4%BAEZ LK BA
3 R EEMNEIE > (A F I 2T

EMNEDEEREENE R REMEXNRESE
25% > BHEANFEHEKETERNRIT@RIE - ETFR
thE —fE A LU SERI TR E RIFFT A IR K
TAZH SIS o IhOh > EINES R A RIS
MR o

EMEDB2HESEARLIER - BEFRZHAR
BESF - REINHES  HERRATHOERS
0 IR BN~ EBIRE2KEMME - BAEIE
PEIZERES R T ER B RKAF o

EMNETMAERNEEREFSELRT o BIE
TEEIBISO14001IB 1B B IBAE 2 2055 ~ 1SO45001 5
(¥REZE2EERANEKISOEESIEEZ
DEHERRIFTD > LB EIRES BEEE
ZERAREEEEREAZE -

ATETTFETHE  EMEREERE TR T
EHRE ()RR HEE PEEEEERFNZE
AERFREARMTEEREES - R(b)EUNNE
BENSRETE ERHNNRNBERZE TE
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MR BB PIEHE - DUDH O SE & RV P 2R
BIHB T - HTIBERFETHR B8 "2 " F
BUERABHRE -

B ARBERMBEERRRFERTBLEH
B BEMNEDRESARATBETEEHM] B
S AEEFEEENB#RHR-—ENELX R
m> ARARBREREZFHRADZE > Wi
FERFJUMBDEEEEEH » N LG THES
i8> BN BERRIEERLD o 2R > BN
FLRBHIGKRAR T ERENHEERBELA
HETEREEARNSRER  EMNEDSRHA
FERHRE ARG > WEMBETRN U
AT BN ERREAEFH -

BRAEEES P L REBEINNE  ENETER
TGt AREEEERI—REREES
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Although there were still instabilities and uncertainties caused by the complex
and volatile international and domestic macro-economical environment
in early 2023, the Chinese government has been proactively launching
or revising policies to boost China’s economy. Most importantly, Beijing
announced the commencement of relaxation on border control measures
against the Pandemic starting from 8 January 2023, which was the first time
since March 2020. Though the steel industry may pick up gradually and
slowly in a longer time, it should presently start feeling certain beneficial
effect of the loosen-up of tightening policies and supportive policies relating
to the real estate market promulgated by the PRC government since the third
quarter of 2022.

Steel Prices
The steel prices in the PRC started declining from May 2021 until the end of
October 2022, experiencing a decrease of approximately 45% from its peak.

From early November 2022 to mid-March 2023, the steel prices rebounded
by around 30% due to high expectations following the ease of the Pandemic.
However, owing to the slow recovery of demand after the Pandemic, the steel
prices declined once again by approximately 20%.

From early June to mid-September 2023, the steel prices recovered by about
10% as steel mills reduced production to maintain prices. Despite fluctuations
during this period, the overall trend of steel prices remained downward.
The price fluctuations were attributed to severe global inflation, significant
contraction in overall demand, excess steel production capacity and intense
market competition leading to lower profit margins.

Urban Renewal Projects Planning and Consulting

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had several urban renewal planning and
consulting service projects in progress. These projects are located in Zhuhai,
China, and have an estimated site area of approximately 480 mu in total
(subject to the final approval by the government) within their redevelopment
One project known as the old village redevelopment project of
Yuetang Village* (HE#}) was located in Sanzao Town, Jinwan District,
Zhuhai (the “Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project”).

zones.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREBA@WEDN

During the Year, the Group's urban renewal projects planning and consulting
services did not record any revenue (Last Reporting Period: RMB1,476,000). Its
operation in Zhuhai witnessed stagnant progress and unsatisfactory results.

Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project

Reference is made to the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 11
June 2019 (as amended by certain supplemental agreements) entered into
among (i) Elate Ample Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the "Purchaser”); (ii) Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned by the
Guarantor (as defined below) and presently a substantial shareholder of
the Company (the “Vendor”); (iii) Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, the beneficial owner
of the Vendor and presently an executive Director (the “Guarantor”);
and (iv) the Company in relation to the sale and purchase of the entire
issued share capital of Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited (a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and presently an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Target Company” and
the “Share Capital”, respectively) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder at a consideration of HK$260 million (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”).

The Target Company owns a 49% equity interest of Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang
Property Development Limited (Bf/BEEZAEZRERZEARAE) (“Hua Fa
Yue Tang” or the “Project Company”), a company established in the PRC
and managing the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project.

Rz AEEN NG EHEE 88 REHRR
BLREREBEANE (E—EREH: ARK
1,476,0007%) © HREBHEHERERTH > &
BREAE o

BENEHFEE

ZX3R¥t(i)Elate Ample Limited (Z AT 2 2 BB
~E) (T8A1) ; (B (—EBREFRA (ERET
X) 2EHEAZ RBRRRAR RN ZEERR) (TE
F s (WEERAEE (ERzEREBE ARRAH
TES) (HEFRAD  RIVEAATIMEERL (B
B) M mEREBRERRAE] (—ERAEBERR
BEAMAINABRRARAB ZBZEEENB
~E) (TBEAT) 2828784 (Thg4ds)) 571z
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Slow-down of Business
The unprecedented Pandemic, indeed, slowed down the business
development of the Target Company in the following ways:

(i) delay in completion of property development projects due to (a) delay
in the supply of construction materials; (b) labour shortage as a result
of the mandatory quarantine policy; and (c) delay in decisions made
in relation to the Yuetang Village Re-development Project as physical
inspections and meetings could not be arranged; and

(ii) increased difficulties for and/or hesitation of potential buyers to perform
site-visits during the Pandemic and the negative impact brought to the
general economy of Zhuhai, which affected the property purchasing
momentum.

Guaranteed Target Profit Level

Based on the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Target
Company for the three financial years ended 31 December 2021, the
accumulated audited consolidated profit after tax of the Target Company
after the completion of the purchase of the Share Capital by the Purchaser
(the "Acquisition” and the “Accumulated Net Profit”, respectively) was
approximately RMB27,486,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,983,000),
representing a shortfall of approximately RMB189,181,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$227,017,000) as compared to the target profit level of
HK$260 million (the “Target Profit Level”) to be achieved by the Target
Company.

On 11 March 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the
Company entered into a conditional supplemental agreement to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement for, among others, the extension of time for the Target
Company to meet the Target Profit Level for 18 months (i.e. from the target
period, being the three financial years ended 31 December 2021 to the new
target period, being the period from 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2023 (the
"New Target Period")) (the “Supplemental Agreement”).

The Acquisition constituted a major transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further, the Guarantor and the Vendor
are connected persons (defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company
and accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
Agreement constitute a non-exempt connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to, amongst others,
the approval of the Shareholders (other than the Vendor, the Guarantor and
their respective associates) not interested in the Supplemental Agreement (the
"Independent Shareholders”) at an EGM to be convened.
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i

An independent board committee comprising all the current INEDs (the
"Independent Board Committee”) had been established to advise the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Supplemental
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder. An independent
financial adviser (the “Independent Financial Adviser”) was appointed to
advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
in this regard.

Miﬂﬁnj‘nﬂﬂ&

Extension of Long Stop Date

Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, completion of the transactions
contemplated thereunder was conditional upon the fulfillment of the
condition precedent to the Supplemental Agreement on or before 31 July
2022 (the “Long Stop Date”). As additional time was required for the
fulfillment of the condition precedent(s) to the Supplemental Agreement, on
29 July 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the Company
entered into a second supplemental agreement to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, pursuant to which the Long Stop Date shall be extended to 31
July 2023. Save as disclosed above, all other terms and conditions of the
Supplemental Agreement remain unchanged and shall continue in full force
and effect.

Change of Independent Financial Adviser

After the expiry of the engagement letter of the first Independent Financial
Adviser on 30 September 2022, another Independent Financial Adviser was
appointed by the Company to advise the Independent Board Committee
and the Independent Shareholders of the reasonableness of the terms of the
Supplemental Agreement.

Despatch of Circular

A circular was initially expected to be despatched to the Shareholders on or
before 30 June 2023 containing, among other things, further details of the
Supplemental Agreement and the second supplemental agreement to the
Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 29 July 2022. However, due to the latest
developments as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30
June 2023, the Company expected that no further supplemental agreements
would be entered into to extend the period for the Target Company to
achieve the Guaranteed Target Profit Level. Accordingly, the circular was not
despatched to the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Development of the Property Development Projects of the Target
Company from the Fourth Quarter of 2022 towards Early 2023

The Company had been evaluating and monitoring the progress of the
Yuetang Village Re-development Project and other property redevelopment
projects, which are situated in Zhuhai City (the “Projects”). However,
since the outbreak of the Pandemic, the Zhuhai City government had
been implementing strict preventive and containment measures, as well as
lockdown and other policies relating to the restrictions of people flow, which
constricted general economic activities within the local and surrounding areas
and consequently, affected and stagnated the property development industry
and the operating environment in Zhuhai City (the “Industry”) as a whole.
The construction timetable of each of the Projects has been temporarily
stalled and delayed due to (i) delay in the supply of construction materials;
(ii) labour shortage as a result of the abovementioned restriction and
containment measures; and (iii) increased difficulties for and/or hesitation of
potential buyers to perform site-visits during the Pandemic and the negative
impact brought to the general economy of Zhuhai City, which have affected
the property purchasing momentum.

Given the circumstance as a result of the Pandemic, the Directors were not
certain of the recovery time of the Industry but had been closely monitoring
and assessing the status of the Projects. In attempting to evaluate the future
prospect of the Projects, the Company engaged an independent professional
property valuer (the “Valuer”) to appraise and assess the estimated
turnaround time of the Industry in order to formulate the plan to resume the
Projects.

Taking into account (i) the loosen-up of tightening policies relating to the
Industry as imposed by the PRC government; (i) the stabilised demand of
the residential buildings in Zhuhai City as driven by an inelastic demand and
purchasers’ expectation of the recovery of Industry; and (iii) the loosen-up
of restriction and regulatory policies in relation to the Pandemic, which was
expected to increase the market confidence in respect of the Industry and
attract potential purchasers of residential buildings, the Valuer was of the
view that the Industry is reckoned to recover steadily and gradually return
to the pre-epidemic level not later than the second half of 2023, subject
to future development of the Pandemic, as well as the macroeconomic and
political environment around the world.
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i

Actions Considered by the Company towards the Projects

In addition to the above arrangement, the Company had considered the
feasibility of exercising of the option granted by the Vendor to the Purchaser
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of the sale and transfer of
the entire issued Share Capital of the Target Company (the “Put Option”)
and taking legal action towards the Vendor and the Guarantor in case that

Miﬂﬁnj‘nﬂﬂ&

they were not able to fulfill their obligations under the Put Option. However,
having considered that (i) the Vendor and the Guarantor have expressed
to the Company that they do not have the financial capacity to fulfill their
obligations in a timely manner assuming that the Company exercises the Put
Option; and (ii) should any legal actions be taken against the Vendor and
the Guarantor, the Company upon going through lengthy legal procedures
would only be able to receive cash compensation which may not be sufficient
to cover the Company’s initial investment costs in the Projects, the Directors
consider that the exercise of the Put Option and the taking of any legal
actions against the Vendor and the Guarantor by the Group are not in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

In relation to the realisation of investment in the Projects, the Directors had
made reference to the Valuer’s opinion on the estimated recovery time of the
Industry of being not later than the second half of 2023. Given the condition
of the Industry, having considered (i) the potential gain from the Projects; (ii)
the signs of recovery from the Pandemic in the PRC; and (iii) the Company’s
commitment and capital investment in the Projects and that the Company
may be able to recover its initial investment costs and to harvest the gain
generated by the Projects upon the recovery of the Industry, the Directors
came into the conclusion that it was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole not to realize its investment in the Projects.

As disclosed in the 2022/2023 Interim Report of the Company, the Company
and the Purchaser then intended to enter into a further supplemental
agreement (the
Guarantor to (i) further extend the New Target Period up to 31 December

"Supplemental Agreement II”) with the Vendor and the

2024 by making reference to the Valuer’s estimation on the recovery timeline
of the Industry; and (ii) revise the calculation formula regarding the fulfillment
of the Target Profit Level under the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Up to early March 2023, the Company was still in negotiations with the
Vendor and the Guarantor to formulate a detailed and achievable action plan
and timetable of the Projects and to finalise the terms and conditions under
the Supplemental Agreement II.

Current Status

The Yuetang Village Re-development Project is currently considered by the
Board as at a preliminary stage (i.e. with land survey completed and the
proposal of the re-development units submitted to the local governmental
authorities) as a result of, among other reasons, the impact of certain
preventive measures by the local government in response to the outspread of
the COVID-19 since 2019. The Vendor, the Guarantor and the majority of the
Board have not finalised the details of the Yuetang Village Redevelopment
Project in their meetings since March 2023, which then caused the Yuetang
Village Re-development Project to be put on-hold despite the signs of the
recovery from the COVID-19.

In light of the above circumstances and as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 30 June 2023, the Yuetang Village Redevelopment
Project is still at its preliminary stage, the Board considers that the Target
Company will not be able to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit Level in
the foreseeable future so that the Company does not expect to enter into
any further supplemental agreement to, among others, extend the period
for the Target Company to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit Level until
any solution can be reached and/or agreed. The Company has been seeking
legal advices from its legal advisers on appropriate legal actions to be taken
regarding the Supplemental Agreement in relation to the matters mentioned
above if and when necessary, in order to protect and safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the Company.

Any material developments and updates will be announced by the Company
as and when appropriate.

At the same time, each of the other re-development projects in Zhuhai,
similar to the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project,
by the Board as at a preliminary stage (i.e. pending approval of the local
governmental authorities to commence construction).

is also considered
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EEREBA@WEDN

For details, please refer to the Company’'s announcements dated 14 March,
1 and 29 April, 1 June, 14 and 29 July and 31 October 2022 as well as 31
January, 28 April, 30 June and 10 August 2023 respectively.

Environmental Technology Related Business

It came to the Board's attention that environmental protection related issues
in the PRC had been one of the topics being focused and mentioned in
the 13th and 14th Five Year Plans for Economic and Social Development of
the PRC, each of which aims to, including but not limited, contain carbon
pollution and emission and promote and encourage the use of green
building materials. Driven by the strengthening policies and the enforcement
of environmental protection regulations made by the PRC government,
the Board considered that there would be continuous substantial demand
and opportunities for the integration and application of environmental
technologies for the purposes of lowering operation and production costs and
improving services quality and efficiency in the PRC to support and maintain
its rapid urbanization and industrialization development.

The Board also considered that the Grantee (as defined below), a company
principally engaged in the provision of business and consultancy services,
might leverage on its expertise in investment advisory services and its business
network to provide certain consultancy services to the Group to assist
and facilitate the development of the Group’s environmental technology
related business (i.e. applying or provision of environmental technologies,
products, equipment and systems in the production of steel compounds and
other industrial compound materials) (the “Environmental Technology
Business”).

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the “Grantee”) regarding
the appointment of the Grantee as a consultant of the Company for the
provision to the Group of, amongst others, the following services for or
in relation to the development of the Environmental Technology Business
(the “Consultancy Services”) for a term of two years (the “Consultancy
Agreement”) from the completion date of the Consultancy Agreement:

(i) the business and investment, consultation and advisory services;

(i) screening, identifying and introducing potential quality business partners
to the Group, and assisting the Group in entering into joint venture
agreement(s) and/or business cooperation agreement(s) with such
partners; and

(iii) proposing viable financial solutions to the Group for development of the

Environmental Technology Business,
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Pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement, the Board resolved to grant
share options of the Company to the Grantee to subscribe for a total
of 174,800,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.2 per Share (the
“Share Options”) under the Share Option Scheme as consideration for
the Consultancy Services. Completion of the Consultancy Agreement was
conditional upon the passing of the necessary resolutions by the Shareholders
at an EGM to be convened, approving the grant of Share Options to the
Grantee and the transactions contemplated thereunder. An EGM was held on
22 April 2022 and the relevant resolutions were passed by the Shareholders
thereat. The transactions contemplated under the Consultancy Agreement
were completed on 25 April 2022.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 January 2022, circular
dated 30 March 2022 and announcement dated 22 April 2022 for details.

So far, the Grantee has introduced certain potential business partners for
the Environmental Technology Business to the Company and negotiations
and discussion are underway between the Group and such potential business
partners. However, no formal joint venture agreements and/or business
agreements have been entered into and the Grantee has not yet proposed
any viable financial solutions to the Group for any potential joint venture and/
or business cooperation.

Nano Phase Change Energy Storage Material(s) (the “Nano
PCMs") Business

Equity Investment Agreement

On 25 July 2022, Guangzhou Mayer entered into an equity investment
agreement with Guangdong Golden Way Environmental and Energy
Saving Technology Co., Ltd* (EREEIRFEEREBRAE )(“Golden
Way"), Start Upward Limited (“Start Upward”) and an individual (the
“Individual”), all being independent third parties (the "Equity Investment
Agreement”), pursuant to which:

(i) Golden Way conditionally agreed to make the Capital Contribution
(as stated in the Equity Investment Agreement) to Guangzhou Mayer
Technology Development Ltd* (EMZERRILERARAE (" Mayer
Technology”), an existing wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangzhou
Mayer, in cash in the amount of RMB6 million;

(i)  Guangzhou Mayer conditionally agreed to make the Capital
Contribution, which increased its capital investment in Mayer
Technology from RMB1 million to RMB14 million;

(i) the registered capital of Mayer Technology will be increased from

RMB1 million to RMB20 million as a result of the Capital Contribution;

and

Start Upward conditionally agreed to grant Mayer Technology the
exclusive right of the use of the licensed patent granted to it in
respect of the production technology of the Nano PCMs (i.e. the nano
phase change energy storage ice plate and materials) in the PRC (the
"Exclusive Right”).
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After the entering into of the Equity Investment Agreement, Mayer

EEEF@WK

Technology can be principally engaged in the manufacturing and selling of
8°C Nano PCMs and relative equipment. Upon the Capital Contribution,
the equity interests owned by Guangzhou Mayer and Golden Way in Mayer
Technology will be 70% and 30%, respectively and in other words, the equity
interest held by Guangzhou Mayer in Mayer Technology will be diluted from
100% to 70%.
Investment Agreement constitutes a deemed disposal of the Group's equity

Therefore, the transaction contemplated under the Equity

interest in Mayer Technology under Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules. However,
the financial results of Mayer Technology will continue to be consolidated
into the financial statements of the Group.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
September 2022 on the Company’s website (www.mayer.com.hk).

Development of Nano PCMs Business

In accordance with the terms of the Equity Investment Agreement, Start
Upward has granted Mayer Technology the Exclusive Right after being paid
by Mayer Technology the first batch of cash amount of RMB5 million. Mayer
Technology proceeded to construct an ultra-high efficiency project engine
room and four Nano PCMs production lines in the factory area of Guangzhou
Mayer in Yonghe Economic Zone of Guangzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Guangzhou, the PRC.

The estimated investment of the project is mainly for the production of Nano
PCMs. The products of the Nano PCMs will be widely used in air-conditioning,
refrigeration and heating systems in server rooms, medical care, public
buildings, airports, rail transit, hotels, large industries and other areas. They
will subvert the existing popular concept of air-conditioning system. With
the goal of leading the future air-conditioning industry towards the direction
of energy saving, these products will become a new generation of deep
energy-saving and environmentally friendly products.

The nano phase change cold storage ice plate project of Mayer Technology
completed the construction of reaction kettle, cold storage, cooling tower,
air-cooled unit, and high efficiency testing machine room in about late April 2023,
has been running a single production equipment since the end of June 2023, and
has started small batch production, and the products produced have been used
in the existing high-efficiency machine room system, and this project has already
been used for the cooling of Guangzhou Mayer’s existing office space.

Since the existing new solar collector tube technology is better than the electric
heating technology originally designed as it will greatly save electricity costs for
production and operation, so the technical plan has been readjusted. Now the
solar collector tube technology project is being installed as soon as possible, and
it is expected to be completed and put into production by the end of September
2023. By then, the four production lines will be put into trial operation.

After negotiations between Guangzhou Mayer and Golden Way, the Capital
Contribution will be postponed for one year to 26 July 2024. A supplemental
agreement to the Equity Investment Agreement was entered into among
Guangzhou Mayer, Golden Way and the Individual on 18 September 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Technology Consultancy Agreement

On 30 August 2023, Guangzhou Mayer and the Center of Engineering and
Construction Service, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the PRC (B
EENIBTRERRFFP L) (the "Consultant”) entered into a technology
consultancy agreement (the “Technology Consultancy Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Consultant shall provide the following consultancy
services to Guangzhou Mayer in relation to the application of the Nano PCMs
in the agricultural industry in the PRC for a year from 30 August 2023 to 29
August 2024, both days inclusive:

(i) assisting in contacting the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs in
Pinggu District of Beijing, PRC so as to promote the application and
testing of the Nano PCMs in agricultural facilities;

(i) organising and arranging technical demonstrations and research
discussions among authorised experts in relation to the agricultural
applications of the Nano PCMs (such as facility agriculture and
agricultural product storage cold chain);

(iii) providing guidance and assistance in promoting the Nano PCMs and

their technology in the agriculture field and rural areas based on the

satisfactory results of the application testing of the Nano PCMs; and

(iv) providing full support in establishing a research institute of Guangzhou

Mayer in Beijing in relation to the application of the Nano PCMs in the

agricultural industry.

The Consultant is a PRC governmental institution which is responsible for,
among other things, enhancing the overall performance and the technology
of the agricultural industry in the PRC.

The Board is of the view that the Consultant, given its governmental
authority in the agricultural field in the PRC, is able to effectively promote
and enhance the application and usage of the Nano PCMs in the agricultural
industry, which allows the Group to capture market opportunities, expand
its environmental technology related business in the PRC, further enhance its
business portfolio and generate additional return for the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board considers that the entering
into of the Technology Consultancy Agreement is in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

UNAUTHORISED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY’S
EQUITY INVESTMENT

On 9 February 2022, a former Director who was also former directors of
certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC using a suspected forgery seal
entered into an agreement with other parties to dispose of a 51% equity
interest of the Group in Hei Jing Photoelectric Technology Co., Limited (“Hei
Jing"”) at a cash consideration of RMB5.3 million (the “Hei Jing Disposal”).
The consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31 March 2022 and
the registration of the ownership of the equity interest was changed to the
purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal of the former Director,
the Board carried out a review of the transaction. The Directors considered
that the consideration of the Hei Jing Disposal was too low and unfair and
the Group would suffer a significant loss upon the Hei Jing Disposal. In the
view of the Directors, the Hei Jing Disposal was unenforceable. Therefore,
the Group instigated a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the
ownership of the 51% equity interest in Hei Jing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREBA@WEDN

The Company will keep the Shareholders and the potential investors informed
of any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Segment Revenue and Gross Profit

(i) Production and Sales of Steel Products
In disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers, the revenue
from:

(a) domestic sales of steel products in the PRC during the Year
was approximately RMB477,794,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 39.8% compared with approximately
RMB793,028,000 for the Last Reporting Period;

(b) indirect export sales of steel products in the PRC during the Year
was approximately RMB26,365,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 59.9% compared with approximately RMB65,744,000
for the Last Reporting Period; and

(c) direct export sales of steel products outside the PRC during the
Year was approximately RMB34,004,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 19.8% while it was approximately RMB42,404,000
for the Last Reporting Period.

As a result, the aggregate revenue of this segment decreased by 40.3%
from approximately RMB901,176,000 for the Last Reporting Period to
approximately RMB538,163,000 for the Year.

This segment recorded gross profit of approximately RMB71,198,000 for
the Year with a gross profit margin of approximately 13.2%, compared
with gross profit of approximately RMB118,711,000 with a gross profit
margin of approximately 13.1% for the Last Reporting Period.

The domestic sales, indirect export sales and direct export sales
accounted for approximately 88.8%, 4.9% and 6.3% of the total sales
of the Year respectively as compared with approximately 88.0%, 7.3%
and 4.7% for the Last Reporting Period.

(ii) Urban Renewal Project Planning and Consulting
During the Year, no revenue was recorded from this segment (Last
Reporting Period: RMB1,476,000). Recognition of revenue in this
segment mainly depends on the progress of the redevelopment
projects accordingly. The segment loss for the Year was approximately
RMB335,733,000 (Last Reporting Period: approximately RMB7,725,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB538,163,000, gross
profit of approximately RMB71,198,000 and a gross profit margin of
approximately 13.2% for the Year, compared with revenue of approximately
RMB902,652,000, gross profit of approximately RMB118,711,000 and a gross
profit margin of approximately 13.2% for the Last Reporting Period.

Other Income

The Group’s other income decreased from approximately RMB24,637,000
for the Last Reporting Period to approximately RMB17,310,000 for the Year.
During the Year, the Group received bank interest income of approximately
RMB1,193,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB722,000) and a subsidy from the
local government authorities of the PRC of approximately RMB6,107,000 (Last
Reporting Period: RMB4,712,000) for supporting the Group’s operation and
encouraging innovation of production technology, but recorded a substantial
decrease of scrap sales from approximately RMB18,344,000 for the Last
Reporting Period to approximately RMB9,558,000 for the Year.

Other Net (Loss)/Gain

The Group recorded other net loss of approximately RMB336,571,000 for
the Year compared to other net gain of approximately RMB2,525,000 for the
Last Reporting Period. This was mainly due to an adverse total difference of
impairment on trade and other receivables of approximately RMB43,244,000,
an impairment loss on prepayment of approximately RMB96,460,000 and an
impairment loss on an associate of approximately RMB198,346,000, despite
an increase of approximately RMB1,535,000 from net exchange gain for the
Year.

Operating Expenses

The total operating expenses of the Group for the Year were approximately
RMB78,821,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB131,100,000), of which
approximately RMB42,845,000 was distribution costs, approximately
RMB35,937,000 was administrative expenses and approximately RMB39,000
was other operating expenses, accounting for approximately 54.4%, 45.6%
and 0% of revenue for the Year respectively, while the amounts for the
Last Reporting Period were approximately RMB60,931,000, RMB70,163,000
and RMB6,000 respectively, accounting for approximately 46.5%, 53.5%
and 0% of revenue for the Last Reporting Period, respectively. The decrease
in total operating expenses was mainly due to decreases of staff costs and
administrative expenses.

Finance Costs

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of approximately
RMB6,263,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB17,915,000), of which the interest
for a promissory note issued in the Acquisition (as stated in the “Urban
Renewal Projects Planning and Consulting” paragraph of the Business Review
above) amounted to approximately RMB4,210,000 (Last Reporting Period:
RMB13,269,000). Others were bank interest expenses of approximately
RMB1,739,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB3,877,000), interest expense
on lease liabilities of approximately RMB20,000 (Last Reporting Period:
RMB135,000) and other finance charges of approximately RMB294,000 (Last
Reporting Period: RMB634,000).
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(Loss) for the Year/Period

The Group increased loss after tax for the Last Reporting Period of
approximately RMB8,819,000 to loss after tax for the Year of approximately
RMB335,996,000, primarily owing to impairment losses on trade and other
receivables, prepayment and an associate of approximately RMB338,050,000,
despite the decreases in operating expenses (in particular the administrative
expenses) and finance costs resulting mainly from the reduction of interest for
promissory notes matured on 31 March 2022.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result, the Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the Year of approximately RMB338,846,000 whereas recording loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the Last Reporting Period of
approximately RMB14,304,000.

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 30 June 2023, the property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB62,805,000, representing an increase of approximately
18.4% when compared to approximately RMB53,028,000 as at 30 June
2022, mainly attributable to additions to construction of property in progress.

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, no property, plant and equipment of
the Group were pledged to secure any borrowings granted to the Group.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liabilities

As at 30 June 2023, the Group recognized the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities amounting to approximately RMB5,915,000 and RMB971,000
respectively, as compared to approximately RMB5,377,000 and RMB203,000
respectively as at 30 June 2022. The Group leases various land and buildings
and its lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. Accordingly, depreciation of right-of-use assets for the Year was
approximately RMB327,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB2,050,000).

Interest in an Associate

Through the completion of the Acquisition, the Group commenced a new
business line on urban renewal project planning and consulting since then.
The Target Company, through its invested company Hua Fa Yue Tang, as
an associate of the Company, of which a 49% equity interest was indirectly
owned by the Company, operates the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project
located in Sanzhao Town, Jinwan District, Zhuhai City, the PRC. Details of the
Acquisition were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 11
June, 12 September, 30 September and 31 October 2019 and 26 November
2020, respectively and the circular of the Company dated 23 August 2019.
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Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

As at 30 June 2023, the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
generated from the Acquisition amounted to RMB Nil (30 June 2022: RMB
Nil). Contingent consideration receivable of RMB Nil (30 June 2022: RMB
Nil) and put option of RMB Nil (30 June 2022: RMB Nil) were designated
at these financial assets which were stated at fair value. These valuations
were performed by an independent professional valuer, which revalued the
financial assets as at 30 June 2023 according to the fair value requirements
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Inventories

As at 30 June 2023, the inventories amounted to approximately
RMB92,956,000 (30 June 2022: RMB93,543,000), representing a 0.6%
decrease and an aggregation of stock in various status, being raw materials,
work-in-progress, finished goods and goods-in-transit. Raw materials
increased by 21.8% from approximately RMB28,449,000 as at 30 June 2022
to approximately RMB34,663,000 as at 30 June 2023 and finished goods
decreased by 13.7% from approximately RMB62,598,000 as at 30 June 2022
to approximately RMB54,017,000 as at 30 June 2023.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB315,005,000
as at 30 June 2023, representing a decrease of 14.3% when compared to
approximately RMB367,614,000 as at 30 June 2022, which was a combined
effect of increases in trade receivables of 18.1%, prepayment and other
deposit of 56.8%, other receivables of 4.3% and amount due from joint
venture of 1.5% and a decrease in bills receivables of 63.1%. The substantial
decrease in bills receivables was mainly owing to the maturity of most of
the bills receivables and lower sales in the second half of 2022 and the
substantial increase in trade receivables was mainly owing to the addition of
two customers.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to approximately RMB147,469,000 as
at 30 June 2023, representing an increase of approximately 27.7% when
compared to approximately RMB115,447,000 as at 30 June 2022.
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Borrowings

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, the Group's outstanding borrowings
were RMB75,000,000 and approximately RMB7,637,000, respectively. The
loan of RMB75,000,000 outstanding as at 30 June 2023 was from banks in
the PRC and bore fixed interest rates of 3.2% to 3.8% per annum. Further
details were dislcosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
The loan of RMB7,637,000 was from third parties denominated in HK$ and
bearing interest rates of 8% to 10% per annum in the Last Reporting Period.

No assets of the Group were pledged to secured the borrowings as at 30 June
2023 and 30 June 2022 and no conditions were imposed on any controlling
Shareholder.

Promissory Notes

On the completion date of the Acquisition, a subsidiary of the Company
issued promissory notes with a principal amount of HK$158,000,000 as part
of the settlement of the consideration for the Acquisition (the “PNs”). The
PNs bore interest at 3%
date was 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of the PNs upon

per annum payable semi-annually and the maturity

issuance was assessed at approximately HK$156,586,000 by an independent
professional valuer. The effective interest rate of the PNs was 10%.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

TREASURY POLICIES

As at 30 June 2023, the authorised share capital of the Company
was approximately RMB724,843,000 (HK$800,000,000) divided into
4,000,000,000 Shares with a par value of HK$0.2 each and the issued
share capital of the Company was approximately RMB391,760,000
(HK$431,600,000) divided into 2,158,000,000 Shares. As at the date of this
Annual Report, the share capital of the Company comprises ordinary Shares
only.

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by (i) cash flow from
operating activities; (ii) borrowings from a bank, a financial institution and a
third party; and (i) funding through an open offer in late 2018.

The Group continues to adhere to prudent treasury policies. The Group
continued to insure against major receivables in order to lower the risks of
credit sales and to ensure that funds would be recovered on a timely basis,
hence fulfilling the requirements for debt repayments and working capital
commitments.

The Group had not used any financial instruments for hedging purposes and
had no future plans for material investments or capital assets in the coming
year.
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The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB62,262,000
as at 30 June 2023 as compared with RMB215,999,000 as at 30 June
2022. The current ratio (i.e. current assets divided by current liabilities)
was approximately 1.2 times as at 30 June 2023, compared with that of
approximately 1.8 times as at 30 June 2022.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had a balance of RMB75,000,000 borrowings
from bank to finance the Group’s working capital and capital expenditures
(30 June 2022: from a third party of RMB7,637,000). The Group's gearing
ratio as at 30 June 2023 and the calculation basis were disclosed in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, the Group recorded net cash outflow of approximately
RMB44,974,000 from its operating activities. The amount was mainly
attributed to the profit before tax of approximately RMB333,193,000,
together with finance cost of approximately RMB6,263,000, depreciation
of approximately RMB4,791,000 and depreciation of right-of-use assets of
RMB327,000, which were offset by net change in trade and other receivables
of approximately RMB48,532,000 but were compensated by net change
in inventories of approximately RMB587,000 and net change in trade and
other payables of RMB33,653,000. Net cash outflow of approximately
RMB13,391,000 was from investing activities for the Year, mainly caused by
the payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB15,520,000. Net cash inflow of approximately RMB65,213,000 from
financing activities for the Year mainly resulted from the new borrowing from
a bank. Bank deposits and cash balances as at 30 June 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB46,388,000, which was mainly denominated in Renminbi
and HK dollars (30 June 2022: RMB33,201,000).

The debt-to-equity ratio (i.e. total liabilities divided by issued share capital)
as at 30 June 2023 was approximately 100.2% while it was approximately
71.1% as at 30 June 2022. Current portion of borrowings accounted for
approximately 14.1% and 1.0% of the total assets of the Group as at 30
June 2023 and 30 June 2022, respectively.

Update on the use of proceeds from open offer

On 20 July 2018, the Company entered into underwriting agreements in
relation to the underwriting and certain other arrangements in respect of
an open offer on the basis of four offer Shares for every one Share in issue
and held by the Shareholders on 26 October 2018, being the record date, at
the subscription price of HK$0.2 each (the “Open Offer”). The Open Offer
had been completed on 19 November 2018 and totally 1,398,400,000 offer
shares were issued. The net proceeds of the Open Offer (the “Proceeds”)
amounted to approximately RMB243,873,000 (HK$274,894,000) (equivalent
to a net price of approximately HK$0.2 per offer Share). Details of the Open
Offer were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 16 January, 20
July, 18 September and 19 November 2018, the Company’s circular dated 21
September 2018 and the Company’s prospectus dated 29 October 2018.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

EEEANWE DN

SEBR-_E_=FB=tHZRBEEFEN
AHARY62,262,0007t > MR ZEZZFEB=+
HE|A AR#215,999,0007T ° MmEnth X (BmshE
ERURHEE®E RIE=FB=1+THH%12
FomR _E__F,B=1+HAKNAE1.8F
ATE_=FNAZ+HH AEREKXRBE-BRTZ
BE4 A ARE75,000,0007T (ZE - 4,58
=t+H ZKB—RFE=ZHZARHE7,637,0007T) »
UBEAEEZEEESREARST - REAER
T CHEANA-tAMEEAGLERAEER
ERGEMBRRMEITPIRE

RZEE > AEBKLEFHZFRETHAABA
R #644,974,0007T ° £ EF EBIEFRRATEF O A
FE 1533,193,0007T ~ M ¥ A A4 A R 16,263,000
T IENAREA,791,000c R EREESERE
ANE#327,0007t > # & 5 & UK Bk T0 R ELth FE UL =X

B E)FEEL AR 1548,532,0007CFrikss > BEE
S8 BIENARIES87,0007T MU Kk B 5 FE R
K B eI R IE S SN F 58 A R 633,653,000 T Ff
EoRZEE > BETHZFRESMHOAARKE
13,391,00070 > T EHBEYE ~ BB R&EHIR
HANRTE15,520,0007cPRE R - RZFE > BEE
B FBESRALYAREES5,213,0007T » TERE
—RIPFTZ2EE- R _ZT_=ZFB=+HZIR
TEFRIBREEHRN A ANR46,388,0007T (ZF
T ZHEAB=+H: AE¥33,201,0007T) 0 FE
MARS R HBITTE -

RIZBEZI=FXB=1+HZEHHERLE (BN4E
BERUBEITRA) 8972100.2% > MRZZEZZ
ERNBZTHENAET1.1% o EEZ B DD 5
EAREENR S _=ZF"B=THEHER-_Z -
ANEZTHZBEEN141%K%1.0%

AHBEFRSRIEZRNAR
ATE—N\FEtBZ+H » NABILEHERE
ABREBBAR_ZE—N\E+EB=+/xH (A& H
) RESFAE—REZTRMD > JUEKR0.2E
TR ERENREERNABEEETARNE
E(RARBE) 2BHRETHMZTHE - A%
EBER_E-NE+—B+NB=H > TaH£%E
31,398,400,0000% B E 1D - AR EEZ BN
1532 (TAPREMIEL) 4758 AR 16243,873,0007T
(274,894,00078 7t) (FHER FEBESKRESKRD

#90.2787T) - AHBEZHBENAATAHEAC
Z2—NEFE—AB+XB-tBZ+B - B+ \BXK
+—BA+hBZAE AABFREA-E—/\FEN
BZ+—HZBRUREARABHBEAZ-Z—/\F
+RAZthBZHESZR-

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREBA@WEDN

The use of the Proceeds by the Group for the following past six-month

periods is provided in the table below (the "Table"):

Intended Uses

HBMPSRIEZBR

By 31 Dec. 2021
—E-—F

By 30 June 2022
—

TRZR) RBETAEREUTAENER

By 31 Dec. 2022
———

Use of Proceeds FRiS AR IE & BREAR +=-HA=+—8# AA=+HA +ZHA=+—HH
HK$" million HK$" million HK$" million HK$" million
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
BEET BEAET BEAET BEET
(#E49) (#E49) (1E49) (1E49)
Legal, consultancy and EEREEXZEE 48.77 48.76 48.76 48.76
professional fees and BHREXER
other costs and expenses B BB 2R K
arising from the sz
resumption
Repayment of outstanding BEKREZEEX 76.90 75.10 75.10 75.10
loans (including the (=) (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
Court Monies) (Htzt2) (Htz22) (H1522)
Directors’ remuneration BEEHM 5.60 5.30 5.30 5.30
Capital expenditure for EMNETEAMSE 42.77 42.35 45.08 45.08
Guangzhou Mayer (Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 3)
(HtzE1) (H15%3) (H15£3)
General working capital —REEEE 100.65 100.65 100.65 100.65
(Note 1)
(Frzt1)
Remaining amount FgrEr1E 2.73 - -
Accumulated use of the R CBAFMRE 272.16 274.89 274.89
Proceeds (Note 4) RIB (f15E4)
Notes: st -

1. According to the announcements of the Company dated 21 December 2020 and 1.
20 January 2021, the Company had re-allocated its uses of proceeds from “Capital

BEAATHARA_ZE_EF+_/A_+—HEKZ
E_-F-HB+HHRE

ABEBRFTEMRIE

expenditures for Guangzhou Mayer” to “General working capital”. Accordingly,
the Proceeds (i) to be used in the “Capital expenditure for Guangzhou Mayer”
decreased from approximately HK$93.73 million to approximately HK$42.77
million; and (ii) to be used in the “General working capital” increased from
approximately HK$49.69 million to approximately HK$100.65 million.

The Company had previously deposited approximately HK$11.03 million (the
“Court Monies"), equivalent to the amount of the debt being claimed by Mr. Lai
Yueh Hsing (“Mr. Lai”), a former Director, to the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands (the “Court”) for the purpose of a winding-up petition filed by Mr. Lai
against the Company. As at the date of this Annual Report, there is no decision
from the Court, and the Court Monies are being locked-up by the Court.

Since the Court Monies (i.e. HK$11.03 million from the Proceeds) had not been
utilised (i.e. paid to Mr. Lai) pending the decision of the Court, the Company
classified the Court Monies as unutilized in its financial report. For illustration
purposes, with the inclusion of the Court Monies, the proceeds utilised under
the “Repayment of outstanding loans” were then considered as substantially the
same as it was previously intended (i.e. HK$64.07 million + HK$11.03 million =
HK$75.10 million). Save for the Court Monies, all the outstanding loans that had
been intended to be paid-off with the Proceeds were paid by the Company.
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Hh#4993.73B B AT/ EN42.778 8B 5 KA
EI—REEEE ) WFTSMIEMA149.69A BB Tig
INZE#J100.65B &8 BT ©
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3. Due to the reasons as stated in Note 2 above, the Company has continued to invest
money, including any remaining amount of the Proceeds, in the capital expenditure
for Guangzhou Mayer for its operational uses. Additional amounts were also
expended by the Company through its internal resources for the period up to 30
June 2022 and 31 December 2022 (i.e. stated as approximately HK$46.30 million
and approximately HK$56.12 million in the report of the Company for the Last
Reporting Period and the interim report of the Company for the six months ended
31 December 2022, respectively) to purchase production materials that would allow
Guangzhou Mayer and the Group to develop their business in the environmental
segment in the PRC.

4. The Proceeds were considered as fully utilised according to their intended purposes
as previously disclosed.

As illustrated in the Table, the Proceeds were fully utilised by the Company
as previously intended by the Last Reporting Period and the Group has also
made more investment through its internal resources in Guangzhou Mayer’s
operation. Additionally, due to the different exchange rates adopted by the
Company differing from the one used in the Open Offer and the rounding of
the figures, the figures stated in the reports mention in Note 3 above and in
the Table have been adjusted for illustration purposes.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB, US dollars and HK dollars and those currencies remained relatively
stable during the Year, the Group was not exposed to any significant foreign
exchange risk. In general, it is the Group’s policy for each operating entity to
borrow in local currencies, where necessary, to minimize currency risk. As the
impact from foreign exchange exposure was minimal, the Directors were of
the view that no hedging against foreign currency exposure was necessary

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 30 June 2023, no assets were pledged to any banks, financial
institutions or third parties for securing banking or other financing facilities
granted to the Group (30 June 2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Writs of summons against the Company

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth Finance
Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited against the
Company to claim a sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant legal costs incurred/
to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the claim. In the Directors’
opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a material impact on the
Group's financial position.
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Claims against the Company

On 14 April 2021, the Company received two writs of summons under action
numbers HCA 548 of 2020 and HCA 213 of 2021 issued in the High Court
of Hong Kong (the “HK High Court”) by the solicitors acting for plaintiffs
against the Company (as defendant). The plaintiffs alleged that the Company
had been indebted to them pursuant to convertible notes (principal amount
of HK$90,000,000 in aggregate) and a promissory note (principal amount of
HK$300,000,000) issued in May 2011 by the Company (the “Claims”).

After seeking professional advice from the legal advisor, and to the best
of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, the Board believes that the claimants are attempting
to cause harm to the interests of the Company through the use of legal
proceedings. Accordingly, the Company will strenuously defend the Claims
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, reserve the right to
counterclaim against the claimants, and use its best endeavours to safeguard
the overall interests of the Shareholders. In the Directors’ opinion, the Claims,
if any, will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position.
Details of the Claims were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 14 April and 6 May 2021, respectively.

LEGAL CASES UPDATE

Claim Disputes in Shenzhen

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 13 October
2017, 5 October, 20 November and 27 November 2018 as well as 19 March
2020, respectively and circular dated 23 August 2019, which disclosed that
Guangzhou Mayer had provided investments in aggregate amounting to
RMB50 million, doubtfully, to three investment companies by the former
management of Guangzhou Mayer. The current management of Guangzhou
Mayer considers these investments as deceitful acts committed by the former
management of Guangzhou Mayer and the three investment companies,
and so proper legal actions have been conducted by Guangzhou Mayer for
recovering these investments, including filing claim petitions to the People’s
Court of Qianhai Cooperation District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province*,
in the PRC (the “Court of Qianhai”)* and reporting to the relevant police
department in the PRC. In October 2018, the People’s Court of Futian District
of Shenzhen City* (the “Futian District Court”) had taken up the mentioned
petitions from the Court of Qianhai and had a hearing on 20 November
2018. The Futian District Court made decisions that two defendants shall
repay in total RMB30 million plus interest for the reporting period of
possession of the fund to Guangzhou Mayer. The Auditors expressed their
qualified opinion on the issue in the audited financial statement for the year
ended 31 December 2018 with full impairment made in the same year.

Guangzhou Mayer has been considering to apply for a civil lawsuit against
the ultimate beneficial owner of two defendants, as Guangzhou Mayer has
received notices from the Futian District Court that the two defendants did
not have any executable assets for legal enforcement procedure to settle the
claims according to such court decisions.

Further announcement(s) will be made to update on the progress of the
matter as and when appropriate.
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Suspected Breach of Fiduciary Duties by Former Directors

As announced by the Company on 2 December 2021, the Company
became aware that Mr. Xu Lidi (“Mr. Xu”), the former chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) and an executive Director, and Mr. Wang Donggqi
("Mr. Wang"), a former non-executive Director (the "NED"), were suspected
of in breach of their fiduciary duties owed towards the Company by abusing
the use of the corporate chops of Bamian Investments Pte Ltd (“Bamian”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company holding 81.4% of the equity
interests of Guangzhou Mayer, to unlawfully dismiss the office of Mr. Lee
Kwok Leung (“Mr. Alan Lee"”), presently the Chairman and an executive
Director, Mr. Lin Jinhe (“Mr. Lin”) and Ms. Wan Liman (“Ms. Wan") as
directors of Guangzhou Mayers. In light of the above, the Board resolved to,
among other matters, take legal actions against Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang for
their suspected breaches of fiduciary duties as and when necessary.

On 17 January 2022, a hearing of the HK High Court in respect of the
interlocutory injunction application (the “Action”) filed by the Company,
as plaintiff, on 6 January 2022 against Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang (together
with Mr. Xu, the “Defendants”), as defendants, took place. The Company
claimed that the Defendants had acted in ways that were in breach of the
undertaking letters signed by them on 4 August 2017 in favour of the
Company, which stipulated that each of the Defendants shall, among other
things, act in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole. As advised by the Hong Kong legal advisers of the Company (the
“Legal Advisers”) and as stated in the statement of claim of the Action,
the Company claimed against the Defendants, amongst others, an order
that the Defendants do deliver up the company seal, financial seal, contract
seal, invoice seal, financial department seal, board of directors’ seal and
legal representative seal of each of Guangzhou Mayer and certain indirect
subsidiaries of the Company in Guangzhou and Shenzhen, the PRC.

On 20 January 2022, the Company received a sealed copy of the order
from the HK High Court that the application for the interim injunctive relief
under the Action be dismissed. As advised by the Legal Advisers, despite the
Company'’s efforts in seeking to persuade the HK High Court that Hong Kong
is the proper forum for the dispute to be determined based on the separate
undertaking letters signed by each of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang respectively, the
HK High Court decided not to exercise its discretion to allow the application
for service out of jurisdiction the writ of summons and the relevant
documents of the HK High Court on Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang as defendants.
The reasons given by the HK High Court were that as the reliefs sought
concerned the seals of subsidiary companies incorporated in the PRC and
involved questions of the PRC law, the more suitable forum for adjudicating
the disputes among the Company, Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang should be the
courts in the PRC.
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The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the above and,

Miﬂﬁnj‘nﬂﬂ&

among other things, considering the initiation of legal proceedings in the PRC
and/or Singapore against Mr. Xu and/or Mr. Wang to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Company will keep the Shareholders and the potential investors informed
of any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 2 December 2021 as
well as 10, 11 and 20 January and 6 April 2022, respectively for details.

Setting up of Independent Investigation Committee

In December 2021, the Board set up an independent investigation committee
(the "IIC") comprising Mr. Chan Chun Kit (“Mr. Stephen Chan”), Mr. Lau
Kwok Hung (“Mr. Eric Lau”) and Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong"), all being
the INEDs, with Mr. Stephen Chan as chairman, to investigate the suspected
breach of fiduciary duties by Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang and the allegations made
by Mr. Xu as mentioned under the “Former Executive Director’s Allegations”
In mid-December 2021,
corporate recovery company (the

sub-section below. an independent forensic and
“Independent Investigator”) was
appointed by the IIC to perform an investigation on the relevant matters and
report its findings to the IIC based on its investigation results. In mid-January
2022, the IIC also referred the allegations made by Mr. Wang as mentioned
sub-section below

under the “Former Non-Executive Director’s Allegations”

to the Independent Investigator for investigation.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong as an INED and the appointment of
Mr. Lu Jianping as an INED, on 28 February 2022, Mr. Lu Jianping became a
member of the IIC in substitution of Mr. Wong.

The Independent Investigator issued its report in early April 2022
(the
recommendations to the Board. The Board concurred with the Il Report and

“Il Report”) and the IIC reviewed the Il Report and provided its

the 1IC’'s recommendations for prompt implementation. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator is of the view that Mr. Xu
and Mr. Wang were in breach of their fiduciary duties owed to the Company.
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Directorship and Management Committee in Guangzhou Mayer
As mentioned on p.29 of this Annual Report, the Company became aware
that Mr. Alan Lee, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan had been unlawfully dismissed
as directors of Guangzhou Mayer and in light of the above, the Board
resolved to, among other things, invalidate the resolutions of Guangzhou
Mayer in respect of the dismissal of Mr. Alan Lee, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan as
directors of Guangzhou Mayer, as well as the appointment of Mr. Hao Qiang
("Mr. Hao"”), Mr. He Peng (“Mr. He") and Mr. Liu Haiyang (“Mr. Liu”) as
directors of Guangzhou Mayer.

Upon the investigation by the Company in mid-December 2021, it was found
out that, without the knowledge of the Board, Mr. Alan Lee, Mr. Lin and
Ms. Wan had been dismissed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer and Mr. Hao,
Mr. He and Mr. Liu were appointed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer at an
extraordinary general meeting of Guangzhou Mayer held on 24 November
2021 (the "GM Shareholders’ Meeting”).

As advised by the legal advisers of the Company in the PRC, in order to
give effect to the invalidation of the relevant resolutions passed at the GM
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company should, via Bamian as Guangzhou
Mayer’s major shareholder, convene an extraordinary general meeting of
Guangzhou Mayer (the “Guangzhou Mayer EGM") and pass resolutions to
remove and appoint directors of Guangzhou Mayer as it shall propose. On 29
January 2022, the Guangzhou Mayer EGM was held whereby it was legally
and validly resolved by Bamian that the new directors of Guangzhou Mayer
shall comprise Mr. Alan Lee, Mr. Lin, Ms. Wan, Mr. Xiao Libo (an executive
Director) and Mr. Huang Fugen. As a result, Mr. Hao, Mr. He and Mr. Liu
shall no longer be directors of Guangzhou Mayer with effect from 29 January
2022.

Subsequent to the Board meeting held on 26 November 2021, it was resolved
by the Board on 29 March 2022 that a general management and control
committee (the “Committee”) shall be established by Guangzhou Mayer
in substitution of the risk management committee, the asset management
committee, the senior management nomination and remuneration committee,
and the internal audit committee. The Committee shall report to the board
of directors of Guangzhou Mayer and provide advice on the management,
including risk management and asset management), senior management
nomination and remuneration, and internal audit aspects of Guangzhou
Mayer. The Committee was established in late April 2022 after the approval
by the board of directors of Guangzhou Mayer.
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Former Executive Director’s Allegations
Mr. Xu when resigning from the Company as the Chairman and an executive

Miﬂﬁnj‘nﬂﬂ&

Director on 3 December 2021 made certain allegations against the Company
and certain Directors, which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 April 2022. He alleged that, amongst others, after a substantial
shareholder of the Company (the “Substantial Shareholder”) had acquired
460,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 24.04% of the issued share
capital of the Company, on 26 October 2021, those Directors nominated by
the substantial Shareholder used various measures to attempt to take control
of the Board and ignored the facts and frequently convened Board meetings
in relation to a resolution which was voted down at the Board meetings more
than once to achieve their own goals.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator opines that the
appointment of the Directors nominated by the substantial Shareholder was
valid and that it is reasonable to conclude that all the relevant resolutions of
the Board meetings concerned were passed in good faith and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole as the purpose of them was
to strengthen the corporate governance of Guangzhou Mayer.

The Company is currently seeking legal advice on such allegations and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed
of any further material developments in connection therewith by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Former Non-Executive Director’s Allegations

Mr. Wang, when resigning from the Company as a NED on 11 January 2022,
made certain allegations against the Company and certain Directors, which
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 4 February 2022. He
alleged that, amongst others, the Board which was under the manipulation
of certain individuals passed a resolution through repeatedly convening Board
meetings and considering resolutions which were of the same content and
frequently proposed at various Board meetings.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator opines that it is
reasonable to conclude that Mr. Wang's allegations were not substantiated.

The details of the legal proceedings initiated by the Company against
Mr. Wang have been disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated
10 and 20 January 2022, respectively.

The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the allegations
made by Mr. Wang and initiating legal proceedings against him and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of
any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 12 January, 4 February
and 6 April 2022, respectively for details.
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Impact of Resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang to the
Company

Prior to Mr. Xu's resignation as the Chairman and an executive Director,
Mr. Xu was responsible for providing leadership for the Board and the
strategic direction of the Company. Mr. Wang, prior to his resignation as
a NED, was collectively responsible for the Company’s management and
operations together with other Directors although he did not have any major
role in the daily operations of the Group.

Subsequent to the resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang, while the
remaining Directors on the Board (with Mr. Alan Lee being re-appointed as
the Chairman on 22 February 2022) have collectively been responsible for
overseeing the Group's strategic planning and development, and determining
the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group, the main day-to-day
operations of the Group has been handled by the senior management of
the Group, who then have in general over four years of working experience
in the Group, and are responsible for managing the financial matters and
the operation of other business departments, including production, quality
control, sales and technical departments. There has been no material change
in the senior management of the Group and the operations of the Group
remains stable. Based on the above, the Board is of the view that the
resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang did not have any material impact to the
Company'’s operations and financial position.

Updates on Market Misconduct Tribunal’s Determination

By a notice dated 4 March 2016, the Company was notified by the SFC
that it had commenced proceedings in the Market Misconduct Tribunal
(the "MMT") against (i) the Company for failing to disclose price-sensitive
information as soon as reasonably practicable; and (ii) certain former senior
officers of the Company for their reckless or negligent conduct causing the
alleged breach by the Company of the provisions of the statutory corporate
disclosure regime. Hearings were held on 1 November 2016 (on liability) and
15 March 2017 (on sanctions) (the “MMT Proceedings”). The MMT issued
two reports on 7 February 2017 and 5 April 2017, respectively (the "MMT’s
Determination”), which (i) found that the Company and each of those
former senior officers (together, the “Specified Persons”) were in breach
of the disclosure requirements; and (ii) imposed sanctions on each of the
Specified Persons. Details of MMT's Proceedings are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 14 March 2016, as well as 8 February and 6 April
2017.

Following an appeal against the MMT's Determination by the relevant
party(ies), the Court of Appeal on 5 June 2020 handed down its judgment
which set aside the determination of liability against the Specified Persons,
including the Company. However, the Court ordered the case to be remitted
to the MMT to consider the limited issue of whether the subject information
would be likely to materially affect the share price taking into account the
post-suspension events.
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The remitted hearing before the MMT had originally been scheduled to be
heard in August 2021 but was adjourned to the dates to be fixed by the
MMT. Following the adjourned remitted hearing before the MMT commenced
on 25 January 2022, the MMT issued a report dated 28 July 2023 making the
following determinations:

1. the specific information particularised in the notice served by the SFC

to the Company on 7 March 2016 and mentioned below is inside

information (the “Inside Information”):

a. the resignation of the then Auditors on 27 December 2012,

b. the Auditors’ indication that they would issue a potential qualified

audit report if the audit issues which the Auditors had identified

in respect of, among others, the following transactions of the

Company were not resolved. The transactions and the inside

information in respect of them that should have been disclosed

were:

the disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
"First Subsidiary”) for HK$15.5 million, which was alleged
by the Company to have been a sale of all the issued share
capital of the First Subsidiary to a party and which the Auditors
regarded as questionable; and

the supply agreements that two subsidiaries of the Company’s
jointly controlled entity (the “Subsidiaries”) entered into with
two suppliers and the respective prepayments made by them
of US$10 million and US$4 million, without security, to the
suppliers, which appeared to the Auditors to be irrecoverable;
and

c. the Auditor’s concern that the prepayment of US$10 million by one

of the Subsidiaries to the supplier might be irrecoverable and/or

lacked commercial substance;

2. the Company was subject to a disclosure requirement under section
307B of the SFO in respect of the Inside Information and breached that
disclosure requirement; and

3. the following former directors and senior executive of the Company,

namely Chan Lai Yin, Tommy, Hsiao Ming-chih, Lai Yueh-hsing, Huang

Jui-hsiang, Chiang Jen-chin, Xue Wenge, Li Degiang, Lin Sheng-bin and

Alvin Chiu also breached the disclosure requirement in respect of the
Inside Information under section 307G(2) of the SFO.
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In addition, the MMT has directed that the hearing on the consequential
orders to be imposed be fixed on 13 November 2023 (Monday) at 10:00 a.m.
(with 1 day reserved).

The Company will keep the Shareholders and its potential investors informed
of any further material development in connection with the above by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE COMPANY

In about late April 2023, the Board received complaints from complainant(s)
who did not agree to disclose his/her/their identity(ies), whereby such
complainant(s) made the following allegations (the “Allegations”):

(i) the Company was controlled by an individual (the "Alleged
Controller”) through several figureheads and Mr. Alan Lee, an executive
Director and the Chairman, and the Alleged Controller manipulated the
trading of the Shares;

(ii) the Alleged Controller misappropriated funds in the aggregate amount
of HK$205,000,000 from the Company;

the Alleged Controller defaulted on the repayment of a borrowing
from a company (which was subsequently acquired by and became a
subsidiary of the Company after the borrowing took place), which then,
due to lack of funding, caused delay in the progress of the Yuetang
Village Redevelopment Project in the PRC, held by such company; and
(iv) there was a purposeful delay of a Board meeting by certain Directors and
the Company Secretary.

Response from the Board

Based on a preliminary assessment of the Allegations, the currently available
records of the Company and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge after
making all reasonable enquiries, the majority of the Board (including the
INEDs) but excluding Mr. Anthony Zhou and Mr. Chen Zhirui (“Mr. Chen"),
both executive Directors, is of the view that the Allegations are unfounded
and made without basis.

Taking into account the dissenting views of Mr. Anthony Zhou and Mr. Chen,
it was resolved by the full Board (including Mr. Anthony Zhou and Mr. Chen)
at a Board meeting held on 23 May 2023 that:

(i) an independent investigation committee (the “Il Committee”),
comprising all the INEDs, namely Mr. Eric Lau, Mr. Stephen Chan and
Mr. Lu lJianping, be established to conduct an internal investigation
on, among other things, (a) the Allegations; and (b) the veracity of
the matters alleged by or concerns raised by Mr. Anthony Zhou and
Mr. Chen leading to their dissenting views; and

(i) an independent investigator be subsequently appointed to perform an
investigation on the matters referred to the above.
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The majority of the Board (including the INEDs but excluding Mr. Anthony
Zhou and Mr. Chen) also considers that there was no material adverse impact
on the operations of the Group brought along by the Allegations raised.

Recent Development

Mr. Stephen Chan has been elected as the chairman of the Il Committee,
and Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited (the “Investigator”), an
independent investigator, has been appointed by the Il Committee to perform

an investigation on, among others, the Allegations.

The Company will keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the
Company informed of the results of the investigation by the Investigator and
any further material developments in connection therewith by way of further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate

EMPLOYMENT, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had a total of 360* employees (30 June
2022: 345**), the vast majority of whom were in the PRC. Total staff
costs, including Directors’ emoluments for the Year were approximately
RMB47,361,000* (the Last Reporting Period: RMB80,039,000%*), including
retirement benefits cost of approximately RMB5,908,000* (the Last Reporting
Period: RMB9,026,000**). Remuneration packages of the Group are
maintained at a competitive level to attract, retain and motive employees and
are reviewed on a periodic basis. The Group always maintains good relation
with its employees and is committed to employee training and development
on a regular basis to maintain the quality of its products and services.

* excluding Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and its subsidiaries ("Happy
Group”)
** including Happy Group

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019. The
Board considers that the Share Option Scheme will incentivise more persons/
entities to contribute positively to the Group, and facilitate the retention
and the recruitment of high-calibre staff of the Group. Share Options were
granted to the Grantee during the Last Reporting Period. Please refer to the
“Environmental Technology Related Business” paragraph under the “Business

Review"” sub-section above.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Year and did not have any significant
investments held as at 30 June 2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant capital commitments outstanding at 30 June
2023 and 30 June 2022.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’'s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks
and uncertainties affecting the Group are set out as below:

Global Economic and Macro-Economic Conditions

The impact of economic conditions on market price and customers’
confidence would affect the revenues and results of the Group. The economic
growth or decline in the Group’s geographical markets that affect customers’
demand would also affect the Group’s business. The Group continues to
implement its strategies to develop and explore in different markets, thereby
reducing its dependency on specific markets.

Investment Risk

To balance risk and return across investment types is a key consideration
of investment framework. Risk assessment is one of important aspects of
the investment decision process. Management would regularly review and
monitor the progress of the investments of the Group and submit to the
Board for further strategic adjustments.

Customers’ Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group, which will cause a
financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties,
arises from the carrying amounts of the recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place to
determine credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
Group only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. Credit sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of debts at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Liquidity Risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to
support the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures
compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Financial Risk

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and
other payables and bank borrowings. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, regulations and codes. The Group engages
professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the latest developments
in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial, environmental and
operational developments. The Group also implements a strict control in
prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of confidential or inside
information.

rules,

OUTLOOK

Based on the Group's expectations for China’s favorable policies after
the Pandemic in 2023, the Group will take measures to actively expand
the market and enhance its brand awareness. In terms of product sales,
Guangzhou Mayer will focus on maintaining and developing relationships
with new and old customers in China and abroad based on a stable steel
market. At the same time, Guangzhou Mayer will make use of the local
government’s guidance skills in the stainless steel market to expand the
market share of stainless steel products, thereby increasing the Group's profit
margins in the long term.

In order to achieve the above goals, the Group will take active and
comprehensive measures. First of all, the Group will integrate resources in
an all-round way, adopt a multi-channel and multi-field approach to explore
sales potential and expand the market, so as to increase sales volume while
ensuring profit growth. Secondly, the Group will actively promote stainless
steel products and develop domestic stainless steel pipe customers to further
increase the profits of stainless steel products. In addition, the Group
will further strengthen its corporate management, continue to control its
operation cost, increase efficiency and improve the quality of its products
and services on the one hand and modernise the production equipment,
conduct product research and development and make market analysis to
increase its competitiveness. Finally, the Group will continue to invest in
appropriate projects in emerging technology fields such as carbon neutrality,
environmental protection and energy conservation to expand the Group's
profit growth rate.
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PRELIMINARY RESPONSES TO QUALIFIED OPINION
The Board and the Audit Committee had noted that the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year were subject to the qualified opinion
of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the Independent Auditor (the “Qualified
Opinion”), on the basis as set out in the section headed “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 80 to 85 of this
Report. The Board and the Audit Committee did not express different views
from that of the Independent Auditor on the basis of the qualifications as the
unresolved qualifications for the Year, which might have consequential effect
on the Group's financial performance for the Year and the related disclosure
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Further, the views of the Group towards the issues are as follows:

The recent progress of the urban land redevelopment projects in Zhuhai, the
PRC has been put on hold despite the recovery of the COVID-19 and as the
Yuetang Village Project is still at its preliminary stage, the Board believes that
the Target Company will not be able to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit
Level in the foreseeable future so that the Company does not expect to enter
into any further supplemental agreement to, among others, extend the period
for the Target Company to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit Level.

As set out in the Company’'s announcement dated 6 October 2023, the
Group has filed a lawsuit against the Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen in Hong Kong
for breach of their respective Directors’ duties concerning their management
in the redevelopment project located in the PRC. Accordingly, the Company
is claiming against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen for (i) damages and/or equitable
compensation, to be assessed; (ii) a declaration that Mr. Zhou and/or
Mr. Chen were/was in breach of their/his duties owed to the Company,
fiduciary and/or otherwise; (iii) all necessary accounts and inquiries to enable
the Company to fulfil its duties under the Listing Rules; (iv) interest; (v) costs;
and (vi) further and/or other reliefs as the court deems fit.

Moreover, during a regular check on the Company’s subsidiaries, it came to
the Board'’s attention that Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited had
completed the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, being the assignment of the right
to inject RMB14.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.8 million based
on an exchange rate of RMB1 to HK$1.0750) into the registered capital of
Zhuhai HuaFeng at nil consideration to the purchaser on 23 October 2023
without authorization and/or approval from the Board. Upon completion of
the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, the registered capital of the Zhuhai HuaFeng
did not change but the right to inject 49% of the registered share capital
of the Zhuhai HuaFeng was transferred to the purchaser. Details of the
unauthorized disposal are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 15
January 2024.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

HRERRZVTORE
EFEGREZZEGIRIBEABREFE0ES
SSHBURHMBEAN REERMNER —&1FF
HEWR  BUZBETEZEGSHMEBAARA
BEMARARZEEZHREVBREAERR
BER (REBER) - BEFEKEREEQLE
MARBRRZEREBIYZMMEERRNE R
ARBEZFEZRBAREBERENEER
BEZFEMBRERGAEMBRR ZEBRIK
BEMARERTE -

s AEMEZEHENBRNOT

BECNBIBES  BREKEHT SRR
FHEEHE > RN AENEBNERTS
B> BEEGHREERARDREEN T RARIERR
BERERKT » MARBEATEE—PETUE
AR mRE > U (EPaE) EEERABEMR
= ERER KT ZHAR -

WNMARBBRA _E_=F+F/BZREM
> AEMENEBARSNR > EEFLERRE
TERKEEZENEBUNTEZEREEZESR
BE - @t > "RBAELERBREERRNET
A IEERER S HATEE  (VEEER/ R
MELERRES HEARABMazZER/HE
MEFEZER; (IVERABEUBTHER EHR
ATz BERZFASZERERES ; (VIR ; (V3R
& RVI)ERDBBEEZE— TR REMEE) o

tEoh > REERABWB AT ETTEREZE » £
BEERYE (FB METEREESRASER
REEKEEE  ARAR S _=F+78"+=
BERCESGEER FAMEZBEBRTUZK
BREFSZEAKSEEAMELTIEARE
14,700,0007¢ (32 A R #1175 R1.07508 T 2 B =X
8 HERA15,800,00058 7T) ZHF o R
HERSEL R REEEAMERLEEE >
BIEARBESHMEL9% 2 EFEEETE
B o BMRKEELEZFEANREAASIHHREAZ
EINFE—A+AHZAS

39



40

Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

HREERZOE "BK

In light of the above circumstances, the Company and the Audit Committee
of the Company have come into conclusion that it is not commercially
reasonable for the Company to continue to invest its time and resources in
the Target Company, and the Group is expected to record a one-off loss
due to the provision for impairment loss in respect of its investment in the
Target Company and having considered (i) the poor financial performance
of the Target Company and its subsidiaries (the “Target Group”); (ii) the
limited asset value of the Target Group as compared to the Group as a
whole; and (iii) the legal costs and management efforts in legal proceedings
and the resumption of re-development of Yuetang Village of the Target
Group, the Board is of the view that it is of benefit to dispose of the Target
Company. Details regarding the disposal of Target Group were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2025,

Upon completion of the disposal of the Target Group, the Group can utilize
its resources to re-focus on its existing steel business, which remains solid and
brings a stable stream of revenue to the Group, as well as the development
of the applications of nano phase change energy storage material(s) with
nano-scale technologies, which is a new business line of the Group as
disclosed in its announcement dated 30 September 2024.

Regarding the consolidation of Hei Jing, the Group remains committed to
pursuing the legal action against relevant former directors of Guangzhou
Mayer for breaches of their director’'s duties, specifically for unauthorized
execution of the disposal of the ownership of its 51% equity interest in Hei
Jing and may consider taking appropriate further actions with professional
advice in due course.

Further Information

The II Committee had resolved that the unauthorized assignment of the
right to inject RMB14.7 million into the registered capital of Zhuhai HuaFeng
that resulted in a decrease of the Company’s shareholding in Zhuhai
HuaFeng from 100% to 51% would be included the expanded scope of the
independent investigation.

Recognizing the gravity and implications of the unauthorized assignment,
and taking into consideration that the scope of the independent investigation
has been broadened, the I Committee further acknowledges that the timely
completion of the independent investigation is critical to the Company’s
ability to meet the requirements set forth under the resumption guidance
issued by the Stock Exchange. In light of this, the I Committee has decided
to appoint Grant Thornton Advisory Services Limited, an independent
investigator, to take over from Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited
and to conduct the independent investigation on the Allegations and the
disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng (collectively, the "“Investigation”).
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This expanded Investigation will comprehensively address matters pertaining
to the Allegations and the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, which include, but are
not limited to: (i) assessing the impacts of the Allegations and the disposal of
Zhuhai HuaFeng on the Company’s business operations and financial position;
(i) analyzing and verifying the underlying facts and circumstances; (iii) publicly
announcing the findings of the Investigation in a transparent manner; and (iv)
implementing appropriate remedial actions to safeguard the interests of the
Company.

The Il Committee emphasizes the importance of this enhanced scope in
ensuring a thorough and independent review of all relevant matters.

Removal of Qualified Opinion

Regarding items 1 to 4 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor has indicated
that, following the disposal of the entire equity interest in Target Group on
5 March 2025, the financial results of Happy Group (including the Zhuhai
HuaFeng Group) will be deconsolidated. As such, there will be no impact
on the Group's financial position as of 30 June 2025. Consequently, these
Qualified Opinions will be removed for the financial year ending 30 June
2025.

In respect of items 1 and 3 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor will issue a
qualification on the share of results for the period up to the date of disposal
of the entire equity interest in the Target Group, as well as the impairment
of interest in an associate, prepayments, trade receivables, and the relevant
comparative figures for the financial year ending 30 June 2025. This qualified
opinion is expected to be removed no later than the financial year ending 30
June 2027.

In respect of item 2 of the Qualified Opinion, following the disposal of the
entire equity interest in the Target Group in March 2025, the associated put
option has lapsed and will no longer have any impact on the Group's financial
position. Accordingly, the Qualified Opinion will be removed for the financial
year ending 30 June 2025.
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As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2025,
based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Target
Company, the Target Company has recorded an accumulated net profit
of approximately HK$14.4 million for the three financial years ended 31
December 2021, which is below the Target Profit Level. The Company is of
the view that the payment liability under the Promissory Note have ceased
pursuant to the Sales and Purchase Agreement and the Consideration Shares
will be released to the Company in accordance with the Escrow Agreement,
and the Company, the Purchaser or their respective nominees may sell or
dispose of the Consideration Shares (in a way which is unilaterally considered
appropriate) without notifying the Vendor or obtaining authorization from
the Vendor and are entitled to receive the relevant proceeds. The Group has
notified the Vendor and the Guarantor in writing regarding the failure to
achieve the Target Profit Level, as well as the cessation of obligations under
the Promissory Note. Currently, the Company is pursuing appropriate legal
actions to recover all 410,000,000 Consideration Shares held in escrow and
to claim damages against the Vendor and Guarantor for breaches of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and/or guarantee obligations.

During the audit for the financial year ending 30 June 2025, the Auditor
will engage with management and legal counsel to provide updates on
the progress of the ongoing legal proceedings. On the assumption there is
no legal action taken by the Vendor and the Guarantee to dispute (i) the
cessation of obligations under the Promissory Note on the part of the Group;
and/or (ii) the return of the Consideration Shares, the Qualified Opinion will
be removed for the year ending 30 June 2025. However, the Auditor will
qualify the gain on compensation recognized in the profit or loss, as well as
the relevant comparative figures of financial assets, the changes in fair value
of financial assets, and the consideration receivable for the year ending 30
June 2025. This Qualified Opinion is expected to be removed no later than
the financial year ending 30 June 2027.

In respect of item 4 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor will qualify the
financial performance of Zhuhai Huafeng Group up to the date of disposal,
along with the comparative figures for the financial year ending 30 June
2025. This qualified opinion is expected to be removed no later than the
financial year ending 30 June 2027.
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In respect of item 5 of the Qualified Opinion, the Guangdong Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court has recently issued a judgment dismissing the
Group’s claim to rescind the agreement and regain control over Hei Jing.
The Group remains committed to pursuing legal action against relevant
former directors of Guangzhou Mayer for breaches of their director’s
duties, specifically for unauthorized execution of the agreement and
disposal of the ownership of its 51% equity interest in Hei Jing. The Group
is currently evaluating whether any further action can be pursued. Should
it be determined that no additional action is feasible, Hei Jing will be
deconsolidated, which will have no impact on the Group’s financial position
as of 30 June 2025. Consequently, the Qualified Opinion will be removed
for the financial year ending 30 June 2025. However, the Auditor will qualify
the loss on deconsolidation of Hei Jing and the relevant comparative figures
in the year ending 30 June 2025. Such qualified opinion is expected to be
removed no later than the year ending 30 June 2027.

In light of the above, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that
the abovementioned plans are feasible and sufficient to address the Qualified
Opinion.
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The Board and the management are committed to maintaining and ensuring
high standards of corporate governance as good corporate governance can
safeguard the interests of all Shareholders and enhance corporate value. The
Board continuously reviews and further improves the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Group from time to time to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
manner.

The Company has applied the principles, and complied with all the code
provisions, in Part 2 of the CG Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's strategic planning and
development, as well as determining the objectives, strategies and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, including Mr. Lee Kwok Leung
(Chairman), Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, Mr. Chen Zhirui, Mr. Xiao Libo (CEO) and Dr.
Cheung Ka Yue as Executive Directors, Mr. Lam Chung Chak as a NED and
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Chan Chun Kit and Mr. Lu Jianping as INEDs. At
least one of the three INEDs possesses appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise, which complies with the
requirement under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Details of their respective
experiences, background and qualifications are included in the “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 62 to 65
of this Annual Report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 28 March 2019, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board. The Company recognizes that increasing diversity at the Board
level will support the attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board has delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will discuss and adopt
the above measurements when it reviews the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the
Company’s business, the Nomination Committee considered that the existing
Board is suitably qualified with professional backgrounds and/or equipped
with extensive expertise for the purposes of providing direction to and
oversight of the strategy and business of the Group in achieving its objectives.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy at least
annually or in necessary condition, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.

The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable objective of
the Company in assessing the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors and all are male. The Company
values gender diversity, and the Board targets to appoint at least one female
Director no later than 31 December 2024. The Company aims to maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and sustainable development.

In addition, as at 30 June 2023, the percentage of female members in all
employees (including senior management) of the Group, being a measurable
objective for gender diversity, was approximately 34%*. The Group will
continue to take gender diversity into consideration during recruitment,
as well as identify and select potential female talents with different skills,
experience and knowledge to join the Group.

* excluding Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

Independence and Relationship

The INEDs ensure that the Board accounts for the interests of all Shareholders
and all issues are considered in an objective manner. The Company has
received an annual written confirmation from each of the INEDs as regards
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these
confirmations, the Board considers that all of them to be independent.

Except that Mr. Lam Chung Chak, the NED, is a son of Ms. Wong Shek
Kwan, a substantial shareholder of the Company, to the best knowledge
of the Company, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board. All of them are free
to exercise their individual judgment.
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Independent Views

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal to good
corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has established
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input from any Director
are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective decision
making. The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence, qualification
and time commitment of a candidate who is nominated to be a new
INED before appointment and also the continued independence of
existing INEDs and their time commitments annually. On an annual
basis, all INEDs are required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
and to disclose the number and nature of offices held by them in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments.

2.  The Nomination Committee will conduct the performance evaluation of
the INEDs annually to assess their contributions.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and when
required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for the Board meetings.

5. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent views
and constructive challenges during the Board meetings.

6. A Director (including an INED) who has a material interest in a matter
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same. Further, the matter would be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution of the Directors.
INEDs who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the
matter would be present at that Board meeting to express their views
and input on the matter.

7. The Chairman (who is presently an Executive Director) meets with INEDs
annually without the presence of other Executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, an Executive Director, was the
Chairman while Mr. Xiao Libo, an Executive Director, was the CEO. The roles
and functions of the Chairman and the CEO were performed by two separate
individuals. The separation ensures a balance of power and authority so that
power is not concentrated in any one individual.

There is no relationship between the Chairman and the CEO.
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The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running of
the Board and ensures that all material issues are decided by the Board
in a conductive manner and the strategies of the Group are effectively
implemented. The CEO not only shares the responsibility of running the
business of the Group and effectively implements the Group's strategies,
but also leads and monitors the daily operation of the Group’s business with
other Executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (“CPD")

All newly appointed Directors will receive an induction training in respect of
directors’ responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other applicable rules
and regulations delivered by the Company's legal advisers of Hong Kong Laws
or the Company Secretary (as the case may be).

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the Directors
should participate in appropriate CPD to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses
to ensure that they are fully aware of the responsibilities and obligations of
directors under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors have been participating in CPD by reading articles, training
materials and updates as regards legal and regulatory changes and matters
of relevance to the Directors and/or attending relevant courses, etc. in the
discharge of their duties. The Company has also continuously updated
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

The record of individual training received by each of the current Directors for
the Year is set out below:
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Reading materials and/or attending
training courses/seminars/webinars/
conferences on topics relating to
directors’ duties, corporate governance
and the Listing Rules, etc
REME R HHETEARESEHE -
TEEARLTRAEZ
BIIRE NG RN g

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEREE
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BiERAE
Mr. Chen Zhirui BREELE
Mr. Xiao Libo Bl s
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue REMEL
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MERERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung B E
Mr. Chan Chun Kit PRI T4
Mr. Lu Jianping BEET LY

ETERERAT 2023 F R

N NSNS S

A NRNIN

47



48

Corporate Governance Report

TEERKSE

BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
During the Year, the Directors passed certain resolutions in writing and the
Board held six meetings (including four regular meetings) to discuss, among
other matters, the Group’s affairs, investment projects and the operational
and financial performance of the Group. Notice of the Board meetings was
given to all the Directors fourteen days before each regular Board meeting.
All Directors have an opportunity through an official channel to raise matters
for discussion in the agenda. An agenda and accompanying Board papers are
sent to all the Directors at least three days before regular Board meetings.
The Company held its AGM on 14 December 2022. The attendance record of
the Directors to these Board meetings is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance Records at Meetings”.

During the Year, the Chairman held one meeting with the INEDs without the
presence of other Executive Directors.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
each Board meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. The Company Secretary also keeps the minutes of each meeting
signed by the chairman thereof, which are available to all the Directors for
inspection.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to seek advice and service of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board
papers and related materials and ensuring that appropriate and applicable
procedures are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial Shareholder or
Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolutions. INEDs with no conflict of interest
would be present at a meeting to deal with conflict issues. Board committees
of the Company, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all follow the applicable practices
and procedures used in Board meetings for committee meetings.

DIRECTORS’ TERM OF APPOINTMENTS AND
RE-ELECTION

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Director for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
and shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall retire
from office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Lee
Kwok Leung, Mr. Lam Chung Chak and Mr. Chan Chun Kit will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming 2023 AGM and are eligible for re-election.
However, Chan Chun Kit will offer

only Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and Mr.

themselves for re-election thereat.
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Each of the NED and the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a initial term of one year commencing on the respective
dates of their appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year
until and unless terminated by either party by giving the other party one
month’s prior written notice according to the terms of the corresponding
appointment letter.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors. Having been made specific enquiries by
the Company, all the existing Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment
of the Group’'s performance and prospects. It is also responsible for
preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s
financial position on a going concern basis with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary and other inside information announcements
and financial disclosures. Management provides the Board with the relevant
information it needs to discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the Auditor to the Shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 80 to 88 of this Annual Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available for
perusal on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board;

(i) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(iii)  making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating

to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession

planning for Directors; and

(iv)  reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives that

the Board has set for implementing such policy.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

TRERRS

BT EERBUFPTESEEERATEIIL
NPHBEEEEZEZEARESRP—F2&E
L HBRREFEE  EERMGIFRRBRIEREZESE
HFERERN—FRAS—HEH—ERZELE@E
T L IER LE -

ERETZAESRS
FAEBRMBETRAESETESRZZ
TATA - EEAAFHBTER R > 2BEEE
EBER > RENREER—EETRETAME
ZIRE D o

ERERGBMMMBRRREZEE

EXRGEENAER KRB RARERBM - T8
ZiHh o TEERREMBEE  RUERFAIHRR
RUBHRFECEEEAE AP RRAESE
B MR URERAEMAEEE 2SI
REEK EEEINEETRHUEERITEEMN
BZHEMER -

ZHEH KRR AE 2 S ERN A FRFES0ESE
ZEIUZHBENRER ©

RBRZEY

REEZEENN _STRENBZ+HMT > I
BROETIUESEIEHREBEE > ABRREAE
R B X P AR Ut A] (B EE o

BWE
RREZEEZIBHEOE:

(i) WMHBFGZRE - A¥ - ERRZTE (2
FBERRIMR - F86 - XEREEER
Tk~ BEER - &8 MARRBER) 5

iy VMEERAEERIUEREFTEMEZA
T UMERREEEFIAENEETR
HEEER ;

MEFEENEMEEURESTEETIZ
EREEREFTRUEBER ; &

(iii)

BMNEFGL TR RESTERBE RN
R EZFGERR o

49



50

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBS

Nomination Policy and Procedures
The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection

and appointment of the Directors to the Nomination Committee. Without

prejudice to the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee as set

out in its terms of reference, the ultimate responsibility for selection and

appointment of the Directors rests with the entire Board.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the selection,

appointment and re-appointment of a Director, including an INED in

accordance with the following procedures and process:

A. The Nomination Committee:

will, giving due consideration to the current composition and size

of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and

experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

ii.  may consult any source it considers appropriate in identifying

or selecting suitable candidates such as referrals from existing

Directors, advertisement, recommendations from third party agency

firms and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration

given to the criteria (the “Criteria”) which include but are not

limited to:

(a)

Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest (details of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out on page 45 of this Annual Report);
Qualifications, both academic and professional, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Group’s business is involved;

Independence (for the INEDs);

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board;

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board; and

Provisions of the Listing Rules.
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iii. may adopt any process it considers appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

iv. will consider a broad range of candidates who are in and outside of
the Board's circle of contacts;

v. upon considering a candidate’s suitability for the directorship, will
hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if thought
fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

vi. will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate for
Executive Director to the Remuneration Committee for consideration
of the remuneration package of such selected candidate; and

vii. will thereafter make the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment.

Where a NED (including an INED) is considered, the Remuneration
Committee will make the recommendation to the Board on the policy
and structure for the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment (as the case may be);

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director (as the case may be) to be filed) with the
relevant regulatory authorities, if required;

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend the retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration
to the Criteria, including but not limited to:

the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the
Company, including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings
of the Board and/or its committees and the general meetings of the
Company where applicable, in addition to the level of participation
and performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

ii. the continuity of the retiring Director(s) to satisfy the Criteria; and

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at the following general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.
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By incorporating diversity in the Criteria as abovementioned, it facilitates the
Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve gender
diversity.

Composition

As at 27 September 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs,
namely Mr. Chan Chun Kit (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Lau Kwok
Hung and Mr. Lu Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year
and when required. During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting, mainly to review the composition of the Board and the retirement
and re-election of Directors, to assess the independence of INEDs and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board during the Year.

On 28 September 2023, the Nomination Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are
available for perusal on the respective websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the
Board the annual remuneration policy of the Directors and members of senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach made
under code provision E.1.2(c)(i) of the CG code to determine, with delegated
responsibility the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management.

Composition

As at 27 September 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Chun Kit (as the chairman of the committee),
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung and Mr. Lu Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, mainly
to assess the performance of the Executive Directors, approve the service
contracts of the Executive Directors, review the existing policy and structure
of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the NED and the INEDs
for the Year. During the Year, since there were no Shares granted under
the Share Option Scheme, no material matters relating to the Share Option
Scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed
or approved by the Remuneration Committee.
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On 28 September 2023, the Remuneration Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available for perusal on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for monitoring the Group's
relationship with external auditors, reviewing the Group’s financial
information, overseeing the Group’'s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures, performing corporate
governance functions as well as making relevant recommendations to the
Board.

Composition

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lau Kwok
Hung (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Chan Chun Kit and Mr. Lu
Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year and
as and when required. During the Year, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, mainly to discuss audit planning in respect of the audit of the
financial statements, to review the results for the Last Reporting Period and
the interim results for the six months ended 31 December 2022 of the Group,
to review the risk management and internal control systems and to make
recommendation to the Board of the appointment of independent auditor.

On 28 September 2023, the Audit Committee met to perform certain of its
functions.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

SREFELE

The attendance of individual Directors at general meeting(s), Board meetings EABIEEHENZEELR T2 REAG - EEE T
and meetings of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee FBHUKIEREE ST  FHNEETRBEZEET T
and the Audit Committee held during the Year is set out below: EZBERHEIWT
Nomination Remuneration Audit
Board 2022 Committee Committee Committee
Meetings AGM meetings meetings meetings
ZEZC RELZEE HFNEEE B%EEE
EEZ8gE RRBFEARY B B B
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (Chairman) — ZBERR54 (F/E) 6/6 11 N/A 78 B N/A RiEH N/A 78
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BE=xEE 6/6 171 N/A 8 F N/A R F N/A R §EF
Mr. Chen Zhirui EBELRE 6/6 171 N/A R4 F N/A R F N/A R §EF
Mr. Xiao Libo (CEO) HIDREE (B 5/6 171 N/A F3E N/A & F N/A RiE A
#1TE)
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue EEAET 6/6 1/1 N/A 38 N/A 38 F N/A 38
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MREBRE 6/6 171 N/A 38 N/A 38 N/A 38
Independent Non-executive BIFERITES
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung el 6/6 171 171 171 3/3
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRiREE ST E 6/6 Il Il il 3/3
Mr. Lu Jianping BERFSLE 6/6 il 171 1”1 33
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s independent external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited (“Zhonghui”). The Audit Committee is responsible for considering
the appointment of the external auditor and also reviews any non-audit
functions performed by the external auditor for the Group. In particular, the
Audit Committee will consider, in advance of them being contracted for and
performed, whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential
material conflict of interest. The remuneration for the services in respect of
the Year provided by Zhonghui amounted to as follows:

TRERRS
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RMB
AR
Statutory audit services EEZERTS 1,066,000
Non-audit services (including review of FEZERTS (BIEER T M EER 402,000
interim financial information, risk management, RAfEEIE s AT
internal control and ESG consultancy services) ESGFEZAMRTS)
Total wast 1,468,000

DIRECTOR’'S REMUNERATION

The emoluments payable to the Directors and senior management will
depend on the contractual terms under the respective letters of appointment
or service contracts and are fixed by (a) the Board by reference to the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee (in case of NEDs and INEDs)
or (b) the Remuneration Committee (in case of Executive Directors), both
by reference to, amongst others, their duties and responsibilities within the
Company as well as their qualifications and experience. No Director can be
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors for the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 28 March 2019. Pursuant to
the policy, the Company should maintain adequate cash reserves to satisfy its
working capital requirements and future growth as well as the Share value
in recommending or declaring dividends. The Company does not have any
pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The proposal of payment and the
amount of dividends will be made at the reasonable discretion of the Board
and will depend on the Group’s results of operations, earnings, financial
condition, cash requirements and availability, future capital expenditure and
development requirements, business conditions and strategies, interests of
the Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Board will review the
dividend policy as appropriate from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the corporate governance duties as set out below to
the Audit Committee:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board,;

to review and monitor the training and the CPD of the Directors and
senior management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Company and the
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report of the annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board requires
management to establish and maintain sound and effective system of internal
controls to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets. A
review of risk management and internal control system of the Group is made
at least annually, covering the material financial, operational and compliance
controls.

Risk Management

A risk register with risk rating and risk owners have been compiled for
continuous risk assessment purpose. Risk owners are required to take
mitigating actions to address the identified risks and such actions are
integrated in the day-to-day activities and their effectiveness is closely
monitored. During the Year, the risk register had been circulated for
discussion and assessment of the ratings by key personnel and management,
after the likelihood and impact of each identified risk are considered. A
written risks assessment report with the identified key risks, evaluation of
related risks and relevant mitigating actions have been reported to the Audit
Committee and reviewed by the Board. The written report facilitates the
Board in considering the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks,
the Group’s ability in responding to changes in its business and the external
environment, as well as management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of
the internal control system.
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Internal Control

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and Shareholders’
interests. For any identified internal control weaknesses or defects, the
Group is committed to enhancing control measures to rectify such control
weaknesses or defects.

The Group has implemented a control system which includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, a sound management system
and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and
the Board.

Internal Audit Function

The Group does not have a formal internal audit function but retains an
independent professional risk management and internal control consultant
(the “RM&IC Consultant”) to conduct the risk management and internal
control review annually. The Board is of the view that in light of the scale and
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint an external professional consultant to perform the Group’s internal
audit function in order to meet its needs. It will continue to review on an
annual basis the need for an internal audit function.

Review of the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and
Internal Control System

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual review of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems (the “System Effectiveness”) for the Year by considering
written reports prepared by the RM&IC Consultant, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls. The RM&IC Consultant set
out certain deficiencies for rectification and improvement of the System
Effectiveness, which were noted and agreed by the Board. The Company
will continue to review and adopt necessary policies and procedures in order
to improve the System Effectiveness. The Audit Committee has annually
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience, training
and budget of the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as
well as ESG performance and reporting.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the Shares or their trading volume and
decides whether the relevant information is considered inside information
and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive Directors have the responsibility
for approving certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the
Company under the powers delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market
to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has been engaging an external professional company
secretarial services provider to provide regulatory compliance and a range of
company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to cope
with the changing regulatory environment.

Since 7 January 2022, SK2 Corporate Services (HK) Ltd. (“SK2")* has been
providing corporate secretarial services to the Company and Sir Kwok Siu
Man KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok”) has been nominated by SK2 to be the
Company Secretary with effect from the same date. The primary person at the
Company with whom Sir Seaman Kwok contacted in respect of the company
secretarial matters since then has been Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, the Chairman
and an Executive Director. Sir Seaman Kwok delivered and attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant CPD training during the Year pursuant to Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

*  SK2 has been selected as the “Best Corporate Services Provider” in the “Most
Valuable Brands Awards 2023" organised by MythFocus.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association as adopted by a special resolution passed at a
general meeting held on 24 May 2004 has been available for perusal on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

In order to bring the Memorandum and the Articles of Association in line
with the latest legal and regulatory requirements under the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules (including the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, which have
become effective from 1 January 2022) and make some other housekeeping
improvements, the Board, in late September 2022, had proposed making
certain amendments to its existing Memorandum and Articles of Association
and adopt the new Memorandum and Articles of Association. The above
proposals were approved by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution
at the 2022 AGM and have taken effect upon the close of the 2022 AGM.

The Memorandum and the Articles of Association (as amended) are available
for perusal at the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members of the Company holding alone or together, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one
vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right,
by written requisition (which shall specify the objects of the meeting and
the resolution(s) to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s)) and depositing at the head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong, presently located at Room 2001,
20/F, Tung Ning Building, 2 Hillier Street, Hong Kong (or, in the event that
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office),
to require EGM(s) to be convened by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and if the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting(s) to be held within a further twenty-one days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene such meeting(s) in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that those meeting(s) may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting(s) so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS
AT SHAREHOLDER'’S MEETING

Shareholders wishing to put forward proposals for discussion at general
meeting should follow the procedures set out in the “Shareholders to
Convene an EGM” just above.
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PROCEDURES FOR NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS FOR
ELECTION

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available and accessible on the Company’s website.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong, presently located at
Room 2001, 20/F, Tung Ning Building, 2 Hillier Street, Hong Kong. The
Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding communications to the
Board and/or relevant Board committees of the Company, where appropriate,
to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted and has been implementing a policy of
communication between the Company and the Shareholders (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”).

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels to account
to the Shareholders for the performance of the Company. These include
the annual reports, interim reports, circulars, financial information and
announcements published on the respective websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange (the “Corporate Communications”), as well as through
the AGMs and the EGMs with notice of meetings and form of proxy. The
Company aims to provide Shareholders and potential investors with high
standards of disclosure and financial transparency. In order to provide
effective disclosure to the Shareholders and potential investors and ensure
that they all receive equal access to the same information at the same time,
information considered to be price-sensitive in nature is released by way of
formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules. The Company
also welcomes comments and questions from Shareholders at the AGMs and
the EGMs.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including but not limited to (i) timely
disclosures of the Corporate Communications; (ii) the steps taken at the
general meetings to ensure the opportunities for the Company to have direct
interactions with the Shareholders, the handling of queries received (if any),
and the participation of Board members, in particular, the chairmen of the
Board committees or their delegates, and the external auditor in the general
meetings; and (iii) the multiple channels of communication and engagement
in place, as well as the update of information on the Company’s website in
a timely manner. With the above measures in place, the Board considers that
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been effectively implemented
during the Year.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Each employee of the Group is regarded as an informal monitor. The Group
relies on each of its employee, at all levels, to monitor quality, ethics and
professional and the Group’s standards. The Group listens to employees’
concerns, receives recommendations for improving the Group’s practices and
controls and announces timely communications on policy changes and other
matters of the Group.

The Company has reviewed its whistleblowing policy to provide its employees,
customers and suppliers with reporting channels in view of the amendments
to the code provisions of the CG Code having come into effect on 1 January
2022.

LATEST ENHANCED GOVERNANCE

At its meeting held on 29 September 2022, the Board formalised in writing
an anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy of the Company and a mechanism for
ensuring independent views and input to be available to the Board with
procedures for the Directors to seek independent legal advice.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, aged 69, was nominated and appointed as an
Executive Director and the Chairman by the Shareholders at the first EGM in
2014. On 15 January 2021, he resigned as the Chairman and remained as
an Executive Director. Mr. Lee was re-appointed the Chairman with effect
from 22 February 2022. He is currently an authorized representative of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and a director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer as well as the
legal representative and a member of the general management and control
committee (the “"GMC Committee”) of Guangzhou Mayer.

SREEAERERE

He has over twenty years of experience in asset management for professional
He has extensive experience in portfolio
risk assessment and investment

and institutional investors.
construction, portfolio management,
due-diligence. Mr. Lee was the managing director of BOCI Direct Investment
Management Limited (currently known as BOC Investment Management
Limited) from 1992 to 1999, when he was responsible for the overall
management of the private equity fund. He is the representative and a
responsible officer of Success Advance Investments Limited, a Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated entity registered with
the SFC.

He is presently an executive director of China Caston 81 Finance Company
Limited (formerly known as Opes Asia Development Limited and subsequently
China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited) (stock code: 810) and
an independent non-executive director of Ev Dynamics (Holdings) Limited
(stock code 476), both companies being listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

He was: (a) an independent non-executive director of Imperial Pacific
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1076), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 21 November 2013 to 22 August
2022; (b) an independent non-executive director of Guoan International
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 143) and Singapore Exchange (stock code: G11), from 1 June 2000
to 27 August 2021; and (c) a non-executive director of Starlight Culture
Entertainment Group Limited (formerly known as Karce International Holdings
Company Limited, and subsequently Sinogreen Energy International Group
Limited and Jimei International Entertainment Group Limited) (stock code:
1159), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, until 31
August 2013.

Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, aged 28, was appointed an Executive Director with effect
from 29 November 2019 and is a director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company, including Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited. He is
currently the sole director of Harbour Prestige, a substantial shareholder of
the Company.
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He graduated from the Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration
of the University of British Columbia, Canada with a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in 2018 and worked as a senior marketing consultant at TELUS after
graduation.

Mr. Chen Zhirui, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive Director with
effect from 29 November 2019 and is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company.

He has over 20 years of experience in the property industry. He has been
employed by various companies in the property industry in Zhuhai City of the
PRC over the years. He was appointed as the managing director of Zhuhai
Henggin Zhongle Investment Company Limited* (BREHERLIZERRER
7)) from 2016 to 2018. Since then, he has been appointed concurrently as
the managing director of Zhuhai Zhongle City Renewal Company Limited*
(BRI EHARAT) (“Zongle”), the vice chairman and executive
vice general manager of Zhuhai Hua Fa Fenghuang Property Development
Limited* (BMBEZLBEEERRZEAERAT) and the vice chairman and
executive vice general manager of Zhuhai Hau Fa Yue Tang Property
Development Limited* (BRBEZAEZFEMERRAE) (“Yue Tang”).
Presently, Zongle is a subsidiary of the Company and Yue Tang is an associate
of the Company.

He holds a Bachelor’'s degree in civil engineering from the Southeast
University in the PRC.

Mr. Xiao Libo, aged 47, was appointed an Executive Director on 9 November
2021 and the CEO on 26 November 2021. He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer.

Mr. Xiao has worked in different types of companies for more than 20
years, including Legend Holdings Corporation, Shenzhen Qunlixin Industrial
Company Ltd.* CRIITEEILEZEEABIEAT), Anno (Shenzhen) Innovation
Technology Company Limited* (2255 (Ill) BIFTHEAiTBBRAE]) and Shenzhen
Ruiyuan Power Technology Company Limited* GEIIIHERENHRHEBEAT).
He has many years of experience in sales, operation and management.

He graduated from Jiangxi University of Technology in the PRC, majoring in
business administration.

Dr. Cheung Ka Yue, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 9 November 2021, was re-designated as a
Non-executive Director on 30 November 2021 and was further re-designated
as an Executive Director with effect from 26 April 2022. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer and a
member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer.
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Dr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in strategic investment, business
administration and commercial developments. He has profound knowledge
and extensive experience in the regulatory, corporate finance, compliance and
corporate governance fields.

Dr. Cheung is active in public and community service. He is a committee
member of Sha Tin District National Education Committee in Hong Kong and
an adviser of Scout Association of Hong Kong New Territories East Region.

As a practising accountant in Hong Kong, Dr. Cheung holds a doctoral degree
in business administration, a master’s degree in education, a master’s degree
in laws, a master's degree in professional accountancy and a bachelor’s
degree in accounting.

Dr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of IAG
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8513), a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange and Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1182), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

In addition, Dr. Cheung was an independent non-executive director of Crown
International Corporation Limited (stock code: 727), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 15 December, 2022 to 31 July 2023.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lam Chung Chak, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
on 25 November 2021. He is a son of Ms. Wong Shek Kwan, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

He has about 20 years of experience in operation and investment of logistic,
real estate development and food and beverage projects in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He is currently the managing director of Citi-Base Holdings Limited.

He obtained a master’'s degree from the University of Toronto in Canada.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, aged 76, was appointed an INED on 9 October 2014
and is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

He has extensive experience in financial accounting, auditing, taxation,
company secretarial matter and corporate finance, especially in mergers,
acquisitions and corporate restructuring.

Mr. Lau is currently an independent non-executive director of Huaxi Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 1689), and was an executive director and
company secretary of Rich Goldman Holdings Limited (stock code: 70)
(formerly known as Massive Resources International Corporation and
subsequently Neptune Group Limited), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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A certified public accountant in Hong Kong, Mr. Lau is a fellow of the HKICPA
and was a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
headquartered in England and an associate member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. Mr. Lau holds a Senior Executive Master
Degree in Business Administration from Charles Darwin University in Australia
and has obtained a Diploma in Insolvency issued by the HKICPA and an
Executive Diploma in International Business Valuation issued by the School of
Professional and Continuing Education of the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chun Kit, aged 38, appointed as an INED with effect from 9
November 2021 and is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

He was (i) the compliance director of Supreme China Securities Limited,
a licensed corporation to conduct type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activity under the SFO from August 2014 to June 2016; (ii) the responsible
officer of OX Financial Securities Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct
type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under the SFO from 15
December 2016 to 15 March 2017; and (iii) the director of VisTreasure Asset
Management Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activity under the SFO
from 2017 until 2019.

He was an independent non-executive director and a non-executive director
of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8218), the issued
shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 30
January 2015 to 9 March 2015 and from 9 March 2015 to 31 March 2020,
respectively.

He graduated from the University of Exeter in England with a Bachelor's
Degree in Business Studies (majoring in Finance and Economics) in 2009
and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws from the Manchester Metropolitan
University in England.

Mr. Lu Jianping, aged 59, was appointed an INED with effect from 28 February
2022 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, as well as the chairman of the
supervisory board and a member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer.
In addition, he was appointed as the supervisor of (i) Mayer Technology on
12 April 2022; and (ii) Guangzhou Mayer Energy Storage Technology Co., Ltd
(“Mayer Energy Storage”); a subsidiary of Guangzhou Mayer on 12 April
2023.

He has over 30 years’ engineering and management experience gained
from working in a number of companies in Guangzhou and Tsingtao in the
PRC. He is currently a professional technical staff of Guangzhou Yangcheng
Property Management Co., Ltd.

He graduated from Jinggiao University in the PRC with a professional diploma
in laws.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses of the Group are respectively under the direct
responsibility of the Executive Directors named above, led by the Chairman.
They are regarded as members of the Group’s senior management.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Report of the Directors together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company’ primary subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the
processing, manufacturing and selling of steel sheets, steel pipes and other
steel products in the PRC, and (ii) urban renewal project planning and
consulting in the PRC.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year is set out in Segment
Information in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out
in the “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section of the "Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 37 and 38 of this Annual Report.

An indication of likely future development in the Group’s business are set out
in the “Outlook” section of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
page 38 of this Annual Report.

Details of the Group’s business review during the Year are set out in the
“Business Review"” section of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 8 to 19 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has endeavoured to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse in daily operations such as investing in energy-efficient
lighting and equipment, enhancing paper recycling to reduce consumption
and waste, and raising the environmental awareness of its employees. The
Group will continue to seek better environmental practices and promote the
right environmental attitudes within the organization.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the issued Shares
listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is
principally engaged in the processing, manufacturing and selling of steel
sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in the PRC, as well as urban
renewal project planning and consulting in the PRC.
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The Group has kept itself abreast of the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on the operation of its
business. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong, Singapore, the PRC and the British Virgin Islands during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the Year and up to date of this Annual Report,
please refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial statements for significant
or important event that affects the business of the Group

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS

AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has been maintaining, good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the strategies and business
objectives of the Group, as well as its business development and sustainability
in the long run.

Employees

The Group believes that its employees are critical factors to the Group's
success and competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for the Shares
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge so as to maintain their competitiveness.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are monitored by the Board
and the Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Customers

Customer satisfaction with the products and services of the Group has a
profound effect on the Group’s profitability. Its dedicated team of sales
people are in constant communication with customers and potential
customers to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. The Group will continue to grasp the market trend so as
to timely adjust its operating strategies to fit the market requirement.
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Suppliers

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with the Group’s
strategic suppliers and contractors is important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the capabilities
of its suppliers and contractors to determine whether they are able to meet
its requirement and needs from time to time. Developing and maintaining
good relationship with various commercial banks, financial institutions and
high net-worth individuals are always the main tasks of the Group because its
operations require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The largest and the five largest customers accounted for 12.26% and
27.23% (Last Reporting Period: 9.61% and 31.77% respectively) of the
Group's total turnover for the Year, respectively. The largest and the five
largest suppliers accounted for 20% and 32% (Last Reporting Period: 25%
and 53% respectively) of the Group’s purchases for the Year, respectively.
None of the Directors, their associates or the Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Please refer to the section headed “Urban Renewal Projects Planning and
Consulting” under Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual
Report for details of (i) the Supplemental Agreement, constituting a
non-exempt connected transaction for the Company; and (ii) the second
supplemental agreement to the Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 29 July
2022.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business of the Group during the Year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitute any connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BORROWINGS
Details of borrowings of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 27
and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 89 and 90, respectively of this
Report.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the Year (Last Reporting
Period: nil). The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (Last Reporting Period: nil).
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to RMB899,000 (Last Reporting Period: RMB190,000).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
No arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive
any dividends was made by the Company.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five years, including the Last Reporting Period and the Year is set out on
page 176 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND DEBENTURES
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

No new Shares or debentures were issued by the Company during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements of the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
93 of this Annual Report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, the Company had no distributable
reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme previously adopted on 24 May 2004 had
expired on 24 May 2014 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”). Under the Old
Share Option Scheme, no options had been granted from its adoption until
expiration.
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The Shareholders approved the adoption of the Share Option Scheme at a
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019. The relevant details
of the Share Option Scheme were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 30 April 2019 (the “SOS Circular”).
capitalized terms set out herein shall have the same respective meanings as
set out in the SOS Circular.

Unless otherwise defined, the

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward the Participants who
have contributed to the Group and to encourage Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board considers that the
Share Option Scheme will incentivise more persons to contribute positively
to the Group, and facilitate the retention and the recruitment of high-calibre
staff of the Group.

Participants

Participants, including advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters and service providers of the Group, will be determined
by the Board according to their potential and/or actual contribution to the
business affairs of and benefits to the Group. Employees and directors of the
Group, including full-time or part-time employees, directors, management,
consultants and advisers will be given incentives to work towards enhancing
the value and attaining the long-term objectives of the Company and for the
benefit of the Group.

Previous Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares issuable pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 174,800,000 Shares, unless the Company obtains an approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each grantee under the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed: (i) 1% of the Shares in issue for the time
being; and (i) 0.1% the Shares in issue and a value of HK$5 million if the
grantee is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an INED or any of
their respective associates.
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Exercise Price

The exercise price of the Options granted shall be determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant which must be a Business
Day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Exercise Period

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon the grant of the Options (the “Exercise Period”); such period
shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the relevant Option.
Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall continue
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after the end of the
ten-year Period.

Vesting Period

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which an Option
must be held or the performance targets which must be achieved under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Amount Payable on Acceptance and Payment Period
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company upon acceptance of the
Option which must be taken up within 28 days from the date of offer.

Remaining Life
The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a term of ten years from
the date of adoption until 30 May 2029.

Grant of Options During the Last Reporting Period

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the “Grantee” and the
"Consultancy Agreement”, respectively), and pursuant to which:

(i) the Company had appointed the Grantee as a consultant of the
Company for the provision of the Consultancy Services (as defined in the
Consultancy Agreement) for a term of two years from the Completion
Date (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement); and

(i) the Board had resolved to grant 174,800,000 Options to the Grantee
to subscribe for a total of 174,800,000 Shares under the Share
Option Scheme, subject to the conditions precedent set out under the
Consultancy Agreement, as consideration for the Consultancy Services.

An ordinary resolution regarding the entering into of the Consultancy
Agreement involving the grant of Options (the particulars of which are stated
below) was passed by the Shareholders at the 2022 EGM.
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Details of the Options
Grant Date:
12 January 2022

Exercise Price of Options Granted:
HK$0.20 per Share

Closing Price immediately before Grant Date:
HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange

Number of Options Granted:
174,800,000 Options (each Option shall entitle the holder thereof to
subscribe for one Share)

Validity and Exercise Period of Options:
Subject to the Share Option Scheme, the Options are valid and exercisable in
whole or in part for a period of ten years from the Grant Date.

Vesting Conditions:

i) 50% of the Options shall be vested on the date of completion of the
Joint Venture Agreement (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) to
be entered into between the Company and a Business Partner (as defined
in the Consultancy Agreement), and shall be exercisable until the expiry
date of the validity period; and

i) conditional upon completion of the Joint Venture Agreement, 50%
of the Options shall be vested on the date of the completion of the
Equity/Debt Financing (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) by the
Company successfully introduced and facilitated by the Grantee, and
shall be exercisable until the expiry date of the validity period.

Refreshment of Scheme Mandate Limit

Following the completion of the Consultancy Agreement, the then maximum
number of Shares that could be allotted and issued upon the exercise of the
Options, which might be granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) had been fully utilized. The
Board, therefore, proposed that the Scheme Mandate Limit be refreshed and
an ordinary resolution regarding the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit to 215,800,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of the 2022 EGM, was passed by the Shareholders at the
2022 EGM.

Shares Available for Issue

As at 28 September 2023, being the originally intended date of this Annual
Report, a total of 215,800,000 Shares (excluding the underlying Shares
comprised in the Options that have been granted but not yet exercised,
cancelled or lapsed) were available for issue under the Share Option Scheme,
which represented 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on that
date. The number of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate
Limit at the beginning and the end of the Year was 215,800,000.
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Particulars at Beginning and End of the Year

There were 174,800,000 outstanding Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023. During the Year, no
Options were granted, exercised or forfeited/cancelled or lapsed.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company did not redeem its listed securities; nor did the
Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell such securities.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Report have been:

Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.

Lee Kwok Leung (Chairman)

Zhou Shi Hao

Mr. Chen Zhirui

Mr. Xiao Libo (Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue

NED
Mr. Lam Chung Chak
INEDs

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung
Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Mr. Lu Jianping

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall
retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, Mr. Lam Chung Chak and Mr. Chan Chun Kit shall
retire by rotation and are eligible for re-election. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and
Mr. Chan Chun Kit will offer themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

BIOGRAPHIC INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 62 to 65 of this Annual Report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the staff costs of the Group with retirement benefit schemes
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the Year are set
out in notes 13 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing on the respective dates of their appointment and shall continue
thereafter from year to year until and unless terminated by either party by
giving the other party not less than one to three months’ prior written notice
according to the terms of the corresponding service agreement.

Each of the NED and the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of one year commencing on the respective
dates of their appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year
until and unless terminated by either party by giving the other party one
month’s prior written notice according to the terms of the corresponding
appointment letter.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming 2023 AGM has a service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INEDS

The Company received from each of the current INEDs an annual
confirmation of their independence in the Year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and as at 27 September 2023, still considers all of them to be
independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the Executive Directors’ service agreements)
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company and the Group was entered
into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS, ETC.

Saved as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no
Director or an entity connected with such Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract, arrangement or transaction of
significance to the business of the Group, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (i) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(i) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/ Long Number of the issued
nature of position/ issued share capital of
Name of Directors interest short position Shares held the Company
FrsBE B &#1T GMERBEET
EEls 515 mtE 5= 3= BHRZHE REZBNESL
Zhou Shi Hao (“Mr. Zhou") (Note 1)  Interest in a controlled Long position 410,000,000 19.00%
corporation

Ets (TALE) (1) REGEE S e

Lam Chung Chak (“Mr. Lam") Beneficial owner/Family Long position 3,320,000 0.15%

(Note 2) interest
MEE (k%)) (FisE2) BREBE A/ REEA wa

Notes:

1. As at 30 June 2023, 410,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 19% of
the issued Shares, were held by Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned by
Mr. Zhou who is an Executive Director. By virtue of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, Mr. Zhou was deemed to be interested in the 410,000,000 Shares held by
Harbour Prestige.

2. Mr. Lam and Ms. Cheng Bo Kei Peggy (“Ms. Peggy Cheng”) are spouses.
Mr. Lam personally held 2,720,000 Shares while Ms. Peggy Cheng personally held
600,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lam was deemed to be interested in
Ms. Peggy Cheng’s Shares. In addition, Mr. Lam is a son of Ms. Wong Shek Kwan,
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

3. Asat 30 June 2023, there were a total of 2,158,000,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executive nor their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (as defined in the SFO) at 30 June 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’/OTHER PERSONS’
INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2023, the interests or short positions of every person or entity,

other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and

underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

FTERE HMALREQE RN KA
A AR 17 PR 2 1 i B2 33

ATET=FRA=TH BEARERERES R
BRAIE336RBEFEZELMASLE  8BRAL
(BFHAFRBRSITHRABRIN 1R KAEH
Rz BmIg AW !

Long positions in the Shares REHzER
Approximate
Number of percentage of
issued Shares/ the issued
Name of Capacity and underlying share capital of
Shareholders Note nature of interest Shares held the Company
FIBEERITRG, HERATERET
RERHE R k=3 SN REEEE RN ZHE R ZBABE DL
Cheung Ngan Beneficial owner 518,680,000 24.04
SRE] BamEAA
Harbour Prestige 1 Beneficial owner 410,000,000 19.00
B BumEAA
Valley Park Global Corporation 2 Beneficial owner 230,000,000 10.66
("Valley Park") BmEAA
Liu Qiong 2 Interest in a controlled 230,000,000 10.66
corporation
2115 REHEE 2 Ewm
Wong Shek Kwan Beneficial owner 217,320,000 10.07
FaH BmEAA
Cheng Siu Ang (“Ms. Cheng") 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7.51
another person/Beneficial
owner
g (Mgt ) BHEMATHRAFE 2 #G
BmEBA
So Pak Wing (“Mr. So") 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7.51
another person/Beneficial
owner
gRazE (TERSEEE) HEMALTHEFE Z#ER
BumEAA
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Notes:

1. These 410,000,000 Shares are held by Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned
by Mr. Zhou who is an Executive Director.

2. According to the notice of disclosure of interests of Valley Park filed with the Stock
Exchange, Liu Qiong, who is deemed to be interested in 230,000,000 Shares held
by Valley Park under Part XV of the SFO, owns 100% of the interest of Valley Park.
There is a duplication of interest of 230,000,000 Shares between Liu Qiong and
Valley Park.

3. These 162,000,000 Shares are jointly held by Mr. So and Ms. Cheng. Mr. So is
the spouse of Ms. Cheng. There is a duplication of interest of 162,000,000 Shares
between Mr. So and Ms. Cheng.

4. As at 30 June 2023, there were a total of 2,158,000,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, no person or entity had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the Year were the rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors, supervisors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor any
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
at 30 June 2023 or at any time during the Year ended that date.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having been made specific enquiries
by the Company, all the current Directors have confirmed their compliance
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with article 175 of the Articles of Association, every Director shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in
which he/she is acquitted. Subject to the Companies Act, if any Director or other
person shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum primarily
due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be executed any
mortgage, charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the
assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

Save as the above, at no time during the Year, and up to 27 September 2023
was or is there any permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of
the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of
Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether
made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of any associated
company (if made by the Company).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total Shares in
issue was held by the public as at 30 June 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Report of the Directors, no
equity-linked agreements that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
Shares or (ii) require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or existed at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their close associates had an interest in a
business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group, or
has any other conflict of interest with the Group.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ DETAILS

Change in the Directors’ details since the date of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 31 December 2022, which are required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules, are set out below:

A. Mr. Lu Jianping, an INED
(i) with effect from 12 April 2023, he was appointed as the supervisor
of Mayer Energy Storage; and

(ii) with effect from May 2023, he shall be entitled to an additional
monthly fee of RMB10,000 from Mayer Technology for acting as its
supervisor; and
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B. Dr. Cheung Ka Yue, an Executive Director
He ceased to act as an independent non-executive director of Crown
International Corporation Limited (stock code: 727), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 1 August 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices of the Group are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
Report.

in this Annual

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year are being audited by
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. The Board has taken the recommendation of
the Audit Committee that a resolution for the reappointment of ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited as the Auditors will be proposed at the 2023 AGM or its
adjournment (as the case may be).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
22 December 2023 to Friday, 29 December 2023 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of Shares can be registered. In order to
qualify for attending, speaking and voting at the 2023 AGM, non-registered
Shareholders must lodge all the duly completed and stamped transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 21 December 2023.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Yun Kit
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAYER HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERERAR
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mayer Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2023,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1. Interest in an associate
Included in the consolidated financial statements is interest in an
associate, Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property Development Limited (the
“Associate”) with carrying amount of approximately RMB10.7 million
and RMB209 million as at 30 June 2023 and 2022, respectively; share
of loss of approximately RMB46,000 and RMB225,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2023 and the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022,
respectively and impairment of the Associate of RMB198.3 million and
RMB Nil for the year ended 30 June 2023 and the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2022,
urban land redevelopment in Zhuhai, the People’s Republic of China (the

respectively. The Associate is engaged in the

“PRC"). Due to insufficient supporting documentations and explanations
of the accounting books and records for the year ended 30 June 2023
because of the reason stated in point 4 below, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to the accuracy and completeness of the Associate as at 30
June 2023 of approximately RMB10.7 million, the share of loss for the
year ended 30 June 2023 of approximately RMB46,000 and impairment
of the Associate of RMB198.3 million for the year ended 30 June 2023.
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In addition, due to re-development projects are still in preliminary stage,
we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves as to the estimated schedule of the redevelopment which is
the major assumption adopted in the calculation of the value-in-use of
the Associate. We are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable
amount of the Associate as at 30 June 2022 and any impairment should
be recognised for the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss in connection with (i) the
guarantee given by the vendor and the guarantor regarding the target
profit achieved by Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Happy Group”) as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 of RMB
Nil and RMB Nil, respectively; (ii) the put option to transfer the entire
interest of Happy Group to the vendor as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 of
RMB Nil and RMB Nil, respectively; and (iii) the change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss for the year ended 30
June 2023 and the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 of RMB Nil
and RMB19,000, respectively. On 11 March 2022, the Company entered
into a supplemental agreement for extension of time to meet the target
profit to 30 June 2023. The execution of the supplemental agreement is
subject to the approval from independent shareholders of the Company.
At the end of June 2023, due to the facts that the re-development
projects are still at their preliminary stage and the Company did not
enter into any further supplemental agreement to extend the period for
the achievement of the target profit, the Company is taking necessary
actions for the compensation from the vendor and the guarantor
regarding guarantee profit.

Due to the fact that the outcomes of any actions taken by the Company
are uncertain and, as mentioned in point 4 below, there is insufficient
supporting documentations and explanations of the accounting books
and records available for us to ascertain whether the target profit of
Happy Group can be achieved. Therefore, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to (i) whether the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss was reliably measured at 30 June 2023 and 2022,
and (i) the accuracy of the change in fair value recognised in profit or
loss for the ended 30 June 2023 and the eighteen months ended 30
June 2022.

2023 F 7R
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Prepayments and trade receivables

Included in the consolidated financial statements are prepayment and
trade receivables of RMB Nil as at 30 June 2023 and approximately
RMB92 million and RMB40 million, respectively, as at 30 June 2022, and
impairment for the prepayment and trade receivables of approximately
RMB96.5 million and RMB40.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2023
and RMB nil for the prepayment and trade receivables for the eighteen
months ended 30 June 2022.

As mentioned in point 4 below, there is insufficient supporting
documentations and explanations of the accounting books and
records available for us to ascertain the accuracy and completeness of
the prepayments of approximately RMB Nil and trade receivables of
approximately RMB Nil as at 30 June 2023 and the appropriateness of
the impairment for prepayment and trade receivable of approximately
RMB96.5 million and RMB40.2 million for prepayments and trade
receivable, respectively, for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Due to the pandemic event of the “COVID-19” that slowed down the
business development of the urban renewal projects, we are unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to
evaluate the recoverability of the prepayments and trade receivables as
at 30 June 2022 of approximately RMB92 million and RMB40 million,
respectively and whether any impairment should be made for the
prepayments and trade receivables for the eighteen months ended 30
June 2022.

In addition, the Company received complaints from complainants
Zhou Shi Hao (“Mr. Zhou”) and Mr. Chen Zhirui
Chen”), the then directors of the Company) whereby the

(including Mr.
("Mr.
complainants made certain allegations. The Company had carried out
independent investigation on the matters related to the allegations.
According to the results of the investigations, there is no evidence to
substantiate the allegations. However, the independent investigators
are unable to obtain sufficient evidence to substantiate the commercial
substance of the payment and receipt arrangement of prepayment for
purchase of steel during the years 2019 and 2020 of HK$85 million
(equivalent to RMB76 million) and HK$80 million (equivalent to RMB72
million), respectively, and the payment arrangement of the prepayments
to service providers during the years 2019 and 2020 of HK$108 million
(equivalent to RMB94 million). There is no alternative procedure that
we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the commercial substance
due to the
inconsistent information provided by Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen during the

of the prepayments and trade receivable. Moreover,

investigation, we are unable to ascertain the nature of the prepayments
and trade receivables as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.
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Insufficient Accounting Records

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group severally requested
Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen, who were the management of Zhuhai Mayer
HuaFeng Development Co., Limited (“Zhuhai HuaFeng”), to handover
the accounting documents of Zhuhai HuaFeng and its subsidiaries
(“Zhuhai HuaFeng Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2023. The
Group had taken legal actions against Zhuhai HuaFeng to request the
handover of accounting records. On 4 June 2024, the People’s Court in
Guangdong-Macau In-Depth Cooperation Zone in Henggin, the PRC had
issued judgement to order Zhuhai HuaFeng to provide its accounting
books and records to the Group within 10 days after the effective date
of judgment. The Group had tried to enforce the court judgments to
obtain the accounting books and records of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group. Up
to date of this report, the accounting books and records of the Zhuhai
HuaFeng Group have not yet been obtained by the Group.

Due to insufficient of supporting documentation and explanations for
accounting books and records in respect of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group for
the year ended 30 June 2023, in addition to points 1 and 3 above, we
were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to (i) the
accuracy, existence and completeness of the income and expenditure for
the year ended 30 June 2023 and the assets and liabilities as at 30 June
2023 of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group, as detailed below, and other related
disclosure notes in relation to the Zhuhai HuaFeng Group, as included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, and (ii) whether
they have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements.

Income and expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2023
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RMB'000

ARETT

Revenue Wz -

Other income Hihlr A 4

Administrative expenses TERX (622)
Assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2023: RIZEZ=FRA=+tHNEERAEH.

RMB'000

ARBFT

Property, plant and equipment ME~ BEREE 33

Right of use assets PREESE 180

Cash and bank balances H& RIRITH IR 10

Trade and other payables B3 ERRUR E M TR IE (19,441)

Lease liabilities HESE (203)
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Consolidation of Shenzhen Hei Jing Photoelectric
Technology Co., Limited (“Hei Jing")

On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who was also a
former director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC using a
suspected forgery seal, entered into an agreement with other parties to
dispose of a 51% equity interest in Hei Jing, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company at a total cash consideration of RMB5.3 million (the
"Disposal”). The consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31
March 2022 and the registration of the ownership of the equity interest
was changed to the purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal
of the former director, the board of directors of the Company (the
"Directors”) carried out a review of the transaction. As stated in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors considered that
the consideration of the Disposal was too low and unfair and the Group
would suffer a significant loss upon the Disposal. The Directors are of the
view that the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, the Group instigated
a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the ownership of the
51% equity interest in Hei Jing. Accordingly, Hei Jing is still accounted
for as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial
results for the year ended 30 June 2023 and for the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at 30 June 2023 and
2022 of Hei Jing were consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the consideration received of RMB5.3 million was
included in other payable.

Due to the fact that the outcome of the legal action is uncertain, we
were unable to ascertain whether the results for the year ended 30 June
2023 and for the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 and the financial
position as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 of Hei Jing should be consolidated
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements under HKFRS 10
"Consolidated Financial Statements” and whether the consideration
received of RMB5.3 million is correctly accounted for as other payable.

In addition, due to the insufficient supporting documentations and
explanations for the accounting books and records in respect of Hei
Jing for the year ended 30 June 2023 and the eighteen months ended
30 June 2022, we were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the following income and expenditure for
the year ended 30 June 2023 and for the eighteen months ended 30
June 2022 and assets as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 as included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Income and expenditure for the Year ZEENWA KBS
Year ended 18 months ended
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
BEZE”= BEZZT-Z
~NA=+H ~NA=+H
IHEE E+N\EA
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AR®&TFT
Revenue gy — _
Other income Hhlg A - 73
Administrative expenses TERX - (47)
Assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2023: RIZEZ=FA=tHHNEEREE:
2023 2022
—Eg”= .
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TF T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKREE 3,745 3,745
Inventories 5 1,137 1,137
Other receivables HithpE Uk =18 7,647 7,647
Prepayment and deposits FANRIE &GS 4,569 4,569
Cash and bank balances R MIRITHER 12 12
Accrual expenses FEEH RIS 9) )

ZEERAERLDA

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 5 above
might have consequential effects on the Group's results and cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2023 and for the eighteen months ended
30 June 2022 and the financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2023 and 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of approximately RMB228,187,000 as at 30 June 2023 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgment and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the
customers;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables has been
supported by the available evidence.

Inventory

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of inventory for impairment. This impairment
test is significant to our audit because the balance of inventory of
approximately RMB91,819,000 as at 30 June 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Attending the physical count to identify and assess aged and obsolete
inventory;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the ageing of the inventory;

—  Assessing the net realisable values of the inventory; and

—  Checking subsequent sales and usage of the inventory.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for inventory has been is
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company's annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate evidence from points 1 to 5.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information
is materially misstated with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B Y & A RS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:
http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-setting/standards/our-views/
auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REE®ER

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #ZETZ—

= —

FNRA=THLEFE

1 January
Year ended 2021 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
BE TR
—EZ=F —B—H=
~NA=+H =
IEEE ~BA=+H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k2 ARBETT AEETF T
Revenue 5 & 7 538,163 902,652
Cost of sales HEM A (466,965) (783,941)
Gross profit EF 71,198 118,711
Other income H A 8 17,310 24,637
Other net (loss)/gain Hh (F518) W 38 9 (336,571) 2,525
Distribution costs SR =5 N (42,845) (60,931)
Administrative expenses THRX (35,937) (70,163)
Other operating expenses Hhi& &M (39) (6)
(Loss)/profit from operations = (B518) ad (326,884) 14,773
Share of loss of an associate FE{E— RIS AT 2 K518 (46) (225)
Finance costs BEF5 Ak 2= 11 (6,263) (17,915)
Loss before tax FRIRAIES I8 (333,193) (3.367)
Income tax expense FriginBE sz 12 (2,803) (5,452)
Loss for the year/period £ HAEE 13 (335,996) (8,819)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period THISIBREMGE HA
attributable to: (E538) & # :
Owners of the Company FiNUNEIEF DN (338,846) (14,304)
Non-controlling interests JEER = 2,850 5,485
(335,996) (8,819)
Loss per share SREE
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) BEXREE#E (ARKSD) 16 (15.70) (0.66)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e EaRHEMEZE KA R

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z_Z_=FA=1THILFE

1 January
Year ended 2021 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
HE BT
—EZ=H —B—B=%
~A=+H =
IFE ~A=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBFT
Loss for the year/period F RS (335,996) (8,819)
Other comprehensive income: Hit2mUE -
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: OE#H D IEFEm 2 IER
Exchange differences on translating foreign BMEBINERESE
operations ZERER (26,521) (4,485)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: &1 ZE#H PIEEEm 2 EH
Exchange differences on translating foreign BMEBINERESE
operations ZERER 20,359 3,579
Other comprehensive expense for the year/ & HIAHMZ2EHS >
period, net of tax PRiR & (6,162) (906)
Total comprehensive expense for the year/ F /R EMZREE
period (342,158) (9,725)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) THEIEEGE HA
year/period attributable to: 2HElE (FAX) 8% :
Owners of the Company FN/NETEZZ= DN (345,008) (15,210)
Non-controlling interests JEERR = 2,850 5,485
(342,158) (9,725)

Mayer Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE B BRR K

As 30 June 2023 MR_ZE_=F,A=1H

2023 2022
—ECC=E B F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARETFT AREF T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 17 62,805 53,028
Right-of-use assets BREEE 18 5,915 5,377
Interest in joint ventures REEhEr R 20 - -
Interest in an associate L =N X 19 10,718 209,110
79,438 267,515
Current assets TEMEE
Inventories =Z& 22 92,956 93,543
Trade and other receivables B S EWERS R E A E Y IE 23 315,005 367,614
Financial assets at fair value through BARBESTABTDZ
profit or loss ERIEE 21 - -
Cash and cash equivalents BerBEE%EES 25 46,388 33,201
454,349 494,358
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B S ENRER R ME I8 26 147,469 115,447
Current tax payables BPHAFE (S IR 1B 12,405 12,791
Lease liabilities HEaRE 30 627 203
Borrowings == 27 75,000 7,637
Promissory notes ADER 28 156,586 142,281
392,087 278,359
Net current assets TEBEEZRE 62,262 215,999
Total assets less current liabilities WEERTREBARE 141,700 483,514
Non-current liabilities JEREEE
Lease liabilities HESRE 30 344 -
344 -
NET ASSETS BEFE 141,356 483,514
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE B BRR KR

As 30 June 2023 MNIZ_=4;A=+H

2023 2022
—EC=F B &
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt ARETT AREF T
Capital and reserves B 2s Ko (4 1

Share capital A& 7 317 391,760 391,760
Reserves (B (316,948) 28,060

Equity attributable to owners of the KATHEE NELER
Company 74,812 419,820
Non-controlling interests JEERR = 66,544 63,694
TOTAL EQUITY R 141,356 483,514

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 175 were approved 589F175BH v S B REDEESEN -
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025 and are —HE=H —+ B AERSETEE > T H 5 E

signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Mr. Ip Yun Kit
BICHEE
Director

B

EREEE

T EEHE

Ms. Zhang Yana
R

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TEREREZB R

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FREEBAER
Statutory Foreign
Statutory public currency Non-
Share Share Special surplus welfare  translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve fund reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
et 53 HE EE s it E3
& B fE AREHE R hEkE 3t it i st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETx ARETR ARETz AR%ETR ARET:
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REBH) (KEER) (REBR) (REFH) (REBR)  (KEER)  (REBR)  (REER)  (REER)  (REER)
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ-5-F-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (23,909) (244,542) 435,030 60,069 495,099
Loss for the period BREE - - - - - - (14,304) (14,304) 5,485 (8,819)
Exchange differences on translating HERNEREEL
foreign operations ERER - - - - - (906) - (906) - (906)
Total comprehensive expense for the period HR2 ERS %44 - - - - - (906) (14,304) (15,210) 5,485 (9,725)
Dividend paid to NCI P EEREGZRE - - - - - - - - (1,860) (1,860)
At 30 June 2022 RIZZZERBZFHE 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (24,815) (258,846) 419,820 63,694 483,514
At 1 July 2022 RIZZZF-F-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (24,815)  (258,846) 419,820 63,694 483,514
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - (338846)  (338,846) 2850  (335,9%)
Exchange differences on translating HERNEREEL
foreign operations ERER - - - - - (6,162) - (6,162) - (6,162)
Total comprehensive FR2ARZEE
expense for the year - - - - - (6,162) (338,846) (345,008) 2,850 (342,158)
At 30 June 2023 RIEZ=EXB=1H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (30,977) (597,692) 74,812 66,544 141,356
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEBRERER

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

1 January
Year ended 2021 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
B=E - —fF
(= —HA—B=E
~A=+H B
IEFE ~B=+H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBFT
Loss before taxation FRIR AT 18 (333,193) (3,367)
Adjustment for: PMTFIEREHZFHE !
Depreciation e 4,791 7,315
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 327 2,050
Finance costs B 75 AR s 6,263 17,915
Interest income MEWA (1,193) (722)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment) on B ZrEWBE I R E A FE I FIa
trade and other receivables 2 RERSE CRE#E[E]) 40,631 (2,675)
Impairment loss on other receivable HthFEWRIR Z B B R R 2,613 -
Impairment loss on an associate —EBE AR Z BERR 198,346 -
Impairment loss on prepayment FENRIBZ BERE 96,460 -
Share of results of an associate FEME—REBE N B 2 & 46 225
Unrealized loss on financial assets at fair value BAREEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss EREEZREREGIE - 19
Gain on lease modification AEEETWE _ 73
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEE - BBENMEREZ
equipment 838 56 638
Operating profit before working capital changes &EZ @A~ 2 EHF) 15,147 21,471
Change in inventories FEEH 587 (5,908)
Change in trade and other receivables & 5 e WER 7 N Hfh FE U I8
Z 28 (91,172) 17,915
Change in trade and other payables B 5 I BRF S E A FE SR8
2 &H) 33,653 16,698
Cash (used in)/generated from operations e (FrRB) /P8 2IRE (41,785) 50,176
Income tax paid B FRER (3,189) (3,976)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating 4% %&) (Fr ) Friis
activities REPE (44,974) 46,200

Mayer Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

1 January
Year ended 2021 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
BHE = —fF
—g-= —R—H=E
~AA=+H g
IEFE ~B=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Cash flows from investing activities KRETHRERE
Proceed from disposal of property, plant and HEME - BENREFRERIA
equipment 936 355
Payment for purchase of property, plant and EEYE - WMENKREBR™
equipment (15,520) (13,819)
Interest received B UWF R 1,193 722
Net cash used in investing activities KRETHMAZHRE 3R (13,391) (12,742)
Cash flows from financing activities RMEFBHIRERE
Proceed from new borrowings %ﬂﬁgzﬁﬁ{ B 75,000 7,637
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (7,637) (40,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities T”?ﬁ%ﬁh%% (117) (1,887)
Dividend paid to NCI ST FIFERER - (1,860)
Interest paid BIHE (2,033) (4,511)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing FAEEEFRE (FRA) Z
activities &2 65,213 (40,621)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERFESEEFBIEM
equivalents GRY) $%8 6,848 (7,163)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of BB/ EzRehRe%EER
period/year 33,201 37,575
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate SNEEXEE 2 E 6,339 2,789
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/ F/HRZRERFES
period ZHEH 46,388 33,201
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERREEEEBZ9F
Bank and cash balances RITRIR B4R 46,388 33,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE

e

GENERAL INFORMATION

Mayer Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands and its registered office is
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business is located at Room 2001, 20/F., Tung Ning
Building, 2 Hillier Street, Sheung Wan, HK.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors dated 22 December
2021, the Group changed its financial year end date from 31 December
to 30 June.

The current financial statements cover a twelve months year ended 30
June 2023 and the comparative financial statements cover a eighteen
months period ended 30 June 2022. The comparative amounts are
therefore not entirely comparable.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued by HKICPA for the
first time for the consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

Property, plant and equipment:

Amendments in relation to

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRS

Standards 2018-2020 Cycle

The Group concluded that the application of the Amendments
to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &
2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont'd) (&)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued
but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 July 2022 and not early adopted by the

Group

(b) ®=

BT B=1HIFE

2. BRI RAEIETTERM B R G ER

B _HFtA—HRBNEEA
FERME R REN B EE AR
FERMEI TR R AEIETER

Effective for accounting periods

RUTEHHEER

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

Eeae LIESFACHE:S)

HKFRS 17

EBMBREENE 7R

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BB UERE 125

(fE514)
HKAS 12
BEBEERE125%

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
ERGHERFE I (BITA)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
SR ERE15 (BT E)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

ERMBREENE165

CHES)

HK -Int 5
BB -RESHR

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

BERMBREEE 10K
BB G ERF285%

CHES)

ZEERAERLDA

2023 F 7R

Amendments in relation to definition of accounting
estimates

Gt ERZBRIES]

Amendments in relation to disclosure of accounting
policies

RESHERZAMES

Insurance contracts

REEH

Amendments in relation to deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single transaction
—RPELTNEERGEEBANRELRE,
EEW;‘J

Amendments in relation to International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules

BRI B N E - B AR 2 BB

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

E/\;EEJ /)\lét]_/zaF/ﬂL

Non-current liabilities with covenants

MARZEFRGRIERBER

Amendments in relation to lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

ERBERZTNEEERZARES]

Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

= D+EH| %1‘3”51‘%1:]-2’&2%%%1‘%:\?

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

REEHHMEANRNGELRZANEEHENEE

1 January 2023

—=%—HF—H

1 January 2023

“E¥-=%—-R—H

1 January 2023
2 =F—F—H

1 January 2023

—=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—=%—A—H

1 January 2024
“ZmMFE—EB—H

1 January 2024
“ZE_mNF—B—H

1 January 2024

“ETE—-A—H

1 January 2024

—EMNE—-F—H

To be determined

HHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued
but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 July 2022 and not early adopted by the
Group (cont’d)

2. BRI RAIEST B BMBHR S EER
()

(b) RZZFZ__F+A—HRKEIG

MERMERKREN BA SRR

FERMBORTETEER R RS ETEER ()

Effective for accounting periods

BT RER

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7
BERMBREEERR
BRGHERETHR

HEBREZHEZARET

HKAS 21
BRGHERB215R RZ A RGREZ BRIE
HKFRS 7 and 9

Measurement of Financial Instruments
EEMBREENETRKREIR DEREEMTIAZEHE]

HKFRS 7 and 9
dependent Electricing

ERUBREENETIRREIN SREBEAEREEENZENZARMES]

HKFRS 18
BRMBRE LR H185 MBI RZ 2N RN E
HKFRS 19

BERMBREEE195% FRALEEEENBRE  KE

Amendments in relation to Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments in relation to Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments in relation to Classification and

Amendments in relation to contracts Referencing Nature —

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2024
“E_MF—HB—H

1 January 2025

“E"HE—B—H

1 January 2026

1 January 2026

—ZTZRF-RA—H

1 January 2027
“E”tF—HB—H

1 January 2027
“T-tF—-HA—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

EAMBRELENGHENFERE-F1E

HKFRS 1
BERMBREERE1R EXREBEZERGS
HKFRS 7
BERMBREERETR

Gain or loss on derecognition
RIS 2 B

98

Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter

1 January 2026
“ZEZRFE-A—H

1 January 2026
“ZEZRFE-A—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued
but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 July 2022 and not early adopted by the
Group (cont'd)

2. BRI RAEIETTERM RS ER
(1)
(b) RZZF__F+A—HRKEIGHH
FERME R REN B EE AR
FERMBORTETEER R RS ETEER ()

Effective for accounting periods

RUTEFHARER

Guidance on implementing

HKFRS 7 transaction price
EBUBREENETHR BEANEBEEARGERZELER
BlEtEs|

Guidance on implementing Introduction and credit risk disclosures

HKFRS 7
EBUBREERETHR BN REEREKE

BlEtEs|
HKFRS 9 Derecognition of lease liabilities
EBUBREERFIR RIFERHEEER

HKFRS 9
EEMBRSER BN

Transaction price

HKFRS 10
EEMBRSERNEI0%

Determination of a ‘de facto agent’

EETEELHNREA

HKAS 7
BEERETR

Cost method
LA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on the
impact of these new standards and amendments to standards and
preliminary results showed that their application are not expected
to have material impact on the financial performance and financial
position of the Group.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

Disclosure of deferred difference between fair value and

1 January 2026

ZEZTRE—B—H

1 January 2026

ZEZTRE—B—H

1 January 2026
“TTRE—-R—H

1 January 2026
ZEZTRE—B—H

1 January 2026
“ZTXRF—-B—H

1 January 2026
N =

FEB IRV EZ T T ER RGBT 2
A AP ERET R SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

3.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As mentioned in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company is taking legal action against Mr. Zhou Shi Hao (“Mr. Zhou")
and Mr. Chen Zhirui (“Mr. Chen"”) who are the directors of the Company
and the management Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited
("Happy HK") and its subsidiaries (“Happy Group”), refuse to provide
the accounting documents of Happy Group for the year ended 30 June
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Therefore, the Group consolidated the financial information of Happy
Group in according to the management accounts of Happy Group for
six months ended 31 December 2022 which are latest available financial
information of Happy Group.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EXEEHE @
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Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 June/31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income (for example,
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income),
the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the previously held
equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy () below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the
Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Associates (cont’d)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Relevant activities are activities that significantly affect the
returns of the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a
joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Joint arrangements (cont’'d)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint venture in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is tested for impairment together with the investment
at the end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a loss
of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that joint venture and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Foreign currency translation (cont’d)
(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
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Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

INERZZ IS R IRAR 5 B 2817
EXRMEDBINESE - LIOMESHEZEE
BEERBRESBERRZERRE - Z
MEBRATEE 2 W RBIRIN R

50 ©

BrnBES BRSNS EZIFEKE
BEREEANEBEEAZERHRE -

EIFEBIAR Z s Hth 2 E R
TSRS ZUWEsE R 2 EFIE R AE
RER D G HMEEREARES - EIFE
BEIEE W RN B E AR 0 Z
W s E R 2 EAIE A A ER D B R
WHESD °

(iii) 4 EAREFFIRE

NEEEREARB 2 EBTRZMAER
EMERCEERVHRRE T AR
BRARNABZ25EE !

— MBROUBRRERZ2INZEERER
BRUHRRE BRI EXRR
"

— WAKRAXZETHERRE (FIFZ
THERWIFR S A@ITERZ Rt
FEZAERME FEIERT A
kARG AzZEXHRE) &

— FERLLEEZEREENIMNGIRE
R PIRESD °

RiRARER  MEEIINERFRERE
BffEEZ BEREENIMNEME #EE
o BHEBIINERR > ZERRERY
PR GBI RS HE Y e E—&P
5o

WiBBHINBRFMELEZBERAAGEER
BRAnZeIBRZEERBRRE
AR UL T B R o

Mayer Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



ZEERAERLDA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs/revalued amounts less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings and factory 5% or over the remaining term of the
lease, if shorter

10% — 33 '/,% or over the remaining
term of the lease, if shorter

7% — 25%

5% — 33 '/,%

premises
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% - 25%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed

and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of- use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Land and buildings 25% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
Us$5,000.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B IE R R M R
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont'd)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified
under this category if they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not meet
the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the Group designates an equity investment that is
not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income
and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as
the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under business
combinations) are initially recognised and subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

114

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and its joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2023 F 7R

3.

BEARZHEE @
RI1E
SRR 15 BN AR T SR JE R TE 2 48 A0 o

BNERFE (S I IB LU F MR E F 2 BB - FEER
MEA B RIN IR TN ZEF > THHRRE
RKipat N EEEMEEERREA L TR
XHIER > TE—S T EEGERRIF AN
MIER - AEMZ MBS R HRBINERE
HREFIEREELEFRIEZMEHE -

BIERBEZVBRENBERERZEREE
RUTERRANGNFTAZARRERER
ZERER - NEM—RHFAABRINE R E
ERDIELERERR » LR A BRGNS
HNEFINNEFER - RPARBEIRIER
PRNERE BENEDELREEE © 4
EREZEDABERRAN —BREFARZEER

BT EEEFN 225 CEB AR
SN RIS EBHMBERGRMES > BIF

FEEEGRNINBRARDRBERTD REE R
EREEEZEIANEREREDREIER
Raf WHAEEEENEREREE B
O BAMEBEREZEFSGNA KR RERIAIE

Al o

FERRZSRERR BT ELENBEEZ RE
T WEFBAAER BHEREH B FFUR
Cle A MLDEEZHEAELINRE -

ELERERENTARNBEERRNEIRE ZE 2
BRI BESHAREFENBE LEFEZRE
SHE o IEEMIATHIIRm ARESD > EMIELER
HERHEMEEWE N EEN R E N EE 21
BER > AR EMt e E RS R E RN R
FEST ©

115



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

3.

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Taxation (cont’d)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the Company
or of a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EXEHER @
Related parties (cont’d) Rk (&)
(B) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the (B) & FIHMEMIKME BN EREANER

(FREREEE) AR

following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group () ZEREAREBR—S£EZMER

(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
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of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) BEER(AFTHBIA LZEHIFHHERE T
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other than investments,
inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Impairment of assets (cont’d)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

2023 F 7R
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3.

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are measured at
the fair values of the goods or services received, unless that fair value
cannot be reliably measured, in which case the goods or services received
are measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve),
when the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render
services, unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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RS R B2 MR AN > AR
% (ERERE) o

R|REMR > FEBMETEHRNRRREZ
BERREH A 2 A5t - REBENET R
SRV (UNB) MIBm MY > Bt > Rethx
[RBREMESTR M T > MBI B IS A 18RS

%o

ERRBETER > S ERER AR
TERERERMEE - SRBERENEREH
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BERIMRBIL2ABERAEFISERIT
HFHRMRBREED R - WAREEINE
o (BREEA) » FRIFEMIRFB T SRR
HEERRMSE -

Mayer Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses
in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

(b) Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing
and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where
the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate
has been changed.

ETERERAT 2023 F R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The credit risk on
bank and cash balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk to its trade
receivables as the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers shared over approximately 8.9% (2022: 13.4%) and
20.7% (2022: 44.9%) of the trade receivables respectively at the
end of the reporting period. The Group has policies and procedures
to monitor the collection of the trade receivables to limit the
exposure to non-recoverable of the receivables and there is no
recent history of default for the customer.
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=tHIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd) 5. HBRAKER @
(b) Credit risk (cont’d) (b) EERM (&)

ZEERAERLDA

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same borrower;

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 90 days past due in making a contractual payment. A
default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make
contractual payments within 365 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd) 5.

124

(b) Credit risk (cont'd)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables which
reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined
for each of the categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.

MBERKREE @

(b) FERER (&)
FEEBIE P BBRAD AT > UK
RSB EEARRERBREHES
R o A EBEMEEFEEE  FEEEE
SRR 2 ELABILE - BRATEEHE
{EH AR -

Category Definition Loss provision

Wl EE EEEHE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
RIRE EARBRE  (TREENRE 1218 B Fa Ak 18

Non-performing

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

RIFXRE EEREREZEIEM 2 HRTEHARS 1B

Other

receivables

and amount

Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total

HhpEYTRIA

KREWKREE
REAFE R FIE EERIE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®BTT AEREBFT AREFT
Balance as at 30 June 2023 R -E_=F,XB=+HZ#kR 50,000 22,810 72,810
Provision for loss allowance — E5i8fEIK#EH (50,000) (2,613) (52,613)
Carrying amounts IRESEA - 20,197 20,197
Balance as at 30 June 2022 AE T EF A=+ HZHERR 50,000 12,396 62,396
Provision for loss allowance EoiE Ik s (50,000) - (50,000)
Carrying amounts IREE %8 - 12,396 12,396

The balance for long term receivables are considered high risk as
these investment companies are uncontactable and the Group
considered these loan made by the former management were
considered as deceitful acts and were reported to the Police
Department of Huangpu District, Guangzhou Municipality in May

2018.

RIPEWRIEEHRESEAS AR » R
EERZERERBKRE > MAEHRDR
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE
5. MBERAKEIRE @

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd)

Expected credit loss rate

FRHEERERE

(b) EERE (&)

%

%

30 June 2023 TET=FRAB=1H 100 11
30 June 2022 —E_F,B=1+H 100 -
Other
receivables
and amount
Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total
H{th FE U =R IR
REWEE
REAEWRRIE T ERIAE #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT
Loss allowance at 1 January WR_ZE_—F—H—H-
2021, 30 June 2022, 1 July Z—ZE__F,xBA=+H"
2022 _E-_H#+HB—AZ
SE=V-Ei 50,000 - 50,000
Allowance for the year FREIE - 2,613 2,613
At 30 June 2023 N_E-=%F,A=+H 50,000 2,613 52,613

ZEERAERLDA
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

MBERKREE @

() REBEZER
A EE M 2 B A SR A RERRE
BEBR > UWRARHERTERSHE
B ERRERARBESHE -

rEETHEEZIHASHAT

Less than 1 year 2-5 years Total
DR —5 —ERF waEt
RMB’'000 RMB"000 RMB'000
AREETFT ARBTT ARBTT

At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=%F,XA=+H
Borrowings B8 75,111 - 75,111
Trade and other payables £ 5 & { BR &k Bz H fth FE {3 218 133,731 - 133,731
Promissory notes ARERE 156,586 - 156,586
365,428 - 365,428

At 30 June 2022 KN_Z__F5A=+H
Borrowings Y= 8,024 - 8,024
Trade and other payables B 5 A BRF A H A & TRIE 107,073 - 107,073
Promissory notes AREE 146,323 - 146,323
261,420 - 261,420
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 5.

(d) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and borrowings.

Borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risks. Other bank deposits are
arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

At 30 June 2023, as the Group has minimal exposure to interest rate
risk, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.

(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

HERSEIR @)

(d) %2 E

(e)

FEFPAEZ R X ERREHIRITER

RfEE °

BEREENEZZH  SHREBMEBERER
ABEFMERERE - EMIR{TERIUZET]
Rk fAEEAEHRSRENEZR

zS
a5 o
25N

RIBEZZFXB=1+H >  ARAERZ
KEHERELFASHHEANRESHT
2 WAEBAS ZHARRABIRE o

AREE

e BRTIERARMR REBTREE
REMaEr RETHEEEE 2 ARE
BEEE -

(f) Categories of financial instruments (f) TRT AR
2023 2022
== TEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T AR®TF T
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BARBHESABGZ
profit or loss TREE - -
Financial assets at amortised cost BB AT EZ ERMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BRiEREARE£EEER) 296,401 343,498
Financial liabilities ERaR
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEHR A EZERB R 363,686 256,991
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 6. AREENE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to ARBEBEATIBE2EENAEERETERR

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants SEREE—EEEMFWNIAESER—EE

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value BN ZER - UTRBZANEBE
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels FRIfEAZ ARBERERERAUSEANEEZ
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: HEENZBABESR=ERER :

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—HMBAYRE  AEREAUNGEERIEZ
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access HEREENSETEREMS
at the measurement date. L2 RE CREHAE) -

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level B REABIE  BRE—RPTEEZREN
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either BENGEZ JBEEE
directly or indirectly. PTG s A BUR ©

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FZMBMABE BEEXNEBBZAAJEHEHA

Bk o

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any FEBZBEANEEEHHERBEEEHN

of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances ZEERPER—RBARESHER > BRE

that caused the transfer. RAEER o

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June 2023 and (a) RIBT=FR-EB-_FA=THH

2022: NRABERRINE :
Fair value measurements
DRBENE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—4k St B4R st

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTRE ARBTT AR®TT

Recurring fair value measurements: KEMRAABESE !

Financial assets at fair value through BARBESABGZ
profit or loss TREE
— Put option — Sh AR - - - -
- Contingent consideration receivable — — FEUS B ALE - - - -

Total recurring fair value measurements & & A o EET 24258 - - - -
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (cont’'d)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:

(c)

ZEERAERLDA

6. ARBEEE @)
(b) REE=REAABEABEENR:

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

—=E-= TEICHF
~NA=+H ~NB=+H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
At 1 July 2022/1 January 2021 =Sk 5 o = Bl = 2
—E-—%—HF—H - 19

Total loss recognised in profit or loss* RIBm ANFES] 2 A8 k518

At 30 June WARB=+H
* Include gains or losses for assets held # BIERBEHKRFTEZ
at end of reporting period BEZWRHIEE

The total loss recognised in profit or loss including those for assets
held at end of reporting period are presented in other net loss in the
statement of profit or loss.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 30 June
2023:

The Group’'s directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the board of directors at least twice a year.

2023 F 7R

(c)

RiBm R 285 E (BENREHER
FEZEEZBIR REBZERANZ HMES
BFERIIR

RZZBT=FRA=tHREEMRAZ
HMEREFRANEENEMRAZGHER
M R B A\ BB 2 W EE -

FEREEEAMBTHRRMBZEERE
BARBESEES  BEE=HRANE
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (cont'd) 6. AREENE @
(c) (cont'd) () (&
Level 3 fair value measurements B=RAALEBEHE
Effect on
fair value
for
Valuation Unobservable increase Fair value Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 30 June 2023 30 June 2022
;B fhHE R FEEE #HE BARE —ZT== —E-C
A B wmE S<A=+HZ ~<A=+BHZ
NREE NREE NAfEE
ZHE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR®EFT
Put option Black Scholes Risk free rate 1.910% Decrease
Option Pricing
Model
Foh HA AN — MR EEREA R pAas
HEBE
Volatility 68.46% Decrease - -
R Ve
Contingent consideration  Discounted Discount rate 14% Decrease - -
receivable cash flow
FEU S AAE MRS RE BRIR = e

Mayer Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



ZEERAERLDA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

REVENUE

7.

The Group’s revenue represents the aggregate of sales value of goods
supplied and services provided to customers less goods returned and

Wi 2

REBZIRERAE R HES R RIEHRREEZ
HEBEBBENREREZI - AEEZE

trade discounts. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year are as AR TUT ¢
follows:
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
BHE T
—EZ= —RA—H=
~"B=+H 2
WFE ~NB=+H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and HEHE « HH REMERR
other steel products 538,163 901,176
Urban renewal projects planning and WM EHRIERRE KEH
consulting - 1,476
538,163 902,652

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Year ended 30 June 2023

EREHRTmZITD -

1 January 2021

to 30 June 2022

HE_T=F “_Z”_—#—HF—HZE
AA=Z+THLEE B &XA=+H
Steel - PRC  Service - PRC Steel - PRC  Service - PRC
- E AR — P E i — P E AR# —E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®F AR®F ANREFTT ARETFT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and HEME A&
other steel products: HthiB® m
Indirect export sales EEHOHEE 26,365 - 65,744 -
Domestic sales B A HE 477,794 - 793,028 -
Direct export sales ERHNOHEE 34,004 - 42,404 -
Urban renewal projects planning and BHEREERE K
consulting: B
Consulting services B MRTS - - - 1,476
Total 4st 538,163 - 901,176 1,476
Timing of recognition of revenue from BRAREREHNE
contracts with customers: Z B
At a point in time B2 538,163 - 901,176 -
Over time B8 BE RS - - - 1,476
538,163 - 901,176 1,476

2023 F 7R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

7.

132

REVENUE (cont’'d)

Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products
The Group manufactures and sells steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products to the customers. Sales are recognised when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered
to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 60 to 180
days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be required.
Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to the
customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Consultancy services

Consulting income from urban renewal projects planning and consulting
is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
The customers pay the consulting service fee to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contract.

s @)
HEME WA REMANS
AEBERERAZEHEME « A REME
WE o HERZHECER MEIRXATE
BB TEAAFEEEERER T RE
MEH > BEF CHSERZ ARFA R

RIHE o

HERZIHEZEEH—MRAB60E180K °
ERAERERZMRENER R - BUIZ
THEB/ENERE -

EEMXNTER > RERERAEE N
REF > BB R ER A 2 BRI R > EIGRIE
PR UL RS FE B B AT o

a8 38 AR %5

Y 75 B KT IR B AR B Ko 5 50 Z AR U A B JE SR A
RS2 EstHIRIMESD - R RIZRALEIHZA
MERAEEZIHEARBE
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e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HWA

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
B=E T
—8_= —B—HZ%E

~NA=+H -
LEEE ANA=1H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFT
Bank interest income RITHIEWA 1,193 722
Government subsidy" B 8 R 6,107 4,712
Scrap sales EE Rl H & 9,558 18,344
Gain on lease modification HEEBsTWE - 73
Sundry income HIE IR A 452 786
17,310 24,637

#

The government subsidy was received from local government authorities for

supporting the Group’s operation and encouraging innovation of production

(] 32 H5 7 B B A R B B B A E S A T JEE 3t
BB HBERBNER  EE2SHENE

technology, of which the entitlement was unconditional. (E3EEE
9. OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN 9. Hfth (B518) W=IFE
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
B=E T
—E-= —A—H=E
~"B=+H -
WFE ANA=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFIT
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEE - MELEE
equipment ZHE51EFER (56) (638)
Net exchange gain FE R U F 5 1,535 507
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair #AREEFAEGZEHEE
value through profit or loss ZAREBEEZS - (19)
Impairment (loss)/ reversal of impairment on B 5 [ Ui Bf = R ELAth FE W 0B
trade and other receivables ZRE (K518) /#[o (43,244) 2,675
Impairment loss on prepayment A RIB 2 B EEE (96,460) -
Impairment loss on an associate —RE AR 2 BERKE (198,346) -
(336,571) 2,525

ETERERAT 2023 F R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE
10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

134

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and geography.
In @ manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the board of directors of the Company, being the Group's
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment. The Group has presented the following
two reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

—  Steel — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from the
manufacture and trading of steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products. These products are manufactured in the Group's
manufacturing facilities located in PRC.

—  Service — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from
urban renewal projects planning and consulting in Zhuhai City of
Guangdong Province of the PRC.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s chief operating decision maker
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets with the
exception of corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities
including trade and other payables and borrowings managed directly by
the segments with the exception of corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies described in note 3. The measure used for
reporting segment profit is “EBIT” i.e. “earnings before interest and
taxes”.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR
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e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)

10. B ERE R ()

Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont'd)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning EBIT,
management is provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
net gain/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment
loss on trade and other receivables, reversal of impairment loss on
trade and other receivables, write down of inventories, reversal of write
down of inventories, income tax expenses and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to
the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the year ended
30 June 2023 and for the period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 is
set out below:

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

DHWEE-BEREE (@)
BFREWEARMRERAAEN Z DEFE RS -
EEETEREERUATEEZDHER
W RESDHEREBEREERRES
ZHBIRA KRR ~ TEREE - BANER
SAABHZEMEEZAABEES LE
M~ BB RS E 2 WG BEERE - BRE
WBR R R B FE W TR IR 2 R (E S 18 ~ B 5 IR
BRRUR EL{th FE W R TR 2 BB B 1R BE 0 ~ R
B R E SRR - RSB RAES D
REBRERZIFRABDBEE °

BE_S_ZFXB=1tHLEEERB_Z
T—F—HB—HRAE_Z__F/XXB=+HH
B REFAEEEREEERFEUDERER
B MR ERI[ 2 A EE 0] 2| D I E KT
(I

BRI 28D EFNBE - EERERZE

B
Urban Sales of
renewal steel pipes,
projects steel sheets
planning and other
and consulting steel products Total
WHEH HEHE MR
EHERE KL T ELth #1884 #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT
Year ended 30 June 2023: HE_ S _=Z®,"B=1+RHL=EE
Revenue W= - 538,163 538,163
Segment (loss)/profit DE (B518) EF (335,733) 15,237 (320,496)
Finance costs B 7S A 2= - (1,180) (1,180)
Interest income FIE WA - 1,193 1,193
Depreciation TEs (7) (4,420) (4,427)
Amortisation Y - (222) (222)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BMERLZEZEE
plant and equipment - (56) (56)
Share of loss of an associates  FE{5— RSB AT 2 E5i8 (46) - (46)
Income tax expense Frigii B sz - (2,803) (2,803)
Other material non-cash items: EHMEAIFIREEF :
Impairment on trade and B 5 EWER S R EAh
other receivables FE U R IE 8 B (40,250) 2,994 (43,244)
Impairment loss on FENRIEZ RERBE
prepayment (96,460) - (96,460)
Impairment loss on an —RBBE AR ZHERE
associate (198,346) - (198,346)
Additions to segment REDHIERBEE
non-current assets - 1,679 1,679
At 30 June 2023 RZETZ=F,A=+H
Segment assets NHEE 20,581 454,835 475,416
Segment liabilities pan=3=NE 19,648 187,606 207,254
ETERARAT 2023 FH 135
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=1tHItEE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont’d)

10. B EE R (@)
DEER - BERER (@)

136

Urban Sales of
renewal steel pipes,
projects steel sheets
planning and other
and consulting steel products Total
WhEHE HEWEE WA
EREIREH T EAth B “ast
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBTF T ARBTT ARBTT
1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 2 —4—B—HZE
BT FARB=1H
Revenue &= 1,476 901,176 902,652
Segment (loss)/profit DI (E18) EF] (7,725) 36,464 28,739
Finance costs B0 (119) (4,123) (4,242)
Interest income FMEWA - 721 721
Depreciation e (31) (6,781) (6,812)
Amortisation s (1,298) (333) (1,631)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE BMEKRRKZE
equipment Z 1R - (638) (638)
Change in fair value of financial assets at R A NEEFTABTZZ
fair value through profit or loss ETRHEBEZ ANEEES (19) - (19)
Share of losses of associates FELEE AR 2 B51E (225) - (225)
Income tax expense FTi8MAYx - (5,452) (5,452)
Other material non-cash items: HMEBEAIREEE !
Reserve of impairment on trade and B5EWERESR K
other receivables HAMEBGRIE R E - (2,675) (2,675)
Additions to segment non-current assets K& D EBIEAREIE E 2 13,817 13,819
At 30 June 2022 RIE2EZZFB=+H
Segment assets DEE E 349,861 378,267 728,128
Segment liabilities DEEE 18,586 85,204 103,790
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

10. B ERE R ()

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or A 2D IUYLE ~ BFIHEE EERE
loss, assets and liabilities: BEHIR :
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
BHE TE—F
—ZE-= —B—HZE
~B=+H =
WEFE A~NB=1H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®TFT
Profit or loss: mA K EIE -
Total (loss)/profit of reportable segments AI2WDE (F518) B F4EEE (320,496) 28,739
Corporate and unallocated loss tERRDEHE (15,500) (37,558)
Consolidated loss for the year FRIFEREE (335,996) (8,819)
At 30 June 2023 At 30 June 2022
RIZEZ= A =—
~NE=+H NA=+H
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2RO EEERE 475,416 728,128
Corporate and unallocated assets TERFIDEEE 58,371 33,745
Consolidated total assets REBEEMRE 533,787 761,873
Liabilities af&
Total liabilities of reportable segments AEFRDEEEREE 207,254 103,790
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TtELKRSEEERE 185,177 174,569
Consolidated total liabilities e BEERE 392,431 278,359
Geographical information: Mg &R

Since the Group's revenue and assets are derived from customers and
operations based in the PRC and accordingly, no further analysis of the

Group's geographical information is disclosed.

Revenue from major customers:

No customer individually contributed 10% or more to the Group's
revenue for the year ended 30 June 2023 and for the period from 1

January 2021 to 30 June 2022.

ETERERAT 2023 F R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE

11.

12.

FINANCE COSTS 1. A A
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
S T
== —B—H=
~NA=+H —EIF
LHFE ~B=1+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Bank interest expenses RITHERAE 1,739 3,877
Promissory notes interest AREEHE 4,210 13,269
Interest expense on lease liabilities ;ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁi’i 20 135
Other finance charges E@,ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ 294 634
6,263 17,915
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FRiSR
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
B=E —ET—F
= —A—HZE
~NB=+H s
IHEFE ~NB=1+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARBTT
Current tax B ERRIE
PRC corporation income tax RE 2R 2,803 4,981
Withholding tax FBINR - 471
2,803 5,452

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 30 June 2023. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended
30 June 2023 as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate
of 25% (Period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022: 25%) during the
year.

During the year, Guangzhou Mayer is accredited as a High and New Tech
Enterprise. As being a High and New Tech Enterprise, it was entitled to
a reduced corporate income tax rate of 15% for the year (period from 1
January 2021 to 30 June 2022: 15%).

BECZC-FAZTHLEFE > BHE
MR ST R BT R IRE16.5%5H 2 &
fﬁ AR AERT BN EBELEARRRE

R EREE S = F A= THIEE
ET”F&%%%'J BB -

RBEREPTSIRRAIRER » EFNFRENER

BER2% (CE-_—F—F—HE-Z”°C
FRA=1H8:25%) ZREHMFEEER
B o
EW BENEGDET ARSI EE > (Fa—
BRI FREA1% (ZF-—F
_H_E:KI: T EXNB=1TH:15%) 2
KRR EEMSME -
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e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

Additionally, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the PRC effective from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the profit before

12. FRIGIAZ @

5 BT NE—B—HiE » PERE

IMEBEBTIRZKRER

31 10% 2 18 RN #R

IR B ERBIMNEEETE  BARESTA
MBFNZEE > BIFTSEEBAREZ NBIRE -

HE A E 2 RIET SRR E e ZIRTT

MEHE o

PRSI BRI AR R RUERM R Z A H

tax multiplied by applicable tax rates is as follows: IREWMT
Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
8E —E_—F
—E-= —H—H=
~NE=+H -
IEFEE ~NA=1+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®TFT
Loss before tax FRTR A A5 18 (333,193) (3,367)
Tax at the rates applicable to loss RERBZERREBEZ
in the countries concerned MEHEZRE (81,527) (338)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMBAZRERZE (1,077) (7)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TT}D*?EF;%S‘ZZ#EV%%‘ 87,275 8,654
Tax effect of tax concession MBEEZRBLE (1,868) (3,328)
Withholding tax FEH1R - 471
Income tax expense for the year/period F/HRFRERES 2,803 5,452

ETERERAT 2023 F R
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B HFNA=THLEE

The Group’s loss for the year/period is stated after charging the

following:

13. 5 “HIRESR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &%
13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD

REBZF HRBEDIRINGR TS IE RS

R

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
S —EB-—F
T —B—HB=
~A=+H 2
LHFE NE=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN
— audit services — BIZR 1,066 897
— other services — HMAR 213 523
Cost of inventories sold* BEFEm A 466,965 783,941
Depreciation TE 4,791 7,315
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 327 2,050
Net exchange gain PE & U e R 28 (1,535) (505)
Expenses related to short-term lease FEHAATH EERERE - 285
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE BMEEZEZ
equipment 51873 58 56 638
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments ETHA (BIEESHS)
— Salaries, bonus and allowances — Fr® o~ TEAL R ERL 42,199 71,013
- Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFEHE 5,908 9,026
48,107 80,039

# Cost of inventories sold includes the followings which are also included in the

amounts disclosed separately above.

Y EEFENAEETIEE (Rt ALEXEIL

KEZEEN) °

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
BE ZEZ—F
—EB_= —A—HZE
~A=+H g
IEFE ~A=1+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®F T
Depreciation e 4,222 6,485
Staff costs BITHA 18,357 30,435

Mayer Holdings Limited
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS M EEREEMSE
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BEEZMEWT -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BRKER
BEE0E e RkEE SHEIHR Mt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
30 June 2023 —E-=f5XA=+H Hist ARBFT ARMBF T ARBFT ARETR
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung ZERSLE - 540 - 540
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao Bt =4 - 373 - 373
Mr. Chen Zhirui EE&E - 373 - 373
Mr. Cheung Ka Yue RERAEL c - 360 - 360
Mr. Xiao Libo Bkt c - 591 - 591
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MRZLRE d 133 - - 133
Independent Non-executive BUHHITER
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung L 133 - - 133
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRIREE S E c 133 - - 133
Mr. Lu Jianping PERFLE e - 200 - 200
Total for the year ended 30 June HE_Z_=4
2023 NA=ZTHIEEE
2 R85t 399 2,437 - 2,836
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #ZE_—ZT-=F/"A=FHILFE
14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14 EE5REEME @
(cont'd)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RIARTEF
BEEHe e RORR HEI SN 4zt
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
30 June 2022 BT FXRA=1H Kzt ARET T ARET T AREBTFT ARETT
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Xu Lidi ‘ML E a - 1,256 14 1,270
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEREE - 760 - 760
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BtE4k4 - 659 - 659
Mr. Chen Zhirui EELE - 781 - 781
Mr. Cheung Ka Yue REAEL c - 141 - 141
Mr. Xiao Libo B EE c - 327 - 327
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Wang Donggi THRTFEE f 158 - - 158
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MRELRE d 75 - = 75
Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung B E 187 - - 187
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen RomEgE g 110 - - 110
Ms. Cheng Yuk Ping, deceased  ZRfBIk4c 4 » BBt b 31 - - 31
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRiREE A C 80 - - 80
Mr. Lu Jianping BERFEE e 12 45 - 57
Total for the period from B2 —F—HF—HZ
1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 _—E__#;xA=+H
IFHAR Z 485t 653 3,969 14 4,636

Notes:

a

b

9

Resigned on 3 December 2021

Appointed as independent non-executive director on 21 January 2020,
redesignated to executive Director and appointed as Chairman on 15 January
2021 and deceased on 28 February 2021

Appointed on 9 November 2021

Appointed on 25 November 2021

Appointed on 28 February 2022

Resigned on 11 January 2022

Resigned on 18 November 2021

Except for Mr. Lu Jianping shall not receive director’s fee effective from

25

March 2022, there was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

B 5E

a RIZEZT—HF+ZB=H#MT

b RIZEEE—A-+—HEZEIABILIER
FTESE R E—F—A+HEBATHNTE
BT EZERAETR N -_—F"BA=-+N\
SEiauy

c RWIE_—F+—HBNHEZFE

d RIZZ—H+—AB-Z+HHEZF

e WMRIZE__H#_A_+)\HEZF

f NI ZF—HB+—HEHE

g RIZEZ—H+—B+/\B#E

Gz e e ivie o == — s i T i
WENEEEEIN » FRLEEEHRAFER
EEAME 2o
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(cont’'d)
The five highest paid individuals in the Group year ended 30 June 2023
included three (period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022: four)
directors, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (period from 1 January 2021 to 30
June 2022: one) individual are set out below:

14.EEZREEME @

BE_ZS_=FRA=1+HLEFEE F£H
IxEeHFMALTEE=2 (N2 - —F—
A—HEZZ-"F/A=1THHMB @)
BF > REZMERN EXZ DM RIR © BR T M
LM IB—F-A—HEZBRZ_&XH
=+HEBE ) ALZHMESHIOT

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
BE e
—=2_= —A—H=

~A=+H -
IEFE ~A=1+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR®TFT
Basic salaries and allowances EARS & roRR 902 678
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BAREF) EHEHR - -
902 678

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FUTHE :

Number of individuals

A

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
BHE 5
€= —A—H=E

~NA=+H -
IEFE ~A=+H

Emolument band: e E

Nil - HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,00078 7T 2 1

During the period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

ETERERAT 2023 F R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

15.

16.

144

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2023 and period from 1 January
2021 to 30 June 2022.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB338,846,000 for the
year (period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022: loss of approximately
RMB14,304,000) and the weighted average number of 2,158,000,000
ordinary shares (period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022:
2,158,000,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is equal to basic loss per share as there are no
potential ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 30 June 2023
and period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022.

15.

16.

[+ 35
BEETEBNAEREE_S_=ZE A=+
HEFEERBZE-_—F—FB—HEZZ"C
FERB=Z+THBEBZEMRE °

FRESE

BRELXEE
BREAGEDERARBDES ABGEENES
1BHIAR5338,846,0007T (B —&F—H—
AEZZ__HFA=THHHE BBEOAR
#£14,304,0007T) KA B BT EBERINEF
#9%02,158,000,0008% (T —F—F—H=
“ECHFXA=+HEM 2,158,000,000
BR) SHE o

BRiE#EE5IE
HREE_Z_=F,"A=+tHIEFEEKRBZ
T —F—A—HEIZZIESA=+HIE
AR R BIT AN BEEER > RILERK
HERBERSREANEEER -
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE
17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9% - RERR=E

Furniture,
fixtures,
fixture
Land and Leasehold Plant and and office Motor  Construction
buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
fifl %8
IHRET HENERE  BERER  RHAERG i ERIE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
\EEFT  ARETR  ARETR AEETRE  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR

At cost B

At 1 January 2021 RZE--F-F-H 43,385 5,747 117,285 4,701 4270 2,886 178,274
Additions e - 2,956 470 3 - 10,390 13,819
Transfer b - - 3,165 164 105 (3.434) -
Disposals HE - - (410) - - - (410)
Written off e - - (6,073) (143) (888) - (7,104)
Exchange differences BRER - - - - 39 - 39
At 30 June 2022 RZB-_&ExA=1H 43,385 8,703 114,437 4,725 3,526 9,842 184,618
Additions RE - - 127 18 - 15,275 15,520
Transfers & - - 4,210 191 333 (4,794) -
Disposals e - - (8.424) (44) - - (8,468)
Written off it - - (992) - - - (992)
Exchange differences EREE - - - 1 118 - 119
At 30 June 2023 RZFZ=%5:B=1H 43,385 8,703 109,418 4,99 3971 20,323 190,797
Accumulated depreciation RHE

At 1 January 2021 RZZ-_-£-F-H 37,055 4432 84,049 3,331 1,925 - 130,792

Charge for the period BT 906 309 5,140 406 554 - 7315
Disposals e - - (118) - - - (119)
Written off bt - - (5,465) (128) (810) - (6,403)
Exchange differences ERER - - - 4 . - 4
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZERB=1A 37,91 4741 83,606 3613 1,669 - 131,590
Charge for the year FERTMH 473 185 3,622 110 401 - 4,791

Disposals HE - - (7.436) (40) - - (7,476)
Written off bt - - (992) - - - (992)
Exchange differences BERER - - - 1 78 - 79
At 30 June 2023 RZFZ=FARZ1H 38,434 4926 78,800 3,684 2,148 = 121,99
Carrying amounts RELH

At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=%5:B=1H 4,951 3,711 30,618 1307 1,829 20,323 62,805
At 30 June 2022 RIBZZE5xA=1+H 5,424 3,962 30,831 1,112 1,857 9,842 53,028
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z"Z"=

FNA=tHILFE

18.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EFHIEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: THEMEREEREE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
At 30 June: WARB=+H:
Right-of-use assets FRAREE
— Land and buildings — T REF 5,915 5,377
5,915 5,377
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ZAEBENR KRB RZ2EES
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is  EZ|EHH MW :
as follows:
- Less than 1 year — DR —5 676 206
— Between 1 and 2 years — —EME 356 -
1,032 206
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=1+HLEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHAEESENESH
- Land and buildings — THIRIETF 327 2,050
Lease interests HEFE 20 135
Expenses related to short-term lease FEHAATH EERERE - 285
Total cash outflow for leases MERERNELE 117 1,887
Additions to right-of-use assets RETHAEEE 865 -
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e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

18. EFHHEEEE (@
AEEARSEIHESEET AEHE
> TRHRE B E 24 - SR SURE R B R
B S ZBAE 2 RS AEE - HEH
S @I RS MASEETSRES
,\zﬁ#ﬁ °

18.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (cont'd)
The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease agreements are
typically made for fixed periods of 2 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and Fﬁ 2
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. N—RHBEAT Z2ER

2023 2022

—®== —=oo
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AB®TF T

Unlisted investments JEEHEKE

— Share of net assets — EHFEE 161,725 161,771
Goodwill fEES 47,339 47,339
209,064 209,110
Less: Impairment B ORE (198,346) -
10,718 209,110

Details of the Group's associates at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 are NIE_=ZFAA=Z+BEKR_E__F,<8
as follows: =+B > AEEBEQABZFHBNOT
Percentage of
Place of the ownership
incorporation/ Issued/paid-up interest held by
Name registration capital the Company Principal activities
AT
%18 S AR 3L R it B BT/ BMERE BAEEEZESL FEEH
Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang the People Republic Registered capital of 49%  Land redevelopment
Property Development Limited* of China (“PRC") RMB10,000,000
HREEZRERERBERRRA
KREELXRAERERZERRT HEARHENE HEMERARE 49% THBERERE
(MehE ) 10,000,0007%
* For identification purpose only o (EEHR

ZEERAERLDA
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont'd)

148

Note:

The re-development of Yuetang Village under Happy Group is still considered
to be at its preliminary development stage. In addition, there has been certain
litigation against the former management of Happy Group involving their conduct.
Therefore, the re-development of Yuetang Village is remained standstill after the
event of COVID-19 pandemic and the operations of Happy Group are significantly
affected. The Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) and its audit committee
have come into conclusion that it is not commercially reasonable for the Company
to continue to invest its time and resources in Happy Group as the prospect of the
business operated thereunder remains largely uncertain. Notwithstanding that the
Group has taken legal actions against the former management of Happy Group on
the potential losses suffered by the Group in connection with the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, it is considered that the business of Happy Group cannot be continued.
In the event that the unauthorized disposal was completed effectively (which the
Group denies), the Group lost control over Zhuhai Huafeng and its subsidiaries.
Under such circumstances, the Board had started considering the option of
disposing of Happy Group. Having considered the re-development progress of
Yuetang Village; the risks associated with the unauthorized disposal; and the
litigation involving matters of Happy Group, the consideration of the disposal
would be minimal.

In estimating the recoverable amount of the interest in an associate as at 30 June
2023, the Group allocated the consideration for the disposal to the assets and
liabilities of Happy Group to be disposed of, with residual value being allocated
to the interest in an associate. On this basis, an impairment of approximately
RMB 198,346,000 was recognized during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

19. R —HBEAT Z2#ED @

Wi 5E

REEEETAENENBENRERERDY
MEER o ItSh > RMAEBAEEBRAETAMELSE
Tk o @it > EHERIEELER > BENERE
BRENERRE > MBRLERZEETRIEAR
B-ARREEE (828 hHEREZEGEF
Hig 0 BN REEBRMEEER ZAISKRAET
BERR MEXEAEMS > ARBEERARE R
ERNREERTRAEE - BELEEECHEER
HEENZMEX 2 BTERH RAEEAEEE
WEUERTE > BREEMZ EBUFEEMER -
HZAERBEZHEZ Tl AR N B AEEE
BEADBEMRS)  FEBRREHNKEEERH
MEBARZZEG# - FARILER  EFGEMnE
EHERRERATE - EEERENERER
ZEE  REREHE Z AR - B R R %
EEEEZHNR 0 WEHEZ AERBRTE -

RSN —EBHERRAZEGN S =F<A
= +HZAWEIEER > AEEREEZEDE
ERTHEZREEEEERGE  MAKEE
AIDEEEN—BBEAD 2 Ba - RIEER > &F
TECCHFRAZTHLEFERIBENARE
198,346,0007T °
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19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont’d)

20.

ZEERAERLDA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #ZT

19.0—HBEATZ
TRETHAEEBEAZHED

The following table shows information of an associate that are material
to the Group. This associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the HKFRS financial statements of the

ZHER

T_=<A=ALEE

*—n— Nz

Em (4)

Bz &k o

BB AN RO M HRERAIIR
T2 B ERE UZEHER

BIREE

BHMBREERFIGR M HFREBKE

associates.
2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®TF T
At 30 June ~NA=+H
Non-current assets FERBEE 438,888 438,713
Current assets MEEE 912 995
Non-current liabilities EREFEE (109,612) (109,564)
Current liabilities mEEE (138) -
Net assets EEZFE 330,050 330,144
Group's share of net assets rEBEERGFEE 161,725 161,771
Goodwill SRS 47,339 47,339
Less: impairment R (198,346) -
Group's share of carrying amount of rEEERGEER ZIREE
interests 10,718 209,110
Year ended 30 June 2023/ HE-Z-_=—FXA=+HILEE
Period ended 30 June 2022 E—_E-_—_FBA=1+HILHME
Revenue & — _
Loss for the year/period FHNEE (94) (461)
INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 20 REETLEZER
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Unlisted investments JEEHEKE
— Share of net assets — EHFEE 50,971 50,971
Less: Impairment B EE (50,971) (50,971)

2023 F 7R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (cont'd)
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022

150

are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

20. REERFRZERD @)
AR =FAASTHRIE-_FAA
S+E AEESECEZHENT

Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/ Group's interest
incorporation/ paid-up effective held by Principal
Name registration capital interest the Company activities
FAT AR
Bq1/ FEEZ BT
EuY ] S AL IL 5 ARt 2 BERE BRED Bt TEEH
HERBRAEMEEMERAR the People Republic of Registered 50.02% - Real estate
China ("PRC") capital of development
RMB500,000 services
LERBEIEMERRBRAR hEARHENE EMEAR it E % B R
(THR L) AE#500,0007¢
Glory World Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 21,200,000 49.80% 49.80% Investment
ordinary holdings
shares of
USD1 each
Glory World Development Limited HEERMRES 21,200,0008 & 8% rREZR
EEIETZEER
Sinowise Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 9,000,000 49.80% - Trading of coal
ordinary
shares of
USD1 each
Sinowise Development Limited EBHETRER 9,000,0004% 5 P& IHIEE 5
EEIZETZEBR
Elternal Galaxy Limited the British Virgin Islands 12,100,000 49.80% - Trading of iron
ordinary
shares of
USD1 each
Elternal Galaxy Limited REETFRER 12,100,000 8 B & HEES
BE1ETZEER
Grace Capital Group Limited Samoa 1 ordinary 49.80% - Inactive
share of USD1
Grace Capital Group Limited BEGEE TREBEIETZEER WEEE

The following table shows,

in aggregate, the Group’s share of the

amounts of individually immaterial joint venture that are accounted for

using the equity method.

TRETREDEARZ AEBBGERNTE

BERFEZBE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (cont'd)

—— =

—

FNRA=THLEFE

20 REEREZ S (8

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFT
At 30 June W/ARA=+H

Carrying amounts of interest HmZREEEE — =

Year ended 30 June BEAA=1+HLEE
Loss for the year/period F/BHAEE 10 -
Other comprehensive income Hthz2mks - -
Total comprehensive income 2ENFAERE 10 -

The accumulated losses not recognised were approximately
RMB2,343,000 (Period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022:

RMB2,333,000).

21.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

REERZ RetE5i849 A ARKE2,343,0007T (72
B —F—-F—-HE_E__F,B=1H
HART © AR1#2,333,0007T) ©

21. BAREEF AR

2023
—E=

RMB’000
ARBTT

MZERMEE

2022
———

S

RMB’000
ARBT T

Contingent consideration receivable

Put option

FEM A RAE
SRk AR

ZEERAERLDA

2023 F 7R

151



152

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4r S B 1% 3R R M 5
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=1tHItEE

21.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (cont’'d)
Note:

2. BARBESABRGZEMEE @)

=
B

As at 30 June 2023, the contingent consideration receivable was related to
the profit guarantee by Harbour Prestige International Limited (the “Vendor")
when acquiring 100% equity interest in Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group
Limited (“Happy HK") which completed in 2019. Pursuant to the agreement,
the consideration shares shall be released and the promissory note shall
be repaid to the Vendor provided that the consolidated net profit after
tax of Happy HK and its subsidiaries (the “Happy Group”) for three years
ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 exceed HK$260,000,000 (the
“Target Profit”). On 11 March 2022, the Group and the Vendor entered
supplementary agreement to extend the guarantee period to 30 June 2023.

The re-development of the Yuetang Village Project is still in preliminary stage
as a result of, among other reasons, the impact of certain preventive measures
by the local government in response to the outspread of the COVID-19 since
2019. Following the recent disagreements among the Vendor, the guarantor
and certain directors of the Company, the re-development of the Yuetang
Village Project has been put on hold despite the recovery of the COVID-19.
The directors of the Company believes that Happy Group will not be able to
achieve the Target Profit in the foreseeable future so the Company did not
enter into further supplemental agreement to extend the period for Happy
HK to achieve the Target Profit. The Company is taking legal actions to claim
against the Vendor and guarantor to compensate for failure to achieve the
Target Profit.

RIZEZT=FA=+H > BRIAREREE
HEERERAE (BA)) WERLE (F8)
WHERERBRAT (TREEFHE)) 100%8K
A HFERER > BEARZER S
—NEFETMK o RIBZ DR > MRESBEREN
NE (HBTREER) BHE_Z2—NEFE =
ZTERFERIEC—F+TA=+—HIE=MAE
FEZEERNEREMN FEEEIB260,000,000
Ao (TEERET) - BAERD AR KA
LRBRREETES R _F=A+—
B> AEBEEHTIHTIHER  RHIERIE
EEZZ-=FXB=+H-

B (P EE) SMBNEEREE —S—h
FRERMERNE TRMERNZE BE
NERBRBNERNSEE -FAERES ~ #RF
ARFRBDETEROHRLRD K - BEBHR
BEEE > BENENEECHKHEE - x2F
ERRE REERRATRRRREEERE
DA o AR B I R — 2 5T 14 7 e L
ERBEEBENERENZHIR - 22BEH
ERBUERITHAES RIERARE > LUHE
REEEHBERER -

The Vendor agrees that, in the event that the Target Profit equals to or less 2. BEFRAERMBEREMNBEFERRK DR
than HK$130 million, the Group is granted the right to exercise put option at 130,000,000787¢ » AEEBERAEEADE S
any time during the one year from the day on which the Group confirmed to 50 B RIS EF 1 5.0 1£130,000,00078 T E
the Vendor the Target Profit is equal or less than HK$130 million, to transfer HiEst —E MR BEITERGHE » A%
the entire issued share capital of Happy HK to the Vendor at the price of sum ERAZETESEN 2 BREEHEERLY
of all funds invested Group. ERZ2HEBITRA -

As mentioned in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, Mr. Zhou 3. HNGREHERRMFINL > ARATNEER

and Mr. Chen, who are the directors of the Company and the management
Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Development Co., Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group”), have disputed with the Group. The
Group is unable to obtain the financial information of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng
Group for the year ended 30 June 2023. The Group is taking legal action
against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen to request the handover of the accounting
documents of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group. Regarding the final outcome of
the legal actions are uncertain and the insufficient of accounting documents
of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group for measuring the fair value of the financial
assets, the directors of the Company estimate the fair value of the financial
assets as zero.

HKEBXDELEURBRABDKAENB LR (K
BIRBRDELEM) SEEZBAERMK
RERKEBBUY - AEREERSHKES
DEUEEBE_T_=FA=tTHLEE
BB AR o« AEMIEHF R ERRTERR
ERTE BRXBHEETELERNG S
XA o BIOERFANRBERERERE > U
RGFEXFDESERNEHXHTEUNES
RMEENAAEE  AAREREHAEMEE
NARBEERT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

INVENTORIES 22. 78

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®TF T
Raw materials Btk 34,663 28,449
Work-in-progress TR 1,872 1,247
Finished goods By 54,017 62,598
Goods-in-transit THRE M 2,404 1,249
92,956 93,543

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B 5 RN AR TR R H Mt FE UL TR IR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Trade receivables 85 EWERR 271,215 195,599
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RIREE (43,028) (2,397)
228,187 193,202
Prepayment and other deposit A e R E iR 64,992 150,602
Bills receivables e 1,629 4,414
Other receivables EH e U E 18,930 18,148
Amount due from joint venture EW &= > ERIE 1,267 1,248
315,005 367,614

Trade receivables are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billing
and may be extended to selected customers depending on their trade
volumes and settlement with the Group. Debtors with balances that are
more than 6 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

As mentioned in note 19, there has been certain litigations against
the former management of Happy Group involving their conduct.
Furthermore, there is disposal took place without the authorization and/
or approval from the Board. The Board is in the view that the prospect
of the business operated of Happy Group thereunder remains largely
uncertain. Therefore, full impairment for the prepayments and trade
receivable of approximately RMB96,460,000 and RMB40,250,000,
respectively were recognized for the year ended 30 June 2023.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

E 7 RIS 3 R H BIE60E 180K W &
B MPERRATIER  RPEKEEZE
R ZEBRIEMNIBERME o EeRaiEa < E
BZEHANNEREME—FEER > GRE
REGEBIIARBEGS - —RME » ~5EE
FEREFIRSRTM -

MU EE19FT 3t - MAEE B EERBRETT
HMESETFRR LI BERALERKESE
EERER/SHE BEFERR > RELER
PRS2 2 B AR AAETEARA - AL > B E
TET-FARNB=THLFEEEIEAMR
EREZEBRBIRRZ2EHHAEDINARE
96,460,0007T 5 A K #640,250,0007T ©
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoiced date, and net
of allowance, is as follows:

23. B 5 U IR R Hth UK FRIE (48)
B SRS E U R RARARE Y R
BT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETF T

0 to 30 days 0&E30k 56,993 41,900
31 to 60 days 31260k 48,939 33,739
61 to 90 days 61290k 36,034 20,630
91 to 180 days 912180k 45,255 21,366
Over 180 days BiB180K 40,966 75,567
228,187 193,202

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables:

B BUERRBEZHER

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARMFT AREFT

At 1 July/1 January wtB—B/ /—HA—H 2,397 5,072
Allowance/(reversal) for the year/period £ HRkE (o) 40,631 (2,675)
At 30 June BARB=+H 43,028 2,397

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide
for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate
forward looking information.

25 PR B B BT T R 5 B H0%E  F AL 75
S FFRA 5 MR R A 2 B TR AT IR
BEHEEMS B REE - A REBEEES
A BSRIRR DR R E SRR UER
HRBAE  EBEEBATO AN EEE
Ko
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

—— =

—

FNRA=THLEFE

23. B 5 AR R Hth FEULRRIR (#)

Over Over Over
30 days 60 days 120 days
Current past due pastdue past due Total
ENER  #Bi@30KX  #BiR60Xk #EiB120X #st
At 30 June 2023 RZE-_=%,XA=+H
Weighted average expected loss rate  N#E T ¥FEHA R 8= - 1% 1% 32%
Receivable amount (RMB) fEWFIEE2E (ARTIT) | 56,993 49,416 36,388 128,418 271,215
Loss allowance (RMB) EBEEE (ABT) - 477 354 42,197 43,028
At 30 June 2022 A —E_"HFSB=1H
Weighted average expected loss rate JNfEFHFEERESER - 1% 1% 2%
Receivable amount (RMB) fEVHIESZE (ART) 41,900 34,080 20,838 98,781 195,599
Loss allowance (RMB) BEEE (AR - 341 208 1,848 2,397
24.LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 24. REAREWFRTE
2023 2022
—E=F ZEICHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTT ARBTFT
Long term receivables R ABEWRIE 50,000 50,000
Less: allowance for doubtful debts o REREE (50,000) (50,000)

The amounts were deposited into certain investment companies which
are unsecured, interest bearing with an effective interest rate ranged
from 9.5% to 11% and repayable in January 2020. Full impairment of
RMB50,000,000 was recognised as these investment companies are
uncontactable and the Group considered these loan made by the former
management were considered as deceitful acts and were reported to the
Police Department of Huangpu District, Guangzhou Municipality in May
2018.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

ZEMREEFAETRERT » /ERE > 7
NFISNEN%ZERMESFE » AR

= —=

F—REE - HNZERERF K

MAEEBRZSHAEEREFHZERE

M TR LER_-Z—

NELAREMNTE

HWeERARZ/RE > AAEERIZHHEAR
#50,000,0007T ©
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z

—m— =

B __—

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 30 June 2023, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RMB46,124,000
(2022: approximately RMB30,128,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

FNA=tHILFE

25 RERBREFEER

ATEB=F, A=+

B > AEEMAR S

BZIRTT IR A ARE46,124,0007T
(ZZE-—F  #9AR#30,128,0007T) ° A
BRI AINEBETHEINESIEEH o

26. B 5 AR R HAth & RRIE

2023 2022
—E-= —E

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

k3 ARBTT AREF T

Trade payables B 5 IR a 61,090 38,370

Other payables H R HRIE 52,491 50,582

Receipt in advance related to urban BRERHEFEEN

renewal projects fa U FRIE 10,180 10,188
Receipt in advance related to energy BRI BE AR TR BRI TEW = IE

conservation service 367 -

Consideration for Hei Jing 2RZMRE * 5,301 5,301

Dividend payable FE(T AR B 2,671 2,632

Contract liabilities H5HNEaE b 15,369 8,374

147,469 115,447

*  The amount consideration for disposal of Hei Jing and reference to * HERRNNRESERKRRFNRFESE  A2H

outstanding litigation details refer to note 34. BizE34 o

a Trade payables

a HEZEMAER®R

The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on invoice date, is as BERMNEAUZZEBHAREZRER D
follows: Manr e

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARBFT

0 to 30 days 0F30K 19,380 23,295

31 to 60 days 31E60K 19,660 5,908

61 to 90 days 61E90K 5,352 566

91 to 180 days 91E 180Kk 4,230 1,008

181 to 365 days 181FE365K 9,713 3,256

Over 365 days BiB365K 2,755 4,337

61,090 38,370
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont'd)

26. B 5 BT ARAR R E MBI RRIE @)

b Contract liabilities b &4&E
As at As at As at
30 June 2023 30 June 2022 1 January 2021
RZEZ= S S—— RIZZ—%
~NB=+H ~NB=+H —RA—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT
Manufacturing and sales of HERIHERE R &
steel pipes, steel sheets and Huhi s &
other products made of steel 15,369 8,374 20,686
2023 2022
== B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TFT
Revenue recognised in the year that REVFAEGHNEEZER
was included in contract liabilities at [ e
beginning of year 5,552 18,625
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the period/ BHEERE ERZERED
year:
2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR&FT
Increase due to operations in the year/period £/ HB P9 &l 2 #5018 70 12,547 6,313
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue HISNBEENRE 5,552 18,625

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customers.

ETERERAT 2023 F R

aHEEEAEREMREWERAE (REHAA
BRE DEFERERARFTZES -
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z

27.BORROWINGS 27. 168
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTT
Bank borrowings — unsecured RITEE—EIKH 75,000 =
Other borrowings — unsecured HihfE & — g - 7,637
75,000 7,637
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEREENT :
On demand or within one year BERZN—FR 75,000 7,637
In the second year REZF - -
75,000 7,637
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B R1I2EEARTIEEEZERE
months (75,000) (7,637)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 12 B B EIRBEE £ - -
The average interest rates were as follows: FHFEDT
2023 2022
Bank borrowings — unsecured RITEE—EIEH 3.45% - 3.8% N/A F3E
Other borrowings — unsecured HEE — &g N/A Ri#EH 8% —10%

All borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group

to fair value interest rate risk.

FREEENRER  fAEEERHANEE

R B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

28.PROMISSORY NOTES

Upon the completion date of the acquisition of Happy (Hong Kong)
New City Group Limited on 26 November 2019, the Company
issued Promissory Notes (“PN”) to a Company owned by a
substantial shareholder of the Company with a principal amount of
HK$158,000,000 as a part of the settlement of the consideration.
The PN are interest bearing at 3% p.a. payable semi-annually and the
maturity date is in 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of PN at
issuance was assessed as approximately HK$136,090,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB122,260,000) by an independent valuer. The effective
interest rate is 10%.

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 11 March 2022 (the
""Supplement Agreement”), the Company, the vendor and the guarantor
have agreed to extend the period for the meeting the Target Profit
of Happy Group for 18 months to 30 June 2023. As a result of the
extension, the maturity date of the PN was extended to 30 September
2023. On 30 June 2023, the directors of the Company believes that
Happy Group will not be able to achieve the Target Profit in the
foreseeable future so no further supplemental agreement was entered
to extend the maturity date of PN. As at the date of this report, the
Supplemental Agreement was not yet approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company and the extension of maturity date of the
PN to 30 September 2023 has not taken effect.

According to the sale and purchase agreement entered between the
Company, the vendor and the guarantor, in the event that Happy Group
is unable to achieve the Target Profit, the PN may be offset with the
shortfall between the actual profit and Target Profit. The Company is
taking legal actions to claim against the vendor and the guarantor for
breaching the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Therefore, the
Company expects the PN will not be repaid until the claim is settled.

2023 F 7R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE

29.

30.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer makes contributions
to the scheme at 5% and employees are required to make 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the scheme vest immediately.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future year.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various defined
contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised by local authorities
for the Group’s employees in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the
Plans. The Group has no other obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with these Plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.

29. RABHREE

1ESEREF

FEERBEEBRFIER B BEGRESR
FREGEREERTBFIMEAREE (M58
REFE) - BESHIARBUGEEAEE
ZEBRMETBRARETE - REFEBRESE > BEE
e B MW AZ5%m st 8RR > MESTN
RIZ5% MR - & A ERAUA LR #330,00058
7T © MBI FH Z 8 H IS HRBN R R B o Wi
R RR A H B R D AR AR EE 2 FEA AR ©

FEREFEMRIL B AR R EERPERE
B2 5 HEEM - 2R E BRHEHTR KRGS
(MZEsE)) -MBARERRRESRELNHE
ETAED LRSS BIHEMR » K LRFEHR
S > AREMI EE Mt B 2 E 5 BIAERA 2 IR RE
BRNRELME -

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease payments

30.fHE& @

Present value of

lease payments

HEMHE HERERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T ARETT AREBEFT
Within one year —FNR 676 206 627 203
In the second to fifth years, BE_EFERE
inclusive (BIEEEME) 356 - 344 -
1,032 206
Less: Future finance charges T RAB R (61) (3)
Present value of lease liabilities A E&EIRE 971 203 971 203
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 71218 8 R ZIHA
within 12 months (shown BEZ S
under current liabilities) BN HBEEET) (627) (203)
Amount due for settlement after 731218 3 & 2 HA
12 months BEZEEE 344 -

Mayer Holdings Limited
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e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. &7
Number of shares Amount
KHEER ot
‘000 RMB'000
T ARETFT
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.2 each at W2 —HF—HF—H-
1 January 2021, 30 June 2022, ZEZTHFRA=+H-
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023 “EHFtA—BR
“ET=%A=+H
SREEC2ETZEER 4,000,000 724,843
Issued and fully paid: ERITRER :
At 1 January 2021, 30 June 2022, Q:;:—E—H—EI N
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023 “ETHFEXA=+H
“EIHFER—HK
2T =FB=+H 2,158,000 391,760
Note: ST -
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability KREFEEEA BZAREREBEHIGIFEL

to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling
assets to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated
as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, non-controlling interests,
accumulated losses and other reserves).

2023 F 7R

EEERBLE RAKZBBLCEBRERER
RRRBRRALR -

FEMBBEBEFNARARFENEF AR -
SRR B AR - AEERERIKE ~ EITH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
31.SHARE CAPITAL (cont'd)

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

31. B& @)

BEMRZEERMRLEERMT ¢

2023 2022

—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBFT
Total debt B HREE 231,586 149,918
Less: cash and cash equivalents B RENRESEEEIER (46,388) (33,201)
Net debt B 3RE 185,198 116,717
Total equity AR 141,356 483,514
Net debt-to-capital ratio FBEBHEARLEE 131% 24%

The increase in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during 2023 resulted
primarily from new borrowings used in operations.

EBHCHEEREER S =F LA
EHREEMBZNEEEMRR -
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e B R R M A

32.RESERVES

(@) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in

(b)

ZEERAERLDA

equity.

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #Z

Reserves of the Company

32. s

(a) AEBHEFEDERHEEEH]

—— =

— e

FNRA=THLEFE

MRERmAE

theElmRURGaRmEFH RIS

(b) =AEIfHMRE

Foreign
currencies
Share Special  translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
B 15 s BhREE SMERERE Rtk Mzt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFTRT ARETRT AREFR AR®TT ARBTR
At 1 January 2021 RNZZ2-_—F—HF—H 213,309 125,211 (65,747) (360,970) (88,197)
Loss for the year FAREE - - - (13,249) (13,249)
Exchange difference on BRERHRREZYNEEE
translation of financial EZERER
statements to presentation
currency - - 3,579 - 3,579
At 30 June 2022 RIBEZZHFRA=+H 213,309 125,211 (62,168) (374,219) (97,867)
At 1 July 2022 W_E__FtH—H 213,309 125,211 (62,168) (374,219) (97,867)
Loss for the year FREE - - - (82,854) (82,854)
Exchange difference on BEEBRRERY
translation of financial ERELEZEBRERE
statements to presentation
currency - - 20,359 - 20,359
At 30 June 2023 RIZZ=FXA=+H 213,309 125,211 (41,809) (457,073) (160,362)

2023 F 7R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B IE R R M R
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE

32.RESERVES (cont'd)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium account
The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands.

Under the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the paid-in capital
of the Company of 1 share of HK$0.1 each and the special
reserve of RMB83,570,000 arising from exchange of 1 share of
the Company of HK$0.1 for the entire share capital of Bamian
pursuant to the reorganisation scheme dated 12 December
2003 less distribution of final dividends of RMB12,000,000 and
RMB4,000,000 for the years ended 31 December 2004 and
2005 respectively.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange for the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries and the value of the underlying assets of the
subsidiaries pursuant to the group reorganisation on 12
December 2003.

32. #E @
(c) REBEZHEEBD

(i)

(ii)

Mayer Holdings Limited

B17iEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R M A

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

32.RESERVES (cont'd)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

ZEERAERLDA

Statutory surplus fund

The Articles of Association of Guangzhou Mayer requires the
appropriation of 10% of its profit after taxation, based on its
statutory audited accounts, each year to the statutory surplus
reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
According to the provision of the Articles of Association of
Guangzhou Mayer, in normal circumstances, the statutory
surplus reserve shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into registered capital and expansion of the
production and operation of Guangzhou Mayer. For the
capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into registered capital,
the remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than
25% of the registered capital.

Statutory public welfare fund

Pursuant to the PRC Company Law, Guangzhou Mayer shall
make allocation from its profit after taxation at the rate of
5% to 10% to the statutory public welfare fund, based on its
statutory audited accounts. The statutory public welfare fund
can only be utilised on capital items for employees’ collective
welfare. Individual employees only have the right to use these
facilities, the titles to which will remain with the Company. The
statutory public welfare fund forms part of the shareholders’
equity but is non-distributable other than in liquidation. With
effect from 1 January 2006, the appropriation is not a statutory
requirement in accordance with the PRC Company Law (2006
Amendment). Guangzhou Mayer adopted the amended
Company Law and no appropriation was made.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3.

2023 F 7R
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(iv) ZEREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2023 2022
2= —E-C
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AREF T
Non-current assets EREMEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREE 12 -
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 759 -
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZEKE 121,794 113,811
122,565 113,811
Current assets TRENEE
Deposit, prepayments and other receivable %4 ~ Fa (2018 K& Eth fE g 218 60,395 58,123
Due from subsidiaries i EPNSIE 57,703 136,820
Cash and cash equivalents HekREeEEBEEB 135 562
118,233 195,505
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables HAmpE I RIB 8,606 7,750
Due to subsidiaries FESBY B A B R IE 26 36
Lease liabilities HEaE 424 -
Borrowings ==t - 7,637
9,056 15,423
Net current assets MMEEZFE 109,177 180,082
Total assets less current liabilities WEERREBAR 231,742 293,893
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 344 -
344 -
NET ASSETS BEFE 231,398 293,893
Capital and reserves A R
Share capital R& 7= 391,760 391,760
Reserves EX] (160,362) (97,867)
TOTAL EQUITY ERE RS 231,398 293,893
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4r & B 1% 3Rk &R M 5
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=tHIFE

34.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. HARAE

ZEERAERLDA

Writs of summons against the Company

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth
Finance Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited
against the Company to claim the sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant
legal costs incurred/to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the
claim. In the directors’ opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have
a material impact on the Group's financial position.

Dispute on disposal of Hei Jing

On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who is also
the former director of certain subsidiaries in the PRC using suspected
forgery seal entered an agreement with other parties to disposal of 51%
equity interest in Hei Jing at cash consideration of RMB5.3 million. The
consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31 March 2022 and
the registration of the ownership of the equity interest was changed to
purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal of the former director,
the board of directors of the Company carried out the review of the
transaction. The directors of the Company considered the consideration
of the Disposal were too low and unfair and the Group would suffer
significant loss upon the Disposal. In the view of the directors of the
Company, the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, the Group instigated
a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the ownership of the
51% equity interest in Hei Jing. Legal action is processing and outcome is
uncertain.

2023 F 7R
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE
35.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

168

FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising from

5. e RERNEBRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

MEITBFMEEREZEH
TRETH/ FRAAEEREEHMELARE

financing activities during the year: 2B
Promissory Lease
notes liabilities Borrowings Total
ARERE HEaRE = #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2021 W_E_—%—HF—H 127,003 2,421 40,000 169,424
Changes in cash flows REREEE - (1,887) (32,363) (34,250)
Interest paid BAFE - - (4,511) (4,511)
Non-cash changes FFIREEH
— interest charged — FIEZH 13,269 135 4,511 17,915
— Lease modification — HHEET - (466) - (466)
- exchange difference —ERER 2,009 - - 2,009
At 30 June 2022 and RZBEZ_Z_F/B=+8k
1 July 2022 TE-"F#tHF—H 142,281 203 7,637 150,121
Changes in cash flows e ReEs - (117) 67,363 67,246
Interest paid BfFE - - (2,033) (2,033)
Non-cash changes 3FEE$“§U
— Interest charged — FBEZH 4,210 20 2,033 6,263
- Additions - //J\E - 865 - 865
— exchange difference DEZE 10,095 - - 10,095
At 30 June 2023 e YAV = = ol = 156,586 971 75,000 232,557

Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4r & B 1% 3Rk &R M 5
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=tHIFE

36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME 36. BBRGHEETE

ZEERAERLDA

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of reward participants who have contributed to the Group
and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. Eligible participants include the directors,
employees, advisors, consultants, agents, customers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, business partners, promoters, service providers
of the Company and the Company's subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 31 May 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the
adoption date, which may be renewed by obtaining approval of the
shareholders in general meeting from time to time, provided that such
renewed limit shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non- executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company'’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

2023 F 7R
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The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain
vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from
the date of the offer of the share.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into the consultancy
agreement with the grantee and pursuant to which (i) the Company has
appointed the grantee as a consultant of the Company for provision of
the consultancy services for a term of two years; and (ii) the board of
directors has resolved to grant 174,800,000 options with exercise price
of HK$0.2 per share to the grantee on 27 April 2022 to subscribe for a
total of 174,800,000 shares under the Scheme, subject to the conditions
precedent set out under the consultancy agreement, as consideration for
the consultancy services.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S B IS R OR MR
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=1tHItEE

36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont'd) 36. BBRGHEETE @)
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BetE > MR iR eZ 5t 2153 #8 & $£174,800,0000%
B (BT & BEMI & AT 80 A0 S R 1)
EABEBRBEHRE -
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HE_ZE_=F,"A=tHIFE

36. EBIRHEETE (@)
TERBERE S A=-+tHIEES

36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont'd)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options
granted under 2019 Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2023:

RERBZE-NEHERHENERENES

=P
Forfeited/
Exercise Outstanding  Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Date of Exercise price as at during during during as at
grant period pershare 1July 2022  theyear  theyear theyear 30 June 2023
B®
k- St RZEZ=
tB—H EREK/ ~B=+H
RiAE (Yt SROTEE  HROTHE EARYE ERTE R¥ B RATIE
HKS
B
Consultant B 27 April 2022 27 April 2022 to 0.2 174,800,000 - - - 174,800,000
27 April 2032
“E-C ZEIIZE
mEZ+tH MWmEZ+tHE
Z2=CF
mEZ++H
Exercisable at the end of REFRFFTE
the year
Weighted average MEFHTEE
exercise price HK$0.208 7T HK$0.20/8 7T
37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.FAB A X B
a. In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed a. BREREMBIREREMIEOPTIREZEH S
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had R 5 T AERRAN > 25 B B 5 P oz f £42 ] g
no other transactions with its related parties during the year; and FETEMRS ) &
b. Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, b. AEEFEEEASZHM (BIEMEE14

including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and certain of
the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 14 is as follows:

AR ERRAREERETRESHEEX
tzE8) WT:

Year ended 1 January 2021
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
HE 2"
—EZ= —B—B=%
~B=+H ==
WEFE NA=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARTFT
Salaries and other short-term employee benefit ¥4 & H 4G HIE S EF 3,718 5,538
Retirement scheme contribution BORET B = 14
3,718 5,552

ZEERAERLDA
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_E_=F,"A=1tHIFE
38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of reporting period

172

are as follows:

38. TEMBAFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B R R MR

RREARZTEZMBABFEUT ¢

Percentage of ownership

BEERSLL
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Principal
Name of company operation paid-up capital Directly  Indirectly activities
AL B&1Tk
REHTE EEME BB AHE =% i TEEH
Bamian Investments Pte. Limited Singapore 16,829,670 100% - Investment holdings
ordinary shares
of SGD1 each
BB EERAT i 16,829,670 B R EE KEER
TRIR T2 BBk
Guangzhou Mayer the People Registered - 81.4%  Manufacturing of steel
Corporation Limited Republic of China capital of pipes and other products
(“Guangzhou Mayer")* ("PRC") RMB200,000,000
EMEZRNERAT REARHAAE AMERARE REHERHMER
(TEEMEEE)) (THRE ) 200,000,000t
Elate Ample Limited the British Virgin Island 50,000 ordinary 100% - Investment holdings
(“BVI") shares of
USD1 each
HEEARES 50,000k EREE1ET RéEER
(HEBHARES)) 2Bk
Fulland (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - 81.4%  Investment holdings
of HK$1 each
2% (88 BRAR &4 IREEIATZERR SEER
Happy (Hong Kong) New City the British Virgin Island 10,000 ordinary 100%  Investment holdings
Group Limited ("BVI") shares of
USD1 each
HEGTRES 10,000/ B REE1ET KRéEER
(HBSARESE)) ZEBR
Galaxy Peace Holdings Limited the British Virgin Island 10,000 ordinary 81.4%  Investment holdings
(“BVI") shares of
USD1 each
HEEARES 10,000k B8 REEIZET RéEER
(HEBHARES)) 2Bk
Happy (Hong Kong) New City Hong Kong 7,000,000 ordinary 100%  Investment holdings
Group Limited share of
HK$1 each
RE (BB MEHERER B 7,000,000/ E R EE1HT KRéEER
BRAF 2 BB
HERUEZEREERAT* the People Registered 100%  Business and economic
Republic of China capital of consulting
("PRC") RMB30,000,000
HE AR EAE AMERARYE LB R E L
(M E)) 30,000,000t
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 &E_ZE_=F,"A=1tHIFE

38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd) 3. FEMMELE @)

Percentage of ownership

BEEE L
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Principal
Name of company operation paid-up capital Directly  Indirectly activities
MBI BETR
RELE SEM R BRRAHE Hi HiE TEEH
LERARmERERAT. the People Registered - 100%  Urban renewal project
Republic of China capital of planning and consulting
("PRC") RMB10,000,000
EARHAE HEMEAARE W ERIEE R K
(TR ) 10,000,0007T
LERERMEBREERATY the People Registered - 100%  Real estate development
Republic of China capital of services
("PRC") RMB10,000,000
REARAE HMEAARE B ESERY
(TehE ) 10,000,0007¢
ENETHEERERAT the People Registered - 100%  Technology development
Republic of China capital of and consulting
("PRC") RMB10,000,000
REA\RHAE HEMEAARE R R kLA
(M) 10,000,000t
RS AEBRMBERAR the People Registered - 100%  Trading of electric and other
Republic of China capital of products
("PRC") RMB29,411,800
EARHAE HMEAARE BEEFRAMER
(Tep[Ey) 29,411,8007¢
RIEERMEBRAT* the People Registered - 100%  Trading of steel pipes and
Republic of China capital of other products
("PRC") RMB10,000,000
hEA\RHAAE HEMEAARE SEHERAMER
(M) 10,000,000t
EMNECEERRER the People Registered - 100%  Engineering and technical
BRAG* Republic of China capital of services
("PRC") RMB30,000,000
REARAE HMEAARE TITREEMmRS
(Tep ) 30,000,0007¢
# Registered under the law of the PRC as a Sino foreign equity joint venture RIBFEEEAM PGB LS b
enterprise

* Registered under the law of the PRC as limited company

& Registered under the law of the PRC as wholly foreign-owned enterprise

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the

reporting period.

ZEERAERLDA
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F,\A=1+HLFE
38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI"”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

38. TEMBAR @

TRETEEHAEEBEAR 2 IFERER
(TIERER RS ) 2 MY AR &N o PTIBEMET 7S
BRIER AR BIKIHEAT 2 £ 58 ©

eliminations.
Name &iB Guangzhou Mayer
BEMERE
2023 2022
—E=HF E-_F
Principal place of business/country of M ML ER PRC PRC
incorporation i FE
% of ownership interests/voting rights JEVE RS P iS E R T
held by NCI KRAEEDLE 18.6% 18.6%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®F T
At 30 June: BAB=+8:
Non-current assets ERENE E 53,350 57,305
Current assets MENEE 449,791 340,992
Current liabilities mENaE (171,982) (84,321)
Net assets EEFE 331,159 313,976
Accumulated NCI RET SRR 66,544 63,694
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=1+HLEE:
Revenue U &8 538,346 900,651
Profit for the year FRRA 17,184 29,814
Total comprehensive income SEWNRLEEE 17,184 29,814
Profit allocated to NCI PDEFIFERER ZEF 3,192 5,545
Dividends paid to NCI THFIFERERZRE - (1,860)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KESES) (Fr) P8z
operating activities RE&FEE (59,411) 53,679
Net cash used in investing activities BEREFAZIRE 358 (743) (13,462)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing BEE EBIFTIE (FFA) =2
activities &34 73,824 (44,121)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HERRSSEBEBE M
equivalents CR/L) 3258 13,670 (3,904)

As at 30 June 2023, the bank and cash balances of the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to

RMB44,704,000 (year ended 30 June 2022: RMB30,128,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

ATEZ=FXA=1+H > AEETEHKBA
BUAREHEZROTERRSERAARE
44,704,000t (BEZZE - “F,B=+H1E
F£E . AR¥30,128,0007T) o AR KR
AN BB T E S E B IRR A o
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FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #HZE_Z_=F \A=1HLFE

39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 5 October 2023, the Company, as plaintiff, filed a writ of summons
with the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
with an indorsement of claim against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen. The
Company claimed that the Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen repeatedly refused
to hand over accounting documents of the Zhuhai Mayer and Mr. Zhou
and Mr. Chen have breached their duties of care and/or fiduciary duties
and/or duties of fidelity/good faith owed to the Company. Details of the
legal actions are stated in the Company announcement dated 6 October
2023.

During the regular check on the Company’s subsidiaries, it is came
to the directors attention that 49% equity interest, being the right
to inject RMB14.7 million into the register capital of Zhuhai Mayer
HuaFeng Development Co., Limited (“Zhuhai Mayer”), was disposed
at nil consideration (the “Disposal”) to a purchaser on 23 October
2023. The directors also noted that according to the amended Articles
of Association of Zhuhai Mayer, the passing of resolution required the
approval from all shareholders. Therefore, in the event that the Disposal
is completed effectively, the Group would loss control over Zhuhai Mayer
HuaFeng Group. The directors considered that the Disposal is ineffective
as it is without authorisation or approval from the board of directors.
Legal action was taken by the Company to alleviate and recover the loss
suffered by the Group. Details of the unauthorised disposal are stated in
the announcement of the Company dated 15 January 2024.

On 4 June 2024, the People’s Court in Guangdong-Macau In-Depth
Cooperation Zone in Henggin had issued judgement to order Zhuhai
Mayer HuaFeng Group to provide its accounting books and records to
the Group within 10 days after the effective date of judgment. The
Group is in the progress in enforcing court judgments to obtain the
accounting books and records of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group. Up to
date of this report, the accounting books and records of the Zhuhai
Mayer HuaFeng Group has not yet been obtained by the Group.

On 5 March 2025, Elate Ample Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) (“Vendor”) and the Purchaser entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed
to purchase from the Vendor and the Vendor agreed to sell to the
Purchaser the Sale Shares at the consideration of RMB1. The Disposal
was completed on 12 March 2025.

40.APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 March 2025.

2023 F 7R

39.

40.

REHREE

A_ZE_=F+AAH > FRE ((FRRS) A
SERFTHE S ERRRER K - TR
BRI B E RS R ENRRRNEE o AR
BB AAERMREELSRIEBIHEKEE
TR XN RELRERRGEEEREEA
NEEENERET R A2 EEERHE
BB ST BRAETHNEBEN AR
BHBEAZS_=F+ASNBHNRAER -

REARRBWEABETEREZE > EE8
BUEETEEEREAMRRLE (TBKBE))
ZA9%EE (I EHESEDTEMERNTEAR
#14,700,0007c 2 ) ERN T Z=F+A4
—_+= ELA%WEWJE% HER (THES

IH)) - EFTOIRE  REBHREEDAEEST
BEERMA \%%/E%iﬁaﬁx%?&/& yal

FlEE - AL HIHEFENTRAE > &
EERBREHKRBETELEHOTFE -
BRI » AN EFEREESGRENM
o AR ) o AR BEREUERITEILUA
HERROFEBPARSERL - BRAKRGERE
RENFBERNARBDRMA-ZT _NE—A
THEHBAER-

RIZTMOERANA > BEERRESFE
AREBRERHFIR » HISHBEDELE@N
FREWBIOARN AR EBREHE TR
B Raek o AEBMIBEANITEBRHR » EUS
HEETELERNGSHIRMKALCE - BEXE
BERH AEEHARRSHEEDESER
B & 5t BR e sC R

MRZZE_RFE=AHAH - Elate Ample Limited
(ErElz2BEWBRE) (BH)) BEHE]
UEERE B BEFRERESEE M
BHRAREEFHEHERD > REBAARE
1T HEEBEN _ZHEFE=-A+H%
B o

HAEMBERER
EFUER-BAFZAHABHELE
WTIRBRE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFFEFHMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial period/years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December

BHEETECERMBREAKBEEMERD
B AEEBERBAVBIE FEZEBERE
ERGEHEHRIWT

For For
18-month the year

BE+ZB=+—HLEE period ended ended
2018 2019 2020 30 June 2022 30 June 2023
BE BHE
T CF —B=F
ANB=+HIL ~BZ=+H
—E-N\E —E—-hE “ZTERE +)\ELHH IEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT ARBFT ARBFT AREFx
RESULTS e
Revenue Wz 426,149 580,456 581,112 902,652 538,163
(Loss)/profit before taxation kriRar (B518) /& F) (52,271) 10,139 32,620 (3,367) (333,193)
Income tax expense FrigipE (1,133) (2,064) (11,940) (5,452) (2,803)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period F /8RN (6518) /&5 F) (53,404) 8,075 20,680 (8,819) (335,996)
Attributable to: FE1L -
Owners of the Company KRB EB A (48,937) 3,322 15,854 (14,304) (338,846)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (4,467) 4,753 4,826 5,485 2,850
(53,404) 8,075 20,680 (8,819) (335,796)
As at 31 December As at 30 June
B+ZB=+—H KARB=+H
2018 2019 2020 2022 2023
—E-N\EF —E—NE TECRF _ECCHE —E-=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBTT ARBFT ARBFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAR
Non-current assets FERBEE 35,776 259,330 264,637 267,515 79,438
Current assets RBEE 441,193 522,959 509,950 494,358 454,349
Current liabilities mEas (90,686) (183,383) (278,603) (278,359) (392,087)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (125,121) (885) - (344)
NET ASSETS BEFE 386,283 473,785 495,099 483,514 141,356
Share capital B 318,093 391,760 391,760 391,760 391,760
Share premium and reserves BB EE 17,162 26,244 43,270 28,060 (316,948)
Proposed final dividend BEREKE - — - _ _
Non-controlling interests FEERER 51,028 55,781 60,069 63,694 66,544
TOTAL EQUITY MRS 386,283 473,785 495,099 483,514 141,356
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